# World Journal of *Transplantation*

World J Transplant 2022 August 18; 12(8): 211-280





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJT

# World Journal of Transplantation

# Contents

Monthly Volume 12 Number 8 August 18, 2022

# **REVIEW**

211 Hypertension in kidney transplant recipients

Alexandrou ME, Ferro CJ, Boletis I, Papagianni A, Sarafidis P

# **MINIREVIEWS**

223 Acute kidney injury and the compensation of kidney function after nephrectomy in living donation Okumura K, Grace H, Sogawa H, Yamanaga S

231 Kidney disease in non-kidney solid organ transplantation Swanson KJ

# **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Cohort Study**

250 Emergency department visits and hospital admissions in kidney transplant recipients during the COVID-19 pandemic: A hospital-based study

Wongtanasarasin W, Phinyo P

## **Retrospective Study**

259 Trends and outcomes of liver transplantation among older recipients in the United States Okumura K, Lee JS, Dhand A, Sogawa H, Veillette G, John D, Misawa R, Bodin R, Wolf DC, Diflo T, Nishida S

# SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

268 Gastrointestinal manifestations, risk factors, and management in patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder: A systematic review

Reiche W, Tauseef A, Sabri A, Mirza M, Cantu D, Silberstein P, Chandan S



# Contents

Monthly Volume 12 Number 8 August 18, 2022

# **ABOUT COVER**

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Transplantation, Luis Cesar Bredt, FRCS (Hon), MD, PhD, Professor, Surgical Oncologist, Abdominal and Hepatobilary Surgery, Renascença Hospital, Aracaju 49010-020, Sergipe, Brazil. lcbredt@gmail.com

# **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Transplantation (WJT, World J Transplant) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of transplantation with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJT mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of transplantation and covering a wide range of topics including bone transplantation, brain tissue transplantation, corneal transplantation, descemet stripping endothelial keratoplasty, fetal tissue transplantation, heart transplantation, kidney transplantation, liver transplantation, lung transplantation, pancreas transplantation, skin transplantation, etc.

# **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJT is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database.

# **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Yi-Xuan Cai; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ping Yan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Transplantation	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2220-3230 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 24, 2011	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
<b>EDITORS-IN-CHIEF</b>	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Maurizio Salvadori, Sami Akbulut, Vassilios Papalois, Atul C Mehta	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE August 18, 2022	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJT

# World Journal of Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2022 August 18; 12(8): 211-222

DOI: 10.5500/wit.v12.i8.211

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

REVIEW

# Hypertension in kidney transplant recipients

Maria-Eleni Alexandrou, Charles J Ferro, Ioannis Boletis, Aikaterini Papagianni, Pantelis Sarafidis

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: He Z, China; Parajuli S, United States

Received: April 30, 2022 Peer-review started: April 30, 2022 First decision: May 31, 2022 Revised: June 7, 2022 Accepted: August 6, 2022 Article in press: August 6, 2022 Published online: August 18, 2022



Maria-Eleni Alexandrou, Aikaterini Papagianni, Pantelis Sarafidis, Department of Nephrology, Hippokration Hospital, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki 54642, Greece

Charles J Ferro, Department of Renal Medicine, University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust, Birmingham B15 2WB, United Kingdom

loannis Boletis, Department of Nephrology, Laiko General Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University, Athens 11527, Greece

Corresponding author: Pantelis Sarafidis, MD, MSc, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Nephrology, Hippokration Hospital, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Konstantinoupoleos 49, Thessaloniki 54642, Greece. psarafidis11@yahoo.gr

# Abstract

Kidney transplantation is considered the treatment of choice for end-stage kidney disease patients. However, the residual cardiovascular risk remains significantly higher in kidney transplant recipients (KTRs) than in the general population. Hypertension is highly prevalent in KTRs and represents a major modifiable risk factor associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes and reduced patient and graft survival. Proper definition of hypertension and recognition of special phenotypes and abnormal diurnal blood pressure (BP) patterns is crucial for adequate BP control. Misclassification by office BP is commonly encountered in these patients, and a high proportion of masked and uncontrolled hypertension, as well as of white-coat hypertension, has been revealed in these patients with the use of ambulatory BP monitoring. The pathophysiology of hypertension in KTRs is multifactorial, involving traditional risk factors, factors related to chronic kidney disease and factors related to the transplantation procedure. In the absence of evidence from large-scale randomized controlled trials in this population, BP targets for hypertension management in KTR have been extrapolated from chronic kidney disease populations. The most recent Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes 2021 guidelines recommend lowering BP to less than 130/80 mmHg using standardized BP office measurements. Dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors/angiotensin-II receptor blockers have been established as the preferred first-line agents, on the basis of emphasis placed on their favorable outcomes on graft survival. The aim of this review is to provide previous and recent evidence on prevalence, accurate diagnosis, pathophysiology and treatment of hypertension in KTRs.

Key Words: Hypertension; Kidney transplantation; Epidemiology; Diagnosis; Physiopathology; Therapy



©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Kidney transplantation is considered the treatment of choice for end-stage kidney disease patients. However, the residual cardiovascular risk remains significantly higher in kidney transplant recipients than in the general population. This article summarizes available evidence on prevalence, abnormal blood pressure phenotypes and diurnal patterns as well as on the association of hypertension with target organ damage and clinical outcomes in kidney transplantation. The complex pathophysiology, treatment goals and recent data on therapeutic options for management of hypertension in kidney transplant recipients are also discussed.

Citation: Alexandrou ME, Ferro CJ, Boletis I, Papagianni A, Sarafidis P. Hypertension in kidney transplant recipients. *World J Transplant* 2022; 12(8): 211-222 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v12/i8/211.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.211

## INTRODUCTION

Kidney transplantation is considered the optimal choice for renal replacement therapy in end-stage kidney disease due to improved survival and quality of life compared to dialysis modalities; this survival benefit has been attributed to kidney function improvement and delay of progression of cardiovascular disease[1]. Nevertheless, cardiovascular disease remains the leading cause of death in these patients in the early (< 10) post-transplant years[2]. Among traditional cardiovascular disease risk factors, hypertension represents the most prominent comorbidity post transplantation and a major cause of allograft dysfunction and adverse patient outcomes[3]. The diagnosis and treatment of hypertension in kidney transplantation has been traditionally based on office blood pressure (BP) measurements; BP control therefore remains suboptimal due to high rates of resistant and masked hypertension and abnormal diurnal BP patterns[4]. Controversies over BP targets and optimal antihypertensive regimen remain unresolved and should be further explored in well-designed randomized clinical trials (RCTs) in order to optimize hypertension management in this population.

#### EPIDEMIOLOGY OF HYPERTENSION IN KIDNEY TRANSPLANT RECIPIENTS

#### Prevalence of hypertension and abnormal BP phenotypes by the various metrics and definitions

The prevalence of hypertension is particularly high among kidney transplant recipients (KTRs) with previously reported rates between 70%-90%[5] and more recently even exceeding 95% of this population [6]. The source of variability in estimates of prevalence, control and different phenotypes of hypertension among KTRs is attributed to differences in the definitions used for hypertension diagnosis and in the type of BP measurement used (in office *vs* out-of-office setting) across various studies. Defining the diagnostic threshold for hypertension based on office and ambulatory BP measurements has been a matter of intense debate in chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients and more specifically in KTRs[7], with the two major existing hypertension guidelines producing confusion[8].

The cutoff values for hypertension diagnosis proposed by the 2017 American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) guidelines for office and ambulatory BP monitoring (ABPM) measurements were  $\geq 130/80$  mmHg and  $\geq 125/75$  mmHg, respectively[9] (Table 1), while those proposed by the 2018 European Society of Cardiology/European Society of Hypertension (ESC/ESH) guidelines were office BP  $\geq 140/90$  mmHg and ABPM  $\geq 130/80$  mmHg[10]. In the more recent 2021 Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes BP guidelines (Table 1), hypertension was defined as office BP  $\geq 130/80$  mmHg and ABPM  $\geq 125/75$  mmHg[11], in agreement with the 2017 ACC/AHA guidelines.

Taking into consideration all the above, studies assessing the epidemiology of hypertension have previously reported the presence of this disease in > 80.0% of patients based on the office 140/90 mmHg cutoff value[12] and in 89.5% based on the office 130/80 mmHg cutoff value, with control rates among hypertensive subjects at 45.5%[13]. The prevalence of resistant hypertension in this population (office BP  $\geq$  130/80 mmHg) has been previously reported in 17.5%[13] and 23.5%[14] of patients, despite intake of  $\geq$  1 and  $\geq$  3 antihypertensive drugs, respectively.

Recent guidelines recommend the use of out-of-office BP measurements as a complementary tool for improving the management of hypertension. In KTRs the wider use of ABPM has led to the recognition of abnormal diurnal BP patterns and BP phenotypes[11,15]. The rates of non-dipping status have been reported to range between 36%-95% [16-18] and that of nocturnal hypertension between 69%-77%

Zaishidena® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Summary of guidelines for the management of hypertension in kidney transplant recipients					
Ref.	Threshold for pharmacological treatment	Target blood pressure	Recommendations on 24-h ABPM	Recommendations for KTRs	
Whelton <i>et al</i> [9], 2018	≥ 130/80 mmHg for primary prevention if estimated 10-yr ASCVD risk ≥ 10% and for secondary prevention if known CVD; ≥ 140/90 mmHg for primary prevention if no history of CVD and estimated 10-yr ASCVD risk < 10%	< 130/80 mmHg	Advised to exclude white coat and masked hypertension	In the absence of trials comparing different BP targets in KTRs, treatment targets for BP should probably be similar to the general CKD population; CCBs recommended as first line therapy on the basis of improved GFR and kidney survival; RAASi reserved for subset of patients with other comorbidities (proteinuria or heart failure)	
KDIGO Blood Pressure Work Group[11], 2021	≥ 130/80 mmHg using standardized office BP measurement	< 130/80 mmHg using standardized office BP measurement	Out-of-office BP measurements with ABPM or home BP monitoring recommended to complement standardized office BP readings (2B)	Use of a dihydropyridine CCB or an ARB recommended as the first-line antihypertensive agent in adult KTRs (1C)	

ABPM: Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring; ARB: Angiotensin receptor blocker; ASCVD: Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; BP: Blood pressure; CCB: Calcium channel blocker; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; CVD: Cardiovascular disease; GFR: Glomerular filtration rate; KDIGO: Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes; KTRs: Kidney transplant recipients; RAASi: Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitor.

> (according to the nighttime ABPM > 120/70 mmHg cutoff value for both)[18,19]. In an Italian cohort of 260 KTRs followed-up for 3.9 years, the agreement between 785 paired office and 24-h ABPM measurements was assessed, revealing significant discordance in 37% of all visits ( $\kappa$ -statistics = 0.25, indicating poor agreement)[19]. In 12% of all visits, patients were misclassified as hypertensive according to the office BP > 140/90 mmHg criterion while 24-h ABPM was normal according to the < 130/80 mmHg criterion (white-coat hypertension); in 25% of all visits patients were classified as normotensive according to the office criterion, while 24-h ABPM was > 130/80 mmHg (masked hypertension). In a cross-sectional study from Spain with 868 KTRs, the prevalence of white-coat and masked hypertension was 12% and 20%, respectively, applying similarly the ESC/ESH criteria[14]. Absence of systolic BP (SBP) dipping pattern was evidenced in 80% of patients. In a retrospective study, prevalence of white-coat and masked hypertension was estimated to be at 3% and 56%, respectively, with the office BP  $\geq$  130/80 mmHg and ABPM  $\geq$  125/75 mmHg thresholds[20].

> In a recently published cross-sectional study with 205 KTRs[6], the prevalence of hypertension and the diagnostic performance of the two existing office BP thresholds for defining hypertension (adopted by the ESC/ESH and ACC/AHA guidelines mentioned above) was comparatively assessed. Prevalence of hypertension was 88.3% and 92.7% according to the ESC/ESH with ACC/AHA definitions for office BP measurements and 94.1% and 98.5% according to the respective ABPM thresholds. Moderate to fair agreement between office BP and 24-h ABPM was shown for both thresholds ( $\kappa$ -statistics = 0.52, P < 0.001;  $\kappa$ -statistics = 0.32, P < 0.001, respectively). Prevalence of white coat and masked hypertension was 6.7% and 39.5% using the office BP  $\ge$  140/90 mmHg and 5.9% and 31.7% using the office BP  $\ge$  130/80 mmHg threshold. Notably, ABPM revealed significantly lower control rates among hypertensive patients compared to office BP measurements using both definitions (69.6% for office vs 38.3% for ABPM measurements with the ESC/ESH thresholds; 43.7% vs 21.3% respectively with ACC/AHA thresholds).

> In a sub-analysis of this study investigating presence of sex differences, the prevalence of hypertension was similar between the two genders with the office BP  $\geq$  130/80 mmHg threshold (93.4% for men vs 91.3% for women, P = 0.589) but significantly higher in men with the ABPM  $\ge 125/75$ criterion (100% vs 95.7%, P = 0.014, respectively). Prevalence of white-coat hypertension (5.1% vs 7.6%, P = 0.493) and masked hypertension (35.3% vs 24.2%, P = 0.113) did not differ significantly between men and women. The above findings underline the need for more extensive use of 24-h ABPM in KTRs, similarly to what is currently being increasingly recommended for the general population.

#### Association of hypertension with target organ damage

In KTRs, abnormal dipping status (non-dipping and reverse-dipping) independently predicts kidney function deterioration[21,22], while nighttime BP and night-day ratio are strongly associated with carotid-intimal media thickness<sup>[18]</sup>. Increased urinary albumin and protein excretion have been associated with hypertension in KTRs and are both independent predictors of graft loss[23-26]. Several longitudinal studies have reported an association of hypertension with left ventricular hypertrophy in KTRs, while significant reduction in left ventricular mass index (LVMI) and regression of left ventricular hypertrophy have been observed in the first 2-3 years following kidney transplantation [27,28]. However, this regression may be compromised by persistence of hypertension, high pulse pressure[27] and high sodium intake<sup>[28]</sup>.

Moreover, reversal of uremic cardiomyopathy has been recently questioned according to the results of a recent meta-analysis where no difference in LVMI was detected following kidney transplantation after pooling data from four studies with 236 participants [standardized mean difference = 0.07, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.41-0.26 [29]. Masked or sustained hypertension were independent predictors for left ventricular hypertrophy in a cohort of 221 children and young adults with kidney transplant [30]. A negative association between brachial flow-mediated dilation, a marker of endothelial function, with 24-h BP and indices of BP variability has also been reported[31]. In a recently published metaanalysis pooling data from 22 studies (2078 participants), 24-h ABPM was found to be a stronger predictor of renal function decline and outperformed office BP with regards to LVMI, carotid-intimal media thickness and endothelial dysfunction markers<sup>[32]</sup>. Abnormal dipping status also identified a subgroup of KTRs at risk for target organ damage.

#### Prognostic impact of hypertension for adverse clinical outcomes

Hypertension in KTRs has been consistently shown to be associated with a higher incidence of kidney function decline, poor graft survival[33-38] and worse patient survival[3,34,38,39]. In the Collaborative Transplant Study, a retrospective cohort that evaluated the impact of hypertension on long-term kidney function in 29751 KTRs, a strong graded relationship between post-transplant BP and subsequent graft failure, even when patient death was censored, was reported for the first time[35]. In a subsequent subanalysis of the Collaborative Transplant Study with data from 24404 patients, the same authors showed that SBP values consistently lower than 140 mmHg during the first 3 years post transplantation were associated with the best 10-year graft and patient outcomes; moreover successfully lowering SBP to  $\leq$ 140 mmHg even by the 3<sup>rd</sup> year was associated with better 10-year graft and death-censored survival (but not with total patient survival) compared to persistently uncontrolled BP[3].

With regards to different causes of death, changes in SBP were significantly associated with the risk of cardiovascular death only in the subgroup of patients < 50-years-old but not in older KTRs. In another retrospective cohort of 1666 patients, each rise in SBP by 10 mmHg was associated with a 12% higher risk for graft failure [relative risk (RR) = 1.12, 95%CI: 1.08-1.15], a 17% higher risk for deathcensored graft failure (RR = 1.17, 95% CI: 1.12-1.22) and an 18% higher risk for death (RR = 1.18, 95% CI: 1.12-1.23), even after adjusting for acute rejection and decreased kidney failure that were previously reported to trigger BP increases and therefore further supported the independent beneficial effect of BP control[34]. Microalbuminuria and macroalbuminuria, both markers of target organ damage associated with hypertension, have been similarly shown to be independent predictors of death compared to normoalbuminuria [odds ratio (OR) = 5.55, 95% CI: 2.43-12.66; OR = 4.12, 95% CI: 1.65-10.29, respectively] [25].

With regards to specific cardiovascular events in KTRs, their burden remains high; a fact that is partly attributed to accumulation of traditional cardiovascular risk factors[40]. In a French retrospective cohort of 17526 KTRs and 3288857 non-transplanted non-dialysis participants with a 5-year follow-up, an increased incidence of myocardial infarction in the former compared to the latter (5.8% vs 2.8%) was shown [hazard ratio (HR) = 1.45, 95% CI: 1.35-1.55][41]. KTRs experiencing an myocardial infarction were more likely to be hypertensive than their non-KTR counterparts (76.0% vs 48.1%, P < 0.0001). Hypertension is an independent predictor of death from ischemic heart disease and major ischemic heart events, with a reported increase by 20% in the risk for death from ischemic heart disease per 10 mmHg SBP increments, during a follow-up of 5 years[39].

## PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF HYPERTENSION IN KTRS

The underlying mechanisms for development of hypertension in KTR include: (1) Traditional risk factors; (2) Those that are associated with kidney function decline; and (3) Those that are related to the kidney transplantation procedure.

#### Traditional risk factors

Factors considered to be associated with an increased risk of hypertension in the general population, including age, male sex, smoking status, obesity, insulin resistance and syndrome of obstructive sleep apneas, are also present in patients undergoing kidney transplantation and may be aggravated, further contributing to new-onset or worsening hypertension[42-46].

#### Factors associated with impaired kidney function

The same risk factors that are present in CKD populations and that are inherent to kidney function decline are also applicable in KTRs. Among those, impaired homeostatic mechanisms handling sodium and water excretion are considered a hallmark of CKD, leading to extracellular volume accumulation, hypervolemia and increased BP[5,47]. Renal sodium retention may be worsened by the use of immunosuppressive regimens, mainly corticosteroids[48] and calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs)[49] as well as during episodes of acute rejection, probably indicating ischemic allograft damage[50]. Dysregulation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system[51] and sympathetic nerve overactivity, driven in the early



post transplantation period by the native kidneys (since the graft is initially denervated before becoming later re-innervated [52]), also lead to increased peripheral vascular resistance and development of hypertension[5,53,54]. Increased arterial stiffness, endothelial dysfunction and imbalance between vasoconstrictive and vasodilating agents are also pertinent to CKD and further contribute to increased BP[55,56].

#### Factors associated with kidney transplantation

Immunosuppressive regimens: Most current protocols for prevention of transplant rejection include as maintenance therapy a combination of a CNI (cyclosporine or tacrolimus) with either a purine pathway inhibitor that subsequently blocks lymphocyte proliferation (mycophenolate mofetil or azathioprine) or a mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor (everolimus or sirolimus), with or without corticosteroids [57]. While mycophenolate mofetil and mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors are considered low risk agents, corticosteroids and CNIs potentially trigger hypertension and other major comorbidities in KTRs[58,57].

The burden of long-term corticosteroid exposure on corticosteroid-related adverse events and healthcare economic costs has been previously explored in the general population, as well as in KTRs, with prevalence of corticosteroid-induced hypertension estimated to exceed 30% of the total population [59] and hospitalization costs to be 2.2-fold higher in the steroid-maintenance group than in the steroidfree group 1-year post living-donor kidney transplantation[60]. According to the results of a metaanalysis (34 studies, 5637 patients), complete steroid avoidance or withdrawal reduces the risk of incident hypertension and diabetes with no significant effect on graft or patient survival[61]. The main cause of corticosteroid-induced hypertension is associated with partial activation of mineralocorticoid receptors by cortisol causing urinary sodium and water retention and therefore volume expansion[5]. This mechanism has been however called into question, and a similarly important role of glucocorticoid receptors in vascular smooth cells has been proposed[62], leading to an increase in peripheral vascular resistance through attenuation of vascular response to vasodilators (nitric oxide) and upregulation of the angiotensin II receptor[48].

The mechanisms of CNI-induced hypertension are multifactorial and involve impaired sodium and water excretion, upregulation of vasoconstrictive agents (prostaglandins, thromboxane, endothelin-1), downregulation of vasodilating prostaglandins and alterations in regulation of intracellular calcium ions, leading to vasoconstriction of afferent arteriole, a decrease in glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and an increase in peripheral vascular resistance [49,63-66]. Tacrolimus has been associated with a lower incidence of hypertension[67,68] but a higher risk for new-onset diabetes compared to cyclosporine[69, 70].

After complete withdrawal of CNIs was abandoned due to an increased risk of biopsy-proven acute rejection episodes [71], reduction of their dose was explored in an attempt to minimize their toxic effects. In an open-label RCT, 1645 KTRs were randomly allocated to receive standard-dose cyclosporine (target trough level 150-300 ng/mL for the first 3 mo; 100-200 ng/mL thereafter), low-dose cyclosporine (target trough level 50-100 ng/mL throughout the study), low-dose tacrolimus (target trough level 3-7 ng/mL throughout the study) or low-dose sirolimus (target trough level 4-8 ng/mL throughout the study) for 12 mo<sup>[72]</sup>. Patients in all treatment groups received mycophenolate mofetil and corticosteroids; those randomized to low-dose regimens followed a 2-mo induction treatment with daclizumab. At study-end, patients in the low-dose tacrolimus group had the highest estimated GFR (65.4 mL/min) and highest rates of allograft survival (94.2%), followed by low-dose cyclosporine (93.1%), standard-dose cyclosporine (89.3%) and low-dose sirolimus (89.3%) (P = 0.02), therefore providing further evidence in favor of low-dose tacrolimus regimens.

Accordingly, it is usually recommended to use minimal dosages of steroids (for example, 5 mg per day dose of prednisone) to achieve long-term immunosuppression in organ transplant patients without increasing the risk for hypertension<sup>[42]</sup>. Belatacept is another biologic immunosuppressive agent that acts by inhibiting T cell co-stimulation, approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration since 2011 on the basis of evidence of non-inferiority in preventing acute rejection in KTRs provided from three RCTs comparing belatacept to cyclosporine[69,73,74]. According to a meta-analysis (5 studies, 1535 participants), use of belatacept has been associated with lower BP levels and reduced incidence of chronic kidney scarring compared to CNIs[75].

Donor/recipient factors: Donor's age represents a major risk factor for development of post-transplant hypertension[23], along with considerable discrepancies in somatometric characteristics between donors and graft recipients (female to male transplantation, pediatric to adult transplantation, low donor/recipient body weight ratio), leading to a phenomenon of "underdosing" due to reduced donor nephron mass compared to recipient needs[76,77]. These differences result in hyperfiltration, glomerular hypertrophy and increased intraglomerular pressure.

Pre-existing donor hypertension is also associated with an increased risk for post transplantation hypertension and allograft dysfunction [23,78]. Transplant recipients from donors with a family history of hypertension face a 10-fold higher risk of requiring antihypertensive treatment compared to recipients from a normotensive family[79]. Recipients of transplants from expanded criteria donors (age > 60 or 50-59 with two of the following: History of hypertension; serum creatinine > 1.5 mg/dL;

cerebrovascular death) also experience a higher risk for hypertension post transplantation[80].

Other factors related to donors, predisposing to delayed graft function and increased nephrotoxicity, that could be possibly associated with development of hypertension in KTRs include the presence of genetic variants that affect the expression of cytochrome P450 3A5, apolipoprotein L1, P-glycoprotein and multidrug resistance protein 2[81-83]. With regards to recipient factors, the presence of native kidneys may further contribute to BP increments probably due to renin secretion[84]. Moreover, longstanding hypertension may be present in many recipients before transplantation, as progression of CKD is associated with atheromatosis of middle-sized conduit arteries and most importantly with reduced compliance and arterial stiffness of the aorta and the large arteries[85]. This vascular remodeling may not be fully reversible after kidney transplantation.

**Transplant renal artery stenosis:** Prevalence of transplant renal artery stenosis (TRAS) reportedly ranged in the past between 1%-23%, with a significant increase noted in diagnosed cases with the use of non-invasive imaging techniques[86]. Refractory hypertension and worsening kidney function are the main clinical manifestations of TRAS, which usually develops 3-24 mo post transplantation and is associated with an increased risk of graft loss[84].

With regards to the anatomic site, the stenosis can be: (1) Anastomotic (due to vascular damage at the time of surgery); (2) Proximal (due to recipient's atherosclerosis); and (3) Distal (with a non-fully elucidated pathogenesis related to mechanical and immunological factors)[87]. Since the recipient's iliac artery and not the abdominal aorta is the most common site of donor renal artery anastomosis, this connection between smaller arteries is prone to narrowing and subsequent development of TRAS pathophysiology, involving impediment of blood flow, renal hypoperfusion and activation of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system[84].

Immunological factors leading to TRAS include immune-mediated vascular endothelial injury[88] and development of *de novo* class II donor-specific antibodies[89]. The association between TRAS and cytomegalovirus infection[90], as well as ischemia/reperfusion injury, has also been reported[91]. In the absence of an RCT comparing endovascular angioplasty with or without stenting *vs* surgical vascular-ization in KTRs, angioplasty is the preferred treatment of TRAS with reported rates of clinical success (improvements in BP or kidney function) between 65.5%-94.0% and of technical success > 90%[92].

Acute and chronic kidney dysfunction: Kidney function decline, whether in the context of an episode of acute cellular and antibody rejection or due to chronic allograft nephropathy, has been associated with new or worsening hypertension, with the evidence of a cause-effect relationship still inconclusive [42,84,93,94]. Acute rejection may trigger new-onset hypertension, probably *via* activation of the reninangiotensin system according to the patient's volume status. In this case, treatment of rejection is accompanied by improvement in BP levels, whereas hypertension that is not associated to acute rejection would be further deteriorated with modifications in doses of immunosuppression[94].

Recurrence of the primary glomerular disease, tubular atrophy, interstitial fibrosis, chronic antibodymediated organ rejection, development of non-HLA agonistic anti-angiotensin-II type 1 receptor antibodies and thrombotic microangiopathy are the major contributors to chronic allograft injury leading to sudden rises of BP[5,84,94,95]. Patients with positive angiotensin-II type 1 receptor antibodies represent a subset of those with antibody-mediated rejection in whom kidney dysfunction is associated with malignant hypertension and acute vascular lesions on biopsy. A clinicopathological entity including seizures on top of malignant hypertension and vasculopathy has also been described, bearing resemblance to pre-eclamptic syndromes where angiotensin-II type 1 receptor antibodies have been previously reported[95].

## HYPERTENSION TREATMENT IN KTRS

#### Targets of BP therapy

Historically, no universal agreement has been achieved with regards to BP targets in CKD and more particularly in kidney transplantation, similarly to the heterogeneity observed in different BP thresholds used for diagnosis of hypertension[7-11]. In the absence of specific focus on KTRs, the BP targets of CKD population were expected to be endorsed; according to the 2018 ESC/ESH guidelines in patients with CKD the respective recommendation was lowering BP to < 140/90 mmHg and towards 130/80 mmHg [10]. However in the latest 2017 ACC/AHA and 2021 Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes guidelines specific recommendations targeting BP less than 130/80 mmHg have been provided for KTRs[9,11].

#### Non-pharmacological measures

In the absence of evidence focused on KTRs, lifestyle modifications should be adopted as a first-line approach on the basis of recommendations applied in the general population since these interventions provide general health benefits that extend beyond BP control[96]. Low sodium intake (< 2 g/d), moderate-intensity physical activity ( $\geq$  150 min/wk), adoption of a balanced diet and maintenance of

Zaishidena® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

body mass index and waist circumference within normal range (18.5 and 24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and < 102 cm, respectively), reduction in alcohol consumption and smoking cessation are encompassed by most hypertension guidelines[5,9-11,97].

#### Pharmacological measures

In CKD populations, use of an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi) or an angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB) has been established as first-line treatment, followed by combinations with a calcium channel blocker (CCB) and/or diuretic[98]. In KTRs, the use of a dihydropyridine CCB is commonly advocated notably in the early post transplantation period because of their demonstrated efficacy in improving graft function and minimizing the vasoconstrictive effects of CNIs[15,93,99]. To support this choice, CCBs have been uniformly associated with improved patient and graft outcomes in several studies[99-103]. In contrast, the use of ACEis/ARBs in KTRs was considered a source of controversy for many years[4]. Treatment with an ACEi/ARB led to impressively better patient (HR = 0.57; 95% CI: 0.40-0.81) and graft (HR = 0.56; 95% CI: 0.40-0.78) survival rates in a retrospective cohort with 2031 KTRs[104] but not in a subsequent analysis of data from 17208 KTRs[105].

According to the results of an RCT with 154 hypertensive KTRs allocated to receive nifedipine 30 mg or lisinopril 10 mg 3 wk post transplantation, no differences were noted in BP control. Nevertheless, a significant increase was observed in measured GFR for nifedipine compared to lisinopril (mean between-group difference 9.6 mL/min, 95%CI: 5.5-13.7 mL/min) at 1 year, an improvement that was maintained at 2 years[106]. The results of a 2009 Cochrane systematic review claimed that patients receiving ACEis were exposed to a higher risk of hyperkalemia and anemia and that in direct comparison with CCBs their use was associated with worse kidney function (mean between-group difference for estimated GFR -11.48 mL/min, 95%CI: -15.75 to -7.21).

Data on graft loss were available from only one study showing no significant differences (RR = 7.37, 95%CI: 0.39-140.35)[100]. Among the main limitations of this meta-analysis was the fact that data for head-to-head comparisons were pooled from six studies with only 296 participants; four of them had a follow-up between 4 wk and 6 mo[25,107-109], two of them were published after the year 2000[25,106], and no one compared ARBs to CCBs directly. In a more recent meta-analysis conducted by Pisano *et al* [99] pooling data from 71 RCTs and providing evidence on both ACEis and ARBs, a significant reduction in the risk for graft loss was observed by 42% with CCBs (16 studies, 1327 participants) and by 38% with ACEi/ARBs (9 studies, 1246 participants).

When pooling results from head-to-head comparisons between CCBs and ACEis/ARBs, an increase in GFR (11.07 mL/min, 95%CI: 6.04-16.09) was noted for CCBs, along with a reduction in serum potassium levels (-0.24 mEq/L, 95%CI: -0.38 to -0.10). In the 2021 Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes guidelines, use of a dihydropyridine CCB or an ARB has received a grade 1C recommendation for first-line treatment in KTRs, with potential benefits on graft survival (RR for graft loss compared to placebo: Dihydropyridine CCBs 0.62, 95%CI: 0.43-0.90; ARBs: 0.35, 95%CI: 0.15-0.84) outweighing side effects related to each class of agent[11]. No significant effect on mortality or cardiovascular events was detected with either of these classes.

#### CONCLUSION

The accurate diagnosis of hypertension and adequate BP control in KTRs remains an area of controversy among different guidelines, with BP thresholds and treatment goals mostly extrapolated from CKD populations. The diagnostic performance of office measurements has been recently questioned, with more recent studies using ABPM suggesting a higher prevalence of uncontrolled, masked and nocturnal hypertension in KTRs than previously believed that is further increased when the new lower BP thresholds are applied. Recent analyses provide evidence that 24-h ABPM outperforms office BP measurements with regards to markers of target organ damage, including LVMI, carotid-intimal media thickness and flow-mediated dilation, and represents an independent predictor of kidney function decline and graft loss.

Except from pre-existing or *de novo* traditional risk factors and factors associated with CKD, immunosuppressive drugs, donor-recipient mismatches, TRAS, recurrence of primary glomerular disease, presence of native kidneys as well as episodes of acute and chronic allograft injury contribute to development of hypertension post transplantation. Recent guidelines recommend the use of dihydropyridine CCBs[15], as they exhibit a favorable profile due to their vasodilatory effects counter-acting vasoconstriction induced by CNIs and their favorable effects on outcomes, or ARBs due to their favorable effects on graft survival, despite previously reported undesirable effects on risk of hyperkalemia and anemia. High-quality large-scale RCTs comparatively assessing the effect of different antihypertensive agents on mortality and major cardiovascular events are warranted to provide definite evidence.

Zaisbideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

# FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Sarafidis P and Ferro CJ conceived and designed the work; Alexandrou ME and Ferro CJ performed the bibliography search; Alexandrou ME, Ferro CJ and Sarafidis P prepared the original draft; Boletis I and Papagianni A critically revised the manuscript; Sarafidis P supervised the project; and all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: Maria-Eleni Alexandrou 0000-0003-3526-261X; Aikaterini Papagianni 0000-0003-0437-5208; Pantelis Sarafidis 0000-0002-9174-4018.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Wang JJ

# REFERENCES

- Rangaswami J, Mathew RO, Parasuraman R, Tantisattamo E, Lubetzky M, Rao S, Yaqub MS, Birdwell KA, Bennett W, 1 Dalal P, Kapoor R, Lerma EV, Lerman M, McCormick N, Bangalore S, McCullough PA, Dadhania DM. Cardiovascular disease in the kidney transplant recipient: epidemiology, diagnosis and management strategies. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2019; 34: 760-773 [PMID: 30984976 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfz053]
- Ying T, Shi B, Kelly PJ, Pilmore H, Clayton PA, Chadban SJ. Death after Kidney Transplantation: An Analysis by Era 2 and Time Post-Transplant. J Am Soc Nephrol 2020; 31: 2887-2899 [PMID: 32908001 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2020050566]
- Opelz G, Döhler B; Collaborative Transplant Study. Improved long-term outcomes after renal transplantation associated 3 with blood pressure control. Am J Transplant 2005; 5: 2725-2731 [PMID: 16212633 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01093.x]
- Halimi JM, Persu A, Sarafidis PA, Burnier M, Abramowicz D, Sautenet B, Oberbauer R, Mallamaci F, London G, 4 Rossignol P, Wuerzner G, Watschinger B, Zoccali C. Optimizing hypertension management in renal transplantation: a call to action. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2017; 32: 1959-1962 [PMID: 29099945 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfx283]
- 5 Ponticelli C, Cucchiari D, Graziani G. Hypertension in kidney transplant recipients. Transpl Int 2011; 24: 523-533 [PMID: 21382101 DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.2011.01242.x]
- Korogiannou M, Sarafidis P, Theodorakopoulou MP, Alexandrou ME, Xagas E, Boletis IN, Marinaki S. Diagnostic 6 Performance of Office versus Ambulatory Blood Pressure in Kidney Transplant Recipients. Am J Nephrol 2021; 52: 548-558 [PMID: 34311458 DOI: 10.1159/000517358]
- Castillo-Rodriguez E, Fernandez-Fernandez B, Alegre-Bellassai R, Kanbay M, Ortiz A. The chaos of hypertension 7 guidelines for chronic kidney disease patients. Clin Kidney J 2019; 12: 771-777 [PMID: 31807290 DOI: 10.1093/ckj/sfz126]
- Carriazo S, Sarafidis P, Ferro CJ, Ortiz A. Blood pressure targets in CKD 2021: the never-ending guidelines debacle. 8 Clin Kidnev J 2022; 15: 845-851 [PMID: 35498896 DOI: 10.1093/ckj/sfac014]
- Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, DePalma SM, Gidding S, Jamerson KA, Jones DW, MacLaughlin EJ, Muntner P, Ovbiagele B, Smith SC, Spencer CC, Stafford RS, Taler SJ, Thomas RJ, Williams KA, Williamson JD, Wright JT. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Hypertension 2018; 71: 1269-1324 [DOI: 10.1161/HYP.000000000000065]
- Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier M, Clement DL, Coca A, de Simone G, 10 Dominiczak A, Kahan T, Mahfoud F, Redon J, Ruilope L, Zanchetti A, Kerins M, Kjeldsen SE, Kreutz R, Laurent S, Lip GYH, McManus R, Narkiewicz K, Ruschitzka F, Schmieder RE, Shlyakhto E, Tsioufis C, Aboyans V, Desormais I; Authors/Task Force Members. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens 2018; 36: 1953-2041 [PMID: 30234752 DOI: 10.1097/HJH.000000000001940]
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Blood Pressure Work Group. KDIGO 2021 Clinical Practice 11 Guideline for the Management of Blood Pressure in Chronic Kidney Disease. Kidney Int 2021; 99: S1-S87 [PMID: 33637192 DOI: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.11.003]
- 12 Campistol JM, Romero R, Paul J, Gutiérrez-Dalmau A. Epidemiology of arterial hypertension in renal transplant



patients: changes over the last decade. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19 Suppl 3: iii62-iii66 [PMID: 15192139 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfh1018]

- Vetromile F, Pernin V, Szwarc I, Garrigue V, Delmas S, Mourad G, Fesler P. Prevalence and risk factors of noncontrolled 13 and resistant arterial hypertension in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation 2015; 99: 1016-1022 [PMID: 25393160 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000000467]
- Arias-Rodríguez M, Fernández-Fresnedo G, Campistol JM, Marín R, Franco A, Gómez E, Cabello V, Díaz JM, Osorio 14 JM, Gallego R; RETENAL Group (Control of Resistant Hypertension in Renal Transplant. Prevalence, Significance). Prevalence and clinical characteristics of renal transplant patients with true resistant hypertension. J Hypertens 2015; 33: 1074-1081 [PMID: 25668343 DOI: 10.1097/HJH.000000000000510]
- 15 Halimi JM, Ortiz A, Sarafidis PA, Mallamaci F, Wuerzner G, Pisano A, London G, Persu A, Rossignol P, Sautenet B, Ferro C, Boletis J, Kanaan N, Vogt L, Bolignano D, Burnier M, Zoccali C. Hypertension in kidney transplantation: a consensus statement of the 'hypertension and the kidney' working group of the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens 2021; 39: 1513-1521 [PMID: 34054055 DOI: 10.1097/HJH.00000000002879]
- Kooman JP, Christiaans MH, Boots JM, van Der Sande FM, Leunissen KM, van Hooff JP. A comparison between office 16 and ambulatory blood pressure measurements in renal transplant patients with chronic transplant nephropathy. Am J *Kidney Dis* 2001; **37**: 1170-1176 [PMID: 11382685 DOI: 10.1053/ajkd.2001.24518]
- Wen KC, Gourishankar S. Evaluating the utility of ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in kidney transplant recipients. 17 Clin Transplant 2012; 26: E465-E470 [PMID: 23061756 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12009.]
- 18 Mallamaci F, Tripepi R, Leonardis D, Mafrica A, Versace MC, Provenzano F, Tripepi G, Zoccali C. Nocturnal Hypertension and Altered Night-Day BP Profile and Atherosclerosis in Renal Transplant Patients. Transplantation 2016; 100: 2211-2218 [PMID: 26683511 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001023]
- 19 Mallamaci F, Tripepi R, D'Arrigo G, Porto G, Versace MC, Marino C, Sanguedolce MC, Testa A, Tripepi G, Zoccali C. Long-term blood pressure monitoring by office and 24-h ambulatory blood pressure in renal transplant patients: a longitudinal study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2019; 34: 1558-1564 [PMID: 30476170 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfy355]
- 20 Ahmed J, Ozorio V, Farrant M, Van Der Merwe W. Ambulatory vs office blood pressure monitoring in renal transplant recipients. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2015; 17: 46-50 [PMID: 25440573 DOI: 10.1111/jch.12448]
- 21 Ibernon M, Moreso F, Sarrias X, Sarrias M, Grinyó JM, Fernandez-Real JM, Ricart W, Serón D. Reverse dipper pattern of blood pressure at 3 months is associated with inflammation and outcome after renal transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012; 27: 2089-2095 [PMID: 22015441 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfr587]
- 22 Wadei HM, Amer H, Griffin MD, Taler SJ, Stegall MD, Textor SC. Abnormal circadian blood pressure pattern 1-year after kidney transplantation is associated with subsequent lower glomerular filtration rate in recipients without rejection. J Am Soc Hypertens 2011; 5: 39-47 [PMID: 21269908 DOI: 10.1016/j.jash.2010.11.004]
- 23 Ducloux D, Motte G, Kribs M, Abdelfatah AB, Bresson-Vautrin C, Rebibou JM, Chalopin JM. Hypertension in renal transplantation: donor and recipient risk factors. Clin Nephrol 2002; 57: 409-413 [PMID: 12078942 DOI: 10.5414/cnp57409]
- Fernández-Fresnedo G, Plaza JJ, Sánchez-Plumed J, Sanz-Guajardo A, Palomar-Fontanet R, Arias M. Proteinuria: a new 24 marker of long-term graft and patient survival in kidney transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19 Suppl 3: iii47iii51 [PMID: 15192136 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfh1015]
- Halimi JM, Buchler M, Al-Najjar A, Laouad I, Chatelet V, Marlière JF, Nivet H, Lebranchu Y. Urinary albumin 25 excretion and the risk of graft loss and death in proteinuric and non-proteinuric renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2007; 7: 618-625 [PMID: 17217438 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01665.x]
- Halimi JM. Albuminuria, proteinuria, and graft survival in kidney transplantation. Am J Kidney Dis 2011; 58: 1037; 26 author reply 1037-1037; author reply 1038 [PMID: 22099571 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.09.003]
- Rigatto C, Foley RN, Kent GM, Guttmann R, Parfrey PS. Long-term changes in left ventricular hypertrophy after renal 27 transplantation. Transplantation 2000; 70: 570-575 [PMID: 10972211 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200008270-00006]
- du Cailar G, Oudot C, Fesler P, Mimran A, Bonnet B, Pernin V, Ribstein J, Mourad G. Left ventricular mass changes 28 after renal transplantation: influence of dietary sodium and change in serum uric acid. Transplantation 2014; 98: 202-207 [PMID: 24926832 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000000043]
- 29 Pickup LC, Law JP, Radhakrishnan A, Price AM, Loutradis C, Smith TO, Edwards NC, Steeds RP, Townend JN, Ferro CJ. Changes in left ventricular structure and function associated with renal transplantation: a systematic review and metaanalysis. ESC Heart Fail 2021; 8: 2045-2057 [PMID: 33987986 DOI: 10.1002/ehf2.13283]
- 30 Hamdani G, Nehus EJ, Hanevold CD, Sebestyen Van Sickle J, Woroniecki R, Wenderfer SE, Hooper DK, Blowey D, Wilson A, Warady BA, Mitsnefes MM. Ambulatory Blood Pressure, Left Ventricular Hypertrophy, and Allograft Function in Children and Young Adults After Kidney Transplantation. Transplantation 2017; 101: 150-156 [PMID: 26895218 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0000000000001087]
- 31 Ozkayar N, Altun B, Yildirim T, Yilmaz R, Dede F, Arik G, Turkmen E, Hayran M, Aki FT, Arici M, Erdem Y. Blood pressure measurements, blood pressure variability and endothelial function in renal transplant recipients. Clin Exp Hypertens 2014; 36: 392-397 [PMID: 24047335 DOI: 10.3109/10641963.2013.827706]
- 32 Pisano A, Mallamaci F, D'Arrigo G, Bolignano D, Wuerzner G, Ortiz A, Burnier M, Kanaan N, Sarafidis P, Persu A, Ferro CJ, Loutradis C, Boletis IN, London G, Halimi JM, Sautenet B, Rossignol P, Vogt L, Zoccali C. Blood pressure monitoring in kidney transplantation: a systematic review on hypertension and target organ damage. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2021 [PMID: 33764450 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfab076]
- Ponticelli C, Montagnino G, Aroldi A, Angelini C, Braga M, Tarantino A. Hypertension after renal transplantation. Am J 33 Kidney Dis 1993; 21: 73-78 [PMID: 8494023 DOI: 10.1016/0272-6386(93)70098-j]
- 34 Kasiske BL, Anjum S, Shah R, Skogen J, Kandaswamy C, Danielson B, O'Shaughnessy EA, Dahl DC, Silkensen JR, Sahadevan M, Snyder JJ. Hypertension after kidney transplantation. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 43: 1071-1081 [PMID: 15168388 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2004.03.013]
- 35 Opelz G, Wujciak T, Ritz E. Association of chronic kidney graft failure with recipient blood pressure. Collaborative



Transplant Study. Kidney Int 1998; 53: 217-222 [PMID: 9453022 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00744.x]

- Mange KC, Cizman B, Joffe M, Feldman HI. Arterial hypertension and renal allograft survival. JAMA 2000; 283: 633-36 638 [PMID: 10665703 DOI: 10.1001/jama.283.5.633]
- 37 Mange KC, Feldman HI, Joffe MM, Fa K, Bloom RD. Blood pressure and the survival of renal allografts from living donors. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004; 15: 187-193 [PMID: 14694172 DOI: 10.1097/01.asn.0000104574.04006.08]
- 38 Tutone VK, Mark PB, Stewart GA, Tan CC, Rodger RS, Geddes CC, Jardine AG. Hypertension, antihypertensive agents and outcomes following renal transplantation. Clin Transplant 2005; 19: 181-192 [PMID: 15740553 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2004.00315.x]
- Aakhus S, Dahl K, Widerøe TE. Cardiovascular disease in stable renal transplant patients in Norway: morbidity and 39 mortality during a 5-yr follow-up. Clin Transplant 2004; 18: 596-604 [PMID: 15344967 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2004.00235.x
- Díaz JM, Gich I, Bonfill X, Solà R, Guirado L, Facundo C, Sainz Z, Puig T, Silva I, Ballarín J. Prevalence evolution and 40 impact of cardiovascular risk factors on allograft and renal transplant patient survival. Transplant Proc 2009; 41: 2151-2155 [PMID: 19715859 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.06.134]
- Didier R, Yao H, Legendre M, Halimi JM, Rebibou JM, Herbert J, Zeller M, Fauchier L, Cottin Y. Myocardial Infarction after Kidney Transplantation: A Risk and Specific Profile Analysis from a Nationwide French Medical Information Database. J Clin Med 2020; 9 [PMID: 33086719 DOI: 10.3390/jcm9103356]
- Loutradis C, Sarafidis P, Marinaki S, Berry M, Borrows R, Sharif A, Ferro CJ. Role of hypertension in kidney transplant 42 recipients. J Hum Hypertens 2021; 35: 958-969 [PMID: 33947943 DOI: 10.1038/s41371-021-00540-5]
- 43 Workeneh B, Moore LW, Nolte Fong JV, Shypailo R, Gaber AO, Mitch WE. Successful Kidney Transplantation Is Associated With Weight Gain From Truncal Obesity and Insulin Resistance. J Ren Nutr 2019; 29: 548-555 [PMID: 30852120 DOI: 10.1053/j.jrn.2019.01.009]
- Lafranca JA, IJermans JN, Betjes MG, Dor FJ. Body mass index and outcome in renal transplant recipients: a systematic 44 review and meta-analysis. BMC Med 2015; 13: 111 [PMID: 25963131 DOI: 10.1186/s12916-015-0340-5]
- Molnar MZ, Lazar AS, Lindner A, Fornadi K, Czira ME, Dunai A, Zoller R, Szentkiralyi A, Rosivall L, Shapiro CM, 45 Novak M, Mucsi I. Sleep apnea is associated with cardiovascular risk factors among kidney transplant patients. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2010; 5: 125-132 [PMID: 19965541 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.04030609]
- 46 Mallamaci F, Tripepi R, D'Arrigo G, Panuccio V, Parlongo G, Caridi G, Versace MC, Parati G, Tripepi G, Zoccali C. Sleep-Disordered Breathing and 24-Hour Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring in Renal Transplant Patients: Longitudinal Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2020; 9: e016237 [PMID: 32578469 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.120.016237]
- 47 Chan W, Bosch JA, Jones D, McTernan PG, Inston N, Moore S, Kaur O, Phillips AC, Borrows R. Hypervolemia and blood pressure in prevalent kidney transplant recipients. Transplantation 2014; 98: 320-327 [PMID: 24770615 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000000066]
- Goodwin JE, Zhang J, Geller DS. A critical role for vascular smooth muscle in acute glucocorticoid-induced hypertension. J Am Soc Nephrol 2008; 19: 1291-1299 [PMID: 18434569 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2007080911]
- 49 Esteva-Font C, Ars E, Guillen-Gomez E, Campistol JM, Sanz L, Jiménez W, Knepper MA, Torres F, Torra R, Ballarín JA, Fernández-Llama P. Ciclosporin-induced hypertension is associated with increased sodium transporter of the loop of Henle (NKCC2). Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007; 22: 2810-2816 [PMID: 17595192 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfm390]
- 50 Cosio FG, Pelletier RP, Pesavento TE, Henry ML, Ferguson RM, Mitchell L, Lemeshow S. Elevated blood pressure predicts the risk of acute rejection in renal allograft recipients. Kidney Int 2001; 59: 1158-1164 [PMID: 11231374 DOI: 10.1046/i.1523-1755.2001.0590031158.x
- Kovarik JJ, Kaltenecker CC, Kopecky C, Domenig O, Antlanger M, Werzowa J, Eskandary F, Kain R, Poglitsch M, 51 Schmaldienst S, Böhmig GA, Säemann MD. Intrarenal Renin-Angiotensin-System Dysregulation after Kidney Transplantation. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 9762 [PMID: 31278281 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-46114-x]
- Gazdar AF, Dammin GJ. Neural degeneration and regeneration in human renal transplants. N Engl J Med 1970; 283: 52 222-224 [PMID: 4912789 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM197007302830502]
- Siragy HM, Carey RM. Role of the intrarenal renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in chronic kidney disease. Am J 53 Nephrol 2010; 31: 541-550 [PMID: 20484892 DOI: 10.1159/000313363]
- 54 Kaur J, Young BE, Fadel PJ. Sympathetic Overactivity in Chronic Kidney Disease: Consequences and Mechanisms. Int J Mol Sci 2017; 18 [PMID: 28767097 DOI: 10.3390/ijms18081682]
- 55 Chue CD, Townend JN, Steeds RP, Ferro CJ. Arterial stiffness in chronic kidney disease: causes and consequences. Heart 2010; 96: 817-823 [PMID: 20406771 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2009.184879]
- Moody WE, Edwards NC, Madhani M, Chue CD, Steeds RP, Ferro CJ, Townend JN. Endothelial dysfunction and 56 cardiovascular disease in early-stage chronic kidney disease: cause or association? Atherosclerosis 2012; 223: 86-94 [PMID: 22349087 DOI: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.01.043]
- Kalluri HV, Hardinger KL. Current state of renal transplant immunosuppression: Present and future. World J Transplant 57 2012; 2: 51-68 [PMID: 24175197 DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v2.i4.51]
- 58 Morales JM. Influence of the new immunosuppressive combinations on arterial hypertension after renal transplantation. Kidney Int Suppl 2002; S81-S87 [PMID: 12410861 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.62.s82.16.x]
- Rice JB, White AG, Scarpati LM, Wan G, Nelson WW. Long-term Systemic Corticosteroid Exposure: A Systematic 59 Literature Review. Clin Ther 2017; 39: 2216-2229 [PMID: 29055500 DOI: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2017.09.011]
- 60 Gheith OA, Nematalla AH, Bakr MA, Refaie A, Shokeir AA, Ghoneim MA. Steroid avoidance reduce the cost of morbidities after live-donor renal allotransplants: a prospective, randomized, controlled study. Exp Clin Transplant 2011; 9: 121-127 [PMID: 21453230]
- Knight SR, Morris PJ. Steroid avoidance or withdrawal after renal transplantation increases the risk of acute rejection but 61 decreases cardiovascular risk. A meta-analysis. Transplantation 2010; 89: 1-14 [PMID: 20061913 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181c518cc
- Baum M, Moe OW. Glucocorticoid-mediated hypertension: does the vascular smooth muscle hold all the answers? JAm 62 Soc Nephrol 2008; 19: 1251-1253 [PMID: 18508960 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2008040410]



- 63 Textor SC, Canzanello VJ, Taler SJ, Wilson DJ, Schwartz LL, Augustine JE, Raymer JM, Romero JC, Wiesner RH, Krom RA. Cyclosporine-induced hypertension after transplantation. Mayo Clin Proc 1994; 69: 1182-1193 [PMID: 7967781 DOI: 10.1016/s0025-6196(12)65772-3]
- 64 Miller LW. Cardiovascular toxicities of immunosuppressive agents. Am J Transplant 2002; 2: 807-818 [PMID: 12392286 DOI: 10.1034/j.1600-6143.2002.20902.x]
- Hoorn EJ, Walsh SB, McCormick JA, Fürstenberg A, Yang CL, Roeschel T, Paliege A, Howie AJ, Conley J, Bachmann 65 S, Unwin RJ, Ellison DH. The calcineurin inhibitor tacrolimus activates the renal sodium chloride cotransporter to cause hypertension. Nat Med 2011; 17: 1304-1309 [PMID: 21963515 DOI: 10.1038/nm.2497]
- Remuzzi G, Perico N. Cyclosporine-induced renal dysfunction in experimental animals and humans. Kidney Int Suppl 66 1995; 52: S70-S74 [PMID: 8587288]
- 67 Artz MA, Boots JM, Ligtenberg G, Roodnat JI, Christiaans MH, Vos PF, Moons P, Borm G, Hilbrands LB. Conversion from cyclosporine to tacrolimus improves quality-of-life indices, renal graft function and cardiovascular risk profile. Am J Transplant 2004; 4: 937-945 [PMID: 15147428 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00427.x]
- 68 Morales JM, Domínguez-Gil B. Impact of tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil combination on cardiovascular risk profile after kidney transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17: S296-S303 [PMID: 17130278 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2006080930
- Vincenti F, Friman S, Scheuermann E, Rostaing L, Jenssen T, Campistol JM, Uchida K, Pescovitz MD, Marchetti P, Tuncer M, Citterio F, Wiecek A, Chadban S, El-Shahawy M, Budde K, Goto N; DIRECT (Diabetes Incidence after Renal Transplantation: Neoral C Monitoring Versus Tacrolimus) Investigators. Results of an international, randomized trial comparing glucose metabolism disorders and outcome with cyclosporine versus tacrolimus, Am J Transplant 2007; 7: 1506-1514 [PMID: 17359512 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01749.x]
- 70 Heisel O, Heisel R, Balshaw R, Keown P. New onset diabetes mellitus in patients receiving calcineurin inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Transplant 2004; 4: 583-595 [PMID: 15023151 DOI: 10.1046/j.1600-6143.2003.00372.x
- 71 Ekberg H, Grinyó J, Nashan B, Vanrenterghem Y, Vincenti F, Voulgari A, Truman M, Nasmyth-Miller C, Rashford M. Cyclosporine sparing with mycophenolate mofetil, daclizumab and corticosteroids in renal allograft recipients: the CAESAR Study. Am J Transplant 2007; 7: 560-570 [PMID: 17229079 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01645.x]
- 72 Ekberg H, Tedesco-Silva H, Demirbas A, Vítko S, Nashan B, Gürkan A, Margreiter R, Hugo C, Grinyó JM, Frei U, Vanrenterghem Y, Daloze P, Halloran PF; ELITE-Symphony Study. Reduced exposure to calcineurin inhibitors in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 2007; 357: 2562-2575 [PMID: 18094377 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa067411]
- Vincenti F, Charpentier B, Vanrenterghem Y, Rostaing L, Bresnahan B, Darji P, Massari P, Mondragon-Ramirez GA, 73 Agarwal M, Di Russo G, Lin CS, Garg P, Larsen CP. A phase III study of belatacept-based immunosuppression regimens versus cyclosporine in renal transplant recipients (BENEFIT study). Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 535-546 [PMID: 20415897 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.03005.x]
- 74 Durrbach A, Pestana JM, Pearson T, Vincenti F, Garcia VD, Campistol J, Rial Mdel C, Florman S, Block A, Di Russo G, Xing J, Garg P, Grinyó J. A phase III study of belatacept versus cyclosporine in kidney transplants from extended criteria donors (BENEFIT-EXT study). Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 547-557 [PMID: 20415898 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03016.x]
- 75 Masson P, Henderson L, Chapman JR, Craig JC, Webster AC. Belatacept for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014; CD010699 [PMID: 25416857 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD010699.pub2]
- 76 Brenner BM, Milford EL. Nephron underdosing: a programmed cause of chronic renal allograft failure. Am J Kidney Dis 1993; 21: 66-72 [PMID: 8494022 DOI: 10.1016/0272-6386(93)70097-i]
- 77 el-Agroudy AE, Hassan NA, Bakr MA, Foda MA, Shokeir AA, Shehab el-Dein AB. Effect of donor/recipient body weight mismatch on patient and graft outcome in living-donor kidney transplantation. Am J Nephrol 2003; 23: 294-299 [PMID: 12902614 DOI: 10.1159/000072819]
- 78 Altheaby A, Al Dalbhi S, Alghamdi Y, Almigbal TH, Alotaibi KN, Batais MA, Alodhayani A, Alkhushail A, Alhantoushi M, Alsaad SM. Effect of donor hypertension on renal transplant recipients' blood pressure, allograft outcomes and survival: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Cardiovasc Dis 2019; 9: 49-58 [PMID: 31516763]
- 79 Guidi E, Menghetti D, Milani S, Montagnino G, Palazzi P, Bianchi G. Hypertension may be transplanted with the kidney in humans: a long-term historical prospective follow-up of recipients grafted with kidneys coming from donors with or without hypertension in their families. J Am Soc Nephrol 1996; 7: 1131-1138 [PMID: 8866403 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V781131
- 80 Blanca L, Jiménez T, Cabello M, Sola E, Gutierrez C, Burgos D, Lopez V, Hernandez D. Cardiovascular risk in recipients with kidney transplants from expanded criteria donors. Transplant Proc 2012; 44: 2579-2581 [PMID: 23146460 DOI: 10.1016/i.transproceed.2012.09.086
- Joy MS, Hogan SL, Thompson BD, Finn WF, Nickeleit V. Cytochrome P450 3A5 expression in the kidneys of patients 81 with calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007; 22: 1963-1968 [PMID: 17395652 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfm133]
- 82 Hauser IA, Kruck S, Gauer S, Nies AT, Winter S, Bedke J, Geiger H, Hoefeld H, Kleemann J, Asbe-Vollkopf A, Engel J, Burk O, Schwab M, Schaeffeler E. Human pregnane X receptor genotype of the donor but not of the recipient is a risk factor for delayed graft function after renal transplantation. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2012; 91: 905-916 [PMID: 22453193 DOI: 10.1038/clpt.2011.346]
- 83 Reeves-Daniel AM, DePalma JA, Bleyer AJ, Rocco MV, Murea M, Adams PL, Langefeld CD, Bowden DW, Hicks PJ, Stratta RJ, Lin JJ, Kiger DF, Gautreaux MD, Divers J, Freedman BI. The APOL1 gene and allograft survival after kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant 2011; 11: 1025-1030 [PMID: 21486385 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03513.x]
- Tantisattamo E, Molnar MZ, Ho BT, Reddy UG, Dafoe DC, Ichii H, Ferrey AJ, Hanna RM, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Amin A. 84 Approach and Management of Hypertension After Kidney Transplantation. Front Med (Lausanne) 2020; 7: 229 [PMID: 32613001 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2020.00229]
- Korogiannou M, Xagas E, Marinaki S, Sarafidis P, Boletis JN. Arterial Stiffness in Patients With Renal Transplantation; 85



Associations With Co-morbid Conditions, Evolution, and Prognostic Importance for Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes. Front Cardiovasc Med 2019; 6: 67 [PMID: 31179288 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2019.00067]

- Bruno S, Remuzzi G, Ruggenenti P. Transplant renal artery stenosis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004; 15: 134-141 [PMID: 86 14694165 DOI: 10.1097/01.asn.0000099379.61001.f8]
- 87 Rengel M, Gomes-Da-Silva G, Incháustegui L, Lampreave JL, Robledo R, Echenagusia A, Vallejo JL, Valderrábano F. Renal artery stenosis after kidney transplantation: diagnostic and therapeutic approach. Kidney Int Suppl 1998; 68: S99-106 [PMID: 9839292 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.4490573]
- 88 Chen W, Kayler LK, Zand MS, Muttana R, Chernyak V, DeBoccardo GO. Transplant renal artery stenosis: clinical manifestations, diagnosis and therapy. Clin Kidney J 2015; 8: 71-78 [PMID: 25713713 DOI: 10.1093/ckj/sfu132]
- 89 Willicombe M, Sandhu B, Brookes P, Gedroyc W, Hakim N, Hamady M, Hill P, McLean AG, Moser S, Papalois V, Tait P, Wilcock M, Taube D. Postanastomotic transplant renal artery stenosis: association with de novo class II donor-specific antibodies. Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 133-143 [PMID: 24354873 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12531]
- 90 Pouria S, State OI, Wong W, Hendry BM. CMV infection is associated with transplant renal artery stenosis. QJM 1998; 91: 185-189 [PMID: 9604070 DOI: 10.1093/qjmed/91.3.185]
- 91 Halimi JM, Al-Najjar A, Buchler M, Birmelé B, Tranquart F, Alison D, Lebranchu Y. Transplant renal artery stenosis: potential role of ischemia/reperfusion injury and long-term outcome following angioplasty. J Urol 1999; 161: 28-32 [PMID: 10037360 DOI: 10.1016/s0022-5347(01)62051-2]
- Ngo AT, Markar SR, De Lijster MS, Duncan N, Taube D, Hamady MS. A Systematic Review of Outcomes Following 92 Percutaneous Transluminal Angioplasty and Stenting in the Treatment of Transplant Renal Artery Stenosis. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2015; 38: 1573-1588 [PMID: 26088719 DOI: 10.1007/s00270-015-1134-z]
- Mangray M, Vella JP. Hypertension after kidney transplant. Am J Kidney Dis 2011; 57: 331-341 [PMID: 21251543 DOI: 93 10.1053/j.ajkd.2010.10.048]
- Weir MR, Burgess ED, Cooper JE, Fenves AZ, Goldsmith D, McKay D, Mehrotra A, Mitsnefes MM, Sica DA, Taler SJ. 94 Assessment and management of hypertension in transplant patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2015; 26: 1248-1260 [PMID: 25653099 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2014080834]
- 95 Dragun D, Müller DN, Bräsen JH, Fritsche L, Nieminen-Kelhä M, Dechend R, Kintscher U, Rudolph B, Hoebeke J, Eckert D, Mazak I, Plehm R, Schönemann C, Unger T, Budde K, Neumayer HH, Luft FC, Wallukat G. Angiotensin II type 1-receptor activating antibodies in renal-allograft rejection. N Engl J Med 2005; 352: 558-569 [PMID: 15703421 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0357171
- 96 Kuningas K, Driscoll J, Mair R, Smith H, Dutton M, Day E, Sharif AA. Comparing Glycaemic Benefits of Active Versus Passive Lifestyle Intervention in Kidney Allograft Recipients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Transplantation 2020; 104: 1491-1499 [PMID: 31568390 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002969]
- 97 Unger T, Borghi C, Charchar F, Khan NA, Poulter NR, Prabhakaran D, Ramirez A, Schlaich M, Stergiou GS, Tomaszewski M, Wainford RD, Williams B, Schutte AE. 2020 International Society of Hypertension global hypertension practice guidelines. J Hypertens 2020; 38: 982-1004 [PMID: 32371787 DOI: 10.1097/HJH.00000000002453]
- Sarafidis PA, Ruilope LM. Aggressive blood pressure reduction and renin-angiotensin system blockade in chronic kidney 98 disease: time for re-evaluation? Kidney Int 2014; 85: 536-546 [PMID: 24048382 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2013.355]
- 99 Pisano A, Bolignano D, Mallamaci F, D'Arrigo G, Halimi JM, Persu A, Wuerzner G, Sarafidis P, Watschinger B, Burnier M, Zoccali C. Comparative effectiveness of different antihypertensive agents in kidney transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2020; 35: 878-887 [PMID: 31143926 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfz092]
- 100 Cross NB, Webster AC, Masson P, O'Connell PJ, Craig JC. Antihypertensive treatment for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009; CD003598 [PMID: 19588343 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003598.pub2]
- 101 van Riemsdijk IC, Mulder PG, de Fijter JW, Bruijn JA, van Hooff JP, Hoitsma AJ, Tegzess AM, Weimar W. Addition of isradipine (Lomir) results in a better renal function after kidney transplantation: a double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled, multi-center study. Transplantation 2000; 70: 122-126 [PMID: 10919587]
- 102 van den Dorpel MA, Zietse R, Ijzermans JN, Weimar W. Prophylactic isradipine treatment after kidney transplantation: a prospective double-blind placebo-controlled randomized trial. Transpl Int 1994; 7 Suppl 1: S270-S274 [PMID: 11271223 DOI: 10.1111/j.1432-2277.1994.tb01365.x]
- Harper SJ, Moorhouse J, Abrams K, Jurewicz A, Nicholson M, Horsburgh T, Harris K, Combe C, Bell PR, Walls J, 103 Donnelly PK, Veitch PS, Feehally J. The beneficial effects of oral nifedipine on cyclosporin-treated renal transplant recipients--a randomised prospective study. Transpl Int 1996; 9: 115-125 [PMID: 8639252 DOI: 10.1007/BF00336388]
- 104 Heinze G, Mitterbauer C, Regele H, Kramar R, Winkelmayer WC, Curhan GC, Oberbauer R. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonist therapy is associated with prolonged patient and graft survival after renal transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17: 889-899 [PMID: 16481415 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2005090955
- 105 Opelz G, Zeier M, Laux G, Morath C, Döhler B. No improvement of patient or graft survival in transplant recipients treated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin II type 1 receptor blockers: a collaborative transplant study report. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17: 3257-3262 [PMID: 17035607 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2006050543]
- 106 Midtvedt K, Hartmann A, Foss A, Fauchald P, Nordal KP, Rootwelt K, Holdaas H. Sustained improvement of renal graft function for two years in hypertensive renal transplant recipients treated with nifedipine as compared to lisinopril. Transplantation 2001; 72: 1787-1792 [PMID: 11740389 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200112150-00013]
- 107 Hernández E, Morales JM, Andrés A, Ortuño B, Praga M, Alcazar JM, Fernández G, Rodicio JL. Usefulness and safety of treatment with captopril in posttransplant erythrocytosis. Transplant Proc 1995; 27: 2239-2241 [PMID: 7652789]
- 108 Sennesael J, Lamote J, Violet I, Tasse S, Verbeelen D. Comparison of perindopril and amlodipine in cyclosporine-treated renal allograft recipients. Hypertension 1995; 26: 436-444 [PMID: 7649579 DOI: 10.1161/01.hyp.26.3.436]
- van der Schaaf MR, Hené RJ, Floor M, Blankestijn PJ, Koomans HA. Hypertension after renal transplantation. Calcium 109 channel or converting enzyme blockade? Hypertension 1995; 25: 77-81 [PMID: 7843758 DOI: 10.1161/01.hyp.25.1.77]



World Journal of WJ7 Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2022 August 18; 12(8): 223-230

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.223

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Acute kidney injury and the compensation of kidney function after nephrectomy in living donation

Kenji Okumura, Holly Grace, Hiroshi Sogawa, Shigeyoshi Yamanaga

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

# Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Eccher A, Italy; Papadopoulos VP, Greece

Received: January 16, 2022 Peer-review started: January 16, 2022 First decision: March 16, 2022 **Revised:** March 27, 2022

Accepted: August 6, 2022 Article in press: August 6, 2022 Published online: August 18, 2022



Kenji Okumura, Hiroshi Sogawa, Department of Surgery, Westchester Medical Center/New York Medical College, Valhalla, NY 10595, United States

Holly Grace, Department of Surgery, New York Medical College, Valhalla, NY 10595, United States

Shigeyoshi Yamanaga, Department of Surgery, Japanese Red Cross Kumamoto Hospital, Kumamoto 861-8520, Japan

Corresponding author: Kenji Okumura, MD, Doctor, Department of Surgery, Westchester Medical Center/New York Medical College, 100 Woods Road, Valhalla, NY 10595, United States. kenji.okumura@wmchealth.org

# Abstract

Acute kidney injury (AKI) incidence is growing rapidly, and AKI is one of the predictors of inpatient mortality. After nephrectomy, all the patients have decreased kidney function with AKI and recover from AKI. However, the characteristic and behavior of AKI is different from usual AKI and compensatory kidney function has been well known in the postoperative setting, especially in living donors. In this review, we have focused on the compensation of kidney function after nephrectomy in living donors. We discuss factors that have been identified as being associated with kidney recovery in donors including age, sex, body mass index, remnant kidney volume, estimated glomerular filtration rate, and various comorbidities.

Key Words: Acute kidney injury; Kidney transplant donor; Compensation; Kidney function

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Acute kidney injury (AKI) incidence is growing rapidly, and AKI is one of the predictors of inpatient mortality. The characteristic and behavior of AKI is different from usual AKI and compensatory kidney function has been well known in the postoperative setting, especially in living donors. In this review, we have focused on the compensation of kidney function after nephrectomy in living donors. We discuss factors of compensation of kidney function after nephrectomy.



Citation: Okumura K, Grace H, Sogawa H, Yamanaga S. Acute kidney injury and the compensation of kidney function after nephrectomy in living donation. World J Transplant 2022; 12(8): 223-230 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v12/i8/223.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.223

#### INTRODUCTION

The incidence of acute kidney injury (AKI) is growing rapidly in many situations[1]. Despite advances in medical care, AKI remains an independent predictor of in-hospital mortality<sup>[2]</sup>. While the nature of kidney is the organ to recover, it is well established that AKI, especially when severe, is a risk factor for incident and progressive chronic kidney disease (CKD) and eventually leading to progressive nephron loss and end-stage renal disease (ESRD)[3,4].

Kidney transplantation has been considered a preferred treatment for patients with ESRD and offers a better quality of life than dialysis[5,6]. While a previous study showed that showed that living donation of kidney is safe in a large cohort, nephrectomy is a major procedure which is associated with potential risks for the donor, including increased cardio-vascular risks and progression to ESRD in the long-term [7]. After donation of the kidney, it has been well known that all patients have hemodynamic changes associated with AKI and have compensated kidney function with the contralateral kidney after donation[6,8-12]. The degree of contralateral kidney function has been reported to be around 60%-70 % on average in previous studies[13,14], however, the degree of compensatory kidney function varies in each donor. In this review, we have discussed the topics related to the clinical factors of compensation and the mechanism of recovery after kidney donation.

#### CLINICAL FACTORS

Many variables are involved in the clinical settings for kidney recovery after kidney donation (Table 1, Figure 1). Age is one of the significant factors which affects the extent of recovery. Younger age is associated with favorable outcomes in many studies [6,8,15-19] and this is supported by the facts that aging is associated with underlying abnormalities and structural changes such as nephrosclerosis and nephron hypertrophy<sup>[16]</sup>. The rate of glomerular density has an inverse correlation with aging<sup>[20]</sup>. The number of nephrons decreases with aging and affects the function of the kidney[20]. Denic *et al*[21] investigated the risk factors associated with kidney abnormalities, and they demonstrated that mild hypertension and aging are associated with underlying abnormalities. They showed the changes of the volumes of kidney, cortex and medulla in living kidney donors[22].

Hypertension is also one of the significant factors which affect the extent of recovery in kidney function[6]. It is known that prevalence of hypertension increases with age. Hypertension was previously regarded as contraindication for living kidney donation, however, living donor donation was reported to be safe if hypertension is under controlled with medication[22]. On understanding of kidney aging, kidney function in people with advanced age have less reserve when they tend to develop CKD and have also higher risk of AKI[23]. As people get old, the prevalence of hypertension also increases, and glomerular hypertrophy has been identified as an integral feature of hypertensive nephropathy and seems to precede rather than to compensate for glomerulosclerosis[24].

Gender is another significant factor for kidney compensation and prognosis. Male gender is associated with poor prognosis in kidney donation[6,8,15], however, this is controversial since many studies showed that gender did not reach to conclusion as one of the independent factors [17,25,26]. This might be more related to the fact that male gender has a higher rate of smoking, which is one of the factors affecting the kidney function and is associated with hypertension.

Metabolic syndrome has been defined by the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III if three or more of the following five criteria are met: Waist circumference over 40 inches (men) or 35 inches (women); blood pressure over 130/85 mmHg; fasting triglyceride level over 150 mg/dL; fasting high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level less than 40 mg/dL (men) or 50 mg/dL (women); fasting blood sugar over 100 mg/dL[27]. Metabolic syndrome has been shown to have a negative impact on remnant kidney function after nephrectomy since metabolic syndrome is associated with a high incidence of hypertension, obesity, hyperglycemia, and hyperuricemia[17,28,29].

The impact of serum uric acid level has been an emerging topic on the residual kidney function in living kidney donors. The total 4650 living-donor cohort study showed that donors with post-donation gout had higher risk of developing AKI and progression to CKD[30]. Other living-donor studies from Turkey and Korea also suggested that preoperative hyperuricemia are associated with impaired postoperative renal function at 6 and 12 mo[31-33]. It was also reported that preoperative hyperuricemia was strongly associated with suboptimal renal compensatory function or recovery at one year after renal donation[34]. Furthermore, hyperuricemia had 1.76-fold higher adjusted risk of adverse events



Table 1 Clinical factors associated with kidney recovery in living donors			
Ref.	Significant factors		
Ohashi et al[17]	Age	Presence of metabolic syndrome	Chronic histological changes
Ibrahim <i>et al</i> [8]	Age	Sex	BMI
Rook <i>et al</i> [11]	Age	BMI	
Denic <i>et al</i> [21]	Age	HTN	
Shiraishi <i>et al</i> [15]	Age	Sex	BMI
	HTN		
Nishida <i>et al</i> [34]	Hyperuricemia	Chronic histological changes	
Yakoubi et al[25]	Age	BSA adjusted RKV	Preoperative eGFR
Shinoda et al[26]	BMI	RKV/BSA	
Okumura <i>et al</i> [6]	Age	Sex	History of HTN
	RKV/Wt		
Zabor et al[18]	Age	Sex	History of HTN
Lee et al[19]	Age	Sex	History of HTN
	BMI	History of DM	Preoperative eGFR
	RKV		
Vaz et al[42]	Age	Sex	

BMI: Body mass index; HTN: Hypertension; BSA: Body surface area; RKV: Remnant kidney volume; eGFR: Estimated glomerular filtration rate; CrCl: Creatinine clearance; mGFR: Measured glomerular filtration rate; Wt: Weight; DM: Diabetes.



**Kidney** aging DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.223 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

#### Figure 1 Clinical factors associated with kidney compensation.

within 5 years after donation, such as cardiovascular events, initiation of dialysis, and de novo prescriptions for hypertension, hyperuricemia, diabetes, and dyslipidemia as well as lower estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR)[35].

The size of kidney is one of the important factors affecting the donor/recipient outcomes in kidney transplantation [36,37]. Since larger size of the kidney is associated with better renal function, it is recommended to choose the smaller kidney for donation to fulfil the principle of leaving the "better" kidney in donor if there is a more than 10% volume difference between kidneys in donor. The reasons to select suboptimal side of kidneys in donation, were cysts or tumors (46.5%), arterial abnormalities (22.7%), inferior size or function (19.8%), and anatomic abnormalities (11.0%), and those kidneys showed worse long-term overall graft survival regardless of the reasons[38].

Remnant kidney volume (RKV) in living donor is one of the important factors to determine the kidney recovery after donor nephrectomy [6,19]. Shinoda et al [26] showed the ratio of RKV to body



surface area (BSA) ratio has an independent factor to predict renal function or compensation after kidney donation. Yakoubi et al[25] also showed BSA adjusted with RKV was an independent predictor of kidney recovery after donation. With respect to recipient outcomes, the ratio of donated kidney volume to body weight (Wt) has been suggested as an important factor related to allograft function[39].

The ratio of RKV to Wt (RKV/Wt) was reported to be one of the significant associated factors in eGFR at 1 year after kidney donation<sup>[6]</sup>. Although it has been thought that a lower RKV/Wt can cause hyperfiltration and subsequent proteinuria[40], Song et al[41] suggested that a ratio of RKV/Wt less than 2.0 mL/kg did not affect the eGFR in donors but was associated with more severe proteinuria at 1 year after donor nephrectomy. There was no significant difference in the RKV/Wt ratio in the study [41], but they suggested the "deterioration" of kidney function since the donors were associated with presence of proteinuria at 1 year after donation. Thus, a lower RKV/Wt ratio might be associated with hyperfiltration and subsequently decrease "renal reserve".

Laterality of the donated kidney is another factor to evaluate when considering donor and recipient outcomes in kidney transplantation. Vaz et al[42] studied the outcomes of hand assisted laparoscopic donor nephrectomy (HALDN) of the left and the right kidney among 739 donors. This study concluded that, although most transplant centers and surgeons prefer performing left nephrectomies because of having a longer vein, right HALDN nephrectomy is a safe procedure with similar outcomes to left HALDN. Gunseren et al [43] compared right and left side laparoscopic donor nephrectomy outcomes and found that they had similar intraoperative outcomes. These authors noted, however, that dissection of lymphatic structures during left laparoscopic donor nephrectomy may cause chylous drainage and prolong hospitalization time compared to right-sided nephrectomy. Zeuschner et al[44] evaluated left and right pure laparoscopic donor nephrectomies and found a higher rate of complications for recipients of right grafts, but long-term function and graft survival were equivalent.

## PATHOLOGICAL CHANGES OF NEPHRECTOMY

After the nephrectomy, the compensation of contralateral kidney function has been well known. Immediately after nephrectomy, an approximately 40% increase in renal plasma flow and glomerular filtration rate is measured in the remaining kidney [9,45]. This leads to developing glomerular hypertension and increased single-nephron filtration with compensatory glomerulomegaly. The glomerulomegaly from hyperfiltration also occurs in response to nephron loss. In addition to glomerulomegaly, hyperfiltration leads to tubular hypertrophy and hyperplasia. Prolonged hyperfiltration and glomerular hypertension causes glomerular sclerosis and decreased glomerular density (Figure 2).

Once glomerular size reaches a certain threshold, glomerularsclerosis, hypertension, proteinuria, and renal failure may develop[46]. This pathological process was associated with kidney function, blood pressure and metabolic conditions: Metabolic syndrome, hypertension, hyperglycemia and hyperuricemia[17,20,34,47,48]. However, these histological changes might not always be seen in donors since donors were in a relatively good state of health and the unaffected nephrons would respond with compensation<sup>[48]</sup>. Studies showed that donors who had hyperuricemia, had chronic histological changes such as intestinal fibrosis, tubular atrophy and arterial hyalinosis in the donated kidney[34]. Intestinal fibrosis and tubular atrophy have significant impacts on long term graft function<sup>[49]</sup>. It is thought that arteriosclerosis has a significant relationship with intestinal fibrosis and tubular atrophy since the chronic ischemic condition caused by arteriosclerosis induces histological changes such as intestinal fibrosis, tubular atrophy and glomerular sclerosis[50].

Rule et al[20] showed that increased GFR, body mass index and uric acid level and a family history of end stage renal disease were independent predictors of decreased glomerular density. The size of individual nephrons can reflect important elements of metabolic regulation. After living kidney donation, donors can develop glomerular hypertension and increased single-nephron filtration with compensatory glomerulomegaly[51-53]. Polichnowski et al[54] showed that contralateral nephrectomy is associated with kidney recovery from ischemic kidney injury and prevent tissue atrophy with capillary repair and tubule redifferentiation. This result supports that remnant kidney is not vulnerable but sustainable after kidney donation. However, we emphasize that the best strategy for AKI is prevention. It is rare to perform living donation in the setting of AKI, however, in deceased donors, Cima et al[55] reported that kidney transplant could be performed from donors with AKI depending on the histological grading score with glomerulosclerosis, tubular atrophy, intestinal fibrosis, vascular damage and acute tubular necrosis[55,56].

#### MOLECULAR CHANGES OF NEPHRECTOMY

At present, the specific mechanism after nephrectomy remain unclear. However, several hypotheses have been proposed and it has shown that endothelial injury and recovery have an important role in the pathogenesis of kidney injury<sup>[57]</sup>. As discussed above, renal blood flow and GFR significantly increased after nephrectomy. This has been a critical role of upstream factors responsible to recruit dormant





#### Figure 2 Changes in kidney after nephrectomy.

nephrons and subsequently to improve in GFR. As renal blood flow increases and renal glomerular filtrate rate increases, it would lead to increase oxygen consumption and cause tissue hypoxia. It induces hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha and induces vascular endothelial growth factor. Hypoxia also induces phosphatase and tension homolog in tubules which causes tubule redifferentiation and repair [54].

In another way, renal tubular epithelial cells, which are surviving from ischemic injury, undergo differentiation[58]. These surviving epithelial cells express vimentin (an intermediate filament protein, which is found in undifferentiated mesenchymal cells but not in differentiated kidney cells), and proliferating cells nuclear antigen (a marker of mitogenesis), in contrast, damaged cells do not express either vimentin or proliferating cell nuclear antigen[59]. The molecular drivers in the process of intrinsic repair remain indeterminate, but the transcription factor Sox9 has been shown to be a critical part of the cellular repairing pathway in surviving renal tubular epithelial cells[60].

Oliver *et al*<sup>[60]</sup> reported that there are renal specific stem cells, which have been identified in the renal tubules as well as the papilla, however, the contribution of these cells still remains under investigation. Many recent studies have looked into the progenitor cell or bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells in renal repair[61]. The mesenchymal stem cell, which are derived from renal specific or bone marrow, may accelerate the process of repairing the injured tubules by direct proliferation or through paracrine effects. In transplant kidney, some studies suggest that the recipient derived cells may repopulate injured tubule [62,63], however, mesenchymal stem cells may predominantly play a role in their beneficial effects via paracrine mechanisms[64]. The mesenchymal stem cells may release microvesicles to communicate between cells and protect renal injury in addition to releasing cytokines 65.

# CONCLUSION

We have performed living donor kidney transplant safely, however, a large cohort study showed that being a donor increased cardiovascular risk and progression to ESRD in the long term[7]. Since the degree of recovery from AKI affects the prognosis of kidney function[66], we believe that it is important to identify the risk of patients without compensation of kidney function of the contralateral kidney to predict the long term risk.

## FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Okumura K and Yamanaga S designed the study, wrote the initial draft of the manuscript; Okumura K, Grace H, Sogawa H and Yamanaga S critically reviewed and revised the manuscript; and all authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: United States

**ORCID number:** Kenji Okumura 0000-0002-7751-2624; Holly Grace 0000-0003-2585-2675; Hiroshi Sogawa 0000-0003-3724-9005; Shigeyoshi Yamanaga 0000-0002-4372-0011.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ



# REFERENCES

- Hsu CY, McCulloch CE, Fan D, Ordoñez JD, Chertow GM, Go AS. Community-based incidence of acute renal failure. 1 Kidney Int 2007; 72: 208-212 [PMID: 17507907 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002297]
- Chertow GM, Burdick E, Honour M, Bonventre JV, Bates DW. Acute kidney injury, mortality, length of stay, and costs in 2 hospitalized patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16: 3365-3370 [PMID: 16177006 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2004090740]
- 3 Chawla LS, Eggers PW, Star RA, Kimmel PL. Acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease as interconnected syndromes. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 58-66 [PMID: 24988558 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1214243]
- 4 Evans RG, Ow CP, Bie P. The chronic hypoxia hypothesis: the search for the smoking gun goes on. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2015; 308: F101-F102 [PMID: 25377917 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00587.2014]
- 5 Kasiske BL, Snyder J, Matas A, Collins A. The impact of transplantation on survival with kidney failure. Clin Transpl 2000; 135-143 [PMID: 11512307]
- Okumura K, Yamanaga S, Tanaka K, Kinoshita K, Kaba A, Fujii M, Ogata M, Hidaka Y, Toyoda M, Uekihara S, Miyata 6 A, Inadome A, Yokomizo H. Prediction model of compensation for contralateral kidney after living-donor donation. BMC Nephrol 2019; 20: 283 [PMID: 31349815 DOI: 10.1186/s12882-019-1464-1]
- Muzaale AD, Massie AB, Wang MC, Montgomery RA, McBride MA, Wainright JL, Segev DL. Risk of end-stage renal 7 disease following live kidney donation. JAMA 2014; 311: 579-586 [PMID: 24519297 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2013.285141]
- 8 Ibrahim HN, Foley R, Tan L, Rogers T, Bailey RF, Guo H, Gross CR, Matas AJ. Long-term consequences of kidney donation. N Engl J Med 2009; 360: 459-469 [PMID: 19179315 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0804883]
- 9 Krohn AG, Ogden DA, Holmes JH. Renal function in 29 healthy adults before and after nephrectomy. JAMA 1966; 196: 322-324 [PMID: 5952198]
- Donadio JV Jr, Farmer CD, Hunt JC, Tauxe WN, Hallenbeck GA, Shorter RG. Renal function in donors and recipients of 10 renal allotransplantation. Radioisotopic measurements. Ann Intern Med 1967; 66: 105-115 [PMID: 5333176 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-66-1-105
- 11 Rook M, Bosma RJ, van Son WJ, Hofker HS, van der Heide JJ, ter Wee PM, Ploeg RJ, Navis GJ. Nephrectomy elicits impact of age and BMI on renal hemodynamics: lower postdonation reserve capacity in older or overweight kidney donors. Am J Transplant 2008; 8: 2077-2085 [PMID: 18727700 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02355.x]
- Hosokawa Y, Tanaka N, Mibu H, Anai S, Torimoto K, Yoneda T, Hirayama A, Yoshida K, Hayashi Y, Hirao Y, Fujimoto 12 K. Follow-up study of unilateral renal function after nephrectomy assessed by glomerular filtration rate per functional renal volume. World J Surg Oncol 2014; 12: 59 [PMID: 24641796 DOI: 10.1186/1477-7819-12-59]
- 13 Kasiske BL, Anderson-Haag T, Israni AK, Kalil RS, Kimmel PL, Kraus ES, Kumar R, Posselt AA, Pesavento TE, Rabb H, Steffes MW, Snyder JJ, Weir MR. A prospective controlled study of living kidney donors: three-year follow-up. Am J Kidney Dis 2015; 66: 114-124 [PMID: 25795073 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.01.019]
- 14 Blantz RC, Steiner RW. Benign hyperfiltration after living kidney donation. J Clin Invest 2015; 125: 972-974 [PMID: 25689262 DOI: 10.1172/JCI80818]
- Shiraishi N, Kitamura K, Kohda Y, Iseki K, Tomita K. Prevalence and risk factor analysis of nephrosclerosis and ischemic 15 nephropathy in the Japanese general population. Clin Exp Nephrol 2014; 18: 461-468 [PMID: 23832327 DOI: 10.1007/s10157-013-0833-5
- 16 Denic A, Glassock RJ, Rule AD. Structural and Functional Changes With the Aging Kidney. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2016; 23: 19-28 [PMID: 26709059 DOI: 10.1053/j.ackd.2015.08.004]
- 17 Ohashi Y, Thomas G, Nurko S, Stephany B, Fatica R, Chiesa A, Rule AD, Srinivas T, Schold JD, Navaneethan SD, Poggio ED. Association of metabolic syndrome with kidney function and histology in living kidney donors. Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 2342-2351 [PMID: 23865821 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12369]
- Zabor EC, Furberg H, Mashni J, Lee B, Jaimes EA, Russo P. Factors Associated with Recovery of Renal Function 18 following Radical Nephrectomy for Kidney Neoplasms. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2016; 11: 101-107 [PMID: 26500248 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.04070415]
- Lee CU, Ryoo H, Chung JH, Song W, Kang M, Sung HH, Jeong BC, Seo SI, Jeon SS, Lee HM, Jeon HG. Preoperative 19 versus Postoperative Compensation of the Contralateral Normal Kidney in Patients Treated with Radical Nephrectomy for Renal Cell Carcinoma. J Clin Med 2021; 10 [PMID: 34768437 DOI: 10.3390/jcm10214918]
- Rule AD, Semret MH, Amer H, Cornell LD, Taler SJ, Lieske JC, Melton LJ 3rd, Stegall MD, Textor SC, Kremers WK, Lerman LO. Association of kidney function and metabolic risk factors with density of glomeruli on renal biopsy samples from living donors. Mayo Clin Proc 2011; 86: 282-290 [PMID: 21454731 DOI: 10.4065/mcp.2010.0821]
- Denic A, Alexander MP, Kaushik V, Lerman LO, Lieske JC, Stegall MD, Larson JJ, Kremers WK, Vrtiska TJ, Chakkera 21 HA, Poggio ED, Rule AD. Detection and Clinical Patterns of Nephron Hypertrophy and Nephrosclerosis Among Apparently Healthy Adults. Am J Kidney Dis 2016; 68: 58-67 [PMID: 26857648 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.12.029]
- 22 Delmonico F; Council of the Transplantation Society. A Report of the Amsterdam Forum On the Care of the Live Kidney Donor: Data and Medical Guidelines. Transplantation 2005; 79: S53-66 [PMID: 15785361]
- Saito T, Uchida K, Ishida H, Tanabe K, Nitta K. Changes in glomerular filtration rate after donation in living kidney 23 donors: a single-center cohort study. Int Urol Nephrol 2015; 47: 397-403 [PMID: 25367358 DOI: 10.1007/s11255-014-0861-4
- Hughson MD, Puelles VG, Hoy WE, Douglas-Denton RN, Mott SA, Bertram JF. Hypertension, glomerular hypertrophy 24 and nephrosclerosis: the effect of race. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2014; 29: 1399-1409 [PMID: 24327566 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gft480]
- Yakoubi R, Autorino R, Kassab A, Long JA, Haber GP, Kaouk JH. Does preserved kidney volume predict 1 year donor 25 renal function after laparoscopic living donor nephrectomy? Int J Urol 2013; 20: 931-934 [PMID: 23331616 DOI: 10.1111/iju.12080
- Shinoda K, Morita S, Akita H, Tamaki S, Takahashi R, Kono H, Asanuma H, Kikuchi E, Jinzaki M, Nakagawa K, Oya M. 26 Pre-donation BMI and preserved kidney volume can predict the cohort with unfavorable renal functional compensation at 1-year after kidney donation. BMC Nephrol 2019; 20: 46 [PMID: 30736760 DOI: 10.1186/s12882-019-1242-0]



- 27 National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. Circulation 2002; 106: 3143-3421 [PMID: 12485966]
- Dengel DR, Goldberg AP, Mayuga RS, Kairis GM, Weir MR. Insulin resistance, elevated glomerular filtration fraction, 28 and renal injury. Hypertension 1996; 28: 127-132 [PMID: 8675252 DOI: 10.1161/01.hyp.28.1.127]
- 29 Wahba IM, Mak RH. Obesity and obesity-initiated metabolic syndrome: mechanistic links to chronic kidney disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2007; 2: 550-562 [PMID: 17699463 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.04071206]
- 30 Lam NN, Garg AX, Segev DL, Schnitzler MA, Xiao H, Axelrod D, Brennan DC, Kasiske BL, Tuttle-Newhall JE, Lentine KL. Gout after living kidney donation: correlations with demographic traits and renal complications. Am J Nephrol 2015; 41: 231-240 [PMID: 25896309 DOI: 10.1159/000381291]
- 31 Cho A, Lee JE, Jang HR, Huh W, Kim DJ, Oh HY, Kim YG. Association between pre-donation serum uric acid concentration and change in renal function after living kidney donation in women. Intern Med J 2014; 44: 1217-1222 [PMID: 25266773 DOI: 10.1111/imj.12591]
- 32 Kulah E. Pretransplant uric acid levels may be predictive for prognosis of renal transplant donors. Ren Fail 2016; 38: 487-492 [PMID: 26888379 DOI: 10.3109/0886022X.2016.1144208]
- 33 Bravo RC, Gamo MB, Lee HH, Yoon YE, Han WK. Investigating Serum Uric Acid as a Risk Factor in the Development of Delayed Renal Recovery in Living Kidney Donors. Transplant Proc 2017; 49: 930-934 [PMID: 28583561 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2017.03.034]
- 34 Nishida S, Kinoshida K, Tanaka K, Hidaka Y, Kawabata C, Hamanoue S, Toyoda M, Lnadome A, Uekihara S, Yamanaga S. Factors related to suboptimal recovery of renal function after living donor nephrectomy. Transplantation 2018; 102: S42 [DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000542600.69668.5c]
- Tanaka K, Yamanaga S, Hidaka Y, Nishida S, Kinoshita K, Kaba A, Ishizuka T, Hamanoue S, Okumura K, Kawabata C, Toyoda M, Miyata A, Kashima M, Yokomizo H. Long-term impact of baseline serum uric acid levels on living kidney donors: a retrospective study. BMC Nephrol 2021; 22: 89 [PMID: 33711960 DOI: 10.1186/s12882-021-02295-0]
- Narasimhamurthy M, Smith LM, Machan JT, Reinert SE, Gohh RY, Dworkin LD, Merhi B, Patel N, Beland MD, Hu SL. 36 Does size matter? Clin Kidney J 2017; 10: 116-123 [PMID: 28638611 DOI: 10.1093/ckj/sfw097]
- 37 Hugen CM, Polcari AJ, Farooq AV, Fitzgerald MP, Holt DR, Milner JE. Size does matter: donor renal volume predicts recipient function following live donor renal transplantation. J Urol 2011; 185: 605-609 [PMID: 21168871 DOI: 10.1016/j.juro.2010.09.098]
- Yamanaga S, Freise CE, Stock PG, Rosario A, Fernandez D, Kobayashi T, Tavakol M, Kang SM. Inferior Long-Term 38 Graft Survival of Suboptimal Kidneys After Living Donor Kidney Transplantation. Transplant Proc 2020; 52: 1734-1740 [PMID: 32446691 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2020.01.151]
- 39 Akoglu H, Yildirim T, Eldem G, Arik G, Yilmaz R, Kutlugun AA, Hazirolan T, Aki FT, Arici M, Erdem Y, Turgan C. Living donor kidney volume as a predictor of graft function: is there a role for proteinuria? Transplant Proc 2013; 45: 77-81 [DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2012.10.020]
- Giral M, Foucher Y, Karam G, Labrune Y, Kessler M, Hurault de Ligny B, Büchler M, Bayle F, Meyer C, Trehet N, 40 Daguin P, Renaudin K, Moreau A, Soulillou JP. Kidney and recipient weight incompatibility reduces long-term graft survival. J Am Soc Nephrol 2010; 21: 1022-1029 [PMID: 20488949 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2009121296]
- Song T, Rao Z, Qiu Y, Liu J, Huang Z, Wang X, Lin T. Impact of remaining kidney volume to body weight ratio on renal function in living kidney donors. Kaohsiung J Med Sci 2016; 32: 185-190 [PMID: 27185600 DOI: 10.1016/j.kjms.2016.01.003
- Vaz O, Asderakis A, Sharma V, Moinuddin Z, Shanmugam M, Tavakoli A, van Dellen D, Augustine T. Laterality in 42 laparoscopic hand assisted donor nephrectomy - Does it matter anymore? Surgeon 2021 [PMID: 34844890 DOI: 10.1016/j.surge.2021.09.006
- Gunseren KO, Cicek MC, Aydin YM, Ozmerdiven CG, Yavascaoglu I. The Differences Between the Right and Left Side 43 Laparoscopic Donor Nephrectomy Outcomes: A Comparative Analysis of Single-Center Outcomes. Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul 2021; 55: 339-343 [PMID: 34712075 DOI: 10.14744/SEMB.2021.82085]
- Zeuschner P, Stöckle M, Peters R, Miller K, Liefeldt L, Halleck F, Budde K, Hennig L, Friedersdorff F. Does the Side 44 Matter? Urol Int 2021; 105: 1076-1084 [PMID: 34515246 DOI: 10.1159/000517882]
- 45 Saxena AB, Myers BD, Derby G, Blouch KL, Yan J, Ho B, Tan JC. Adaptive hyperfiltration in the aging kidney after contralateral nephrectomy. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2006; 291: F629-F634 [PMID: 16525160 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00329.2005]
- Hostetter TH, Olson JL, Rennke HG, Venkatachalam MA, Brenner BM. Hyperfiltration in remnant nephrons: a potentially 46 adverse response to renal ablation. Am J Physiol 1981; 241: F85-F93 [PMID: 7246778 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.1981.241.1.F85
- Rule AD, Amer H, Cornell LD, Taler SJ, Cosio FG, Kremers WK, Textor SC, Stegall MD. The association between age 47 and nephrosclerosis on renal biopsy among healthy adults. Ann Intern Med 2010; 152: 561-567 [PMID: 20439574 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-152-9-201005040-00006
- Alexander MP, Patel TV, Farag YM, Florez A, Rennke HG, Singh AK. Kidney pathological changes in metabolic 48 syndrome: a cross-sectional study. Am J Kidney Dis 2009; 53: 751-759 [PMID: 19339092 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2009.01.255
- 49 Fahmy LM, Massie AB, Muzaale AD, Bagnasco SM, Orandi BJ, Alejo JL, Boyarsky BJ, Anjum SK, Montgomery RA, Dagher NN, Segev DL. Long-term Renal Function in Living Kidney Donors Who Had Histological Abnormalities at Donation. Transplantation 2016; 100: 1294-1298 [PMID: 27152920 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000001236]
- 50 Schelling JR. Tubular atrophy in the pathogenesis of chronic kidney disease progression. Pediatr Nephrol 2016; 31: 693-706 [PMID: 26208584 DOI: 10.1007/s00467-015-3169-4]
- Hoy WE, Hughson MD, Singh GR, Douglas-Denton R, Bertram JF. Reduced nephron number and glomerulomegaly in 51 Australian Aborigines: a group at high risk for renal disease and hypertension. Kidney Int 2006; 70: 104-110 [PMID:



16723986 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000397]

- 52 Brenner BM, Garcia DL, Anderson S. Glomeruli and blood pressure. Less of one, more the other? Am J Hypertens 1988; 1: 335-347 [PMID: 3063284 DOI: 10.1093/ajh/1.4.335]
- 53 Zandi-Nejad K, Luyckx VA, Brenner BM. Adult hypertension and kidney disease: the role of fetal programming. Hypertension 2006; 47: 502-508 [PMID: 16415374 DOI: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000198544.09909.1a]
- 54 Polichnowski AJ, Griffin KA, Licea-Vargas H, Lan R, Picken MM, Long J, Williamson GA, Rosenberger C, Mathia S, Venkatachalam MA, Bidani AK. Pathophysiology of unilateral ischemia-reperfusion injury: importance of renal counterbalance and implications for the AKI-CKD transition. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2020; 318: F1086-F1099 [PMID: 32174143 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00590.2019]
- Cima L, Nacchia F, Ghimenton C, Valotto G, Boschiero L, Gobbo S, Zaza G, Neil D, Mescoli C, Vanzo F, D'Errico A, 55 Rugge M, Casartelli-Liviero M, Brunelli M, Novelli L, Eccher A. Histopathology and Long-Term Outcome of Kidneys Transplanted From Donors With Severe Acute Kidney Injury. Prog Transplant 2019; 29: 36-42 [PMID: 30832558 DOI: 10.1177/1526924818817054
- Koyawala N, Parikh CR. A Review of Donor Acute Kidney Injury and Posttransplant Outcomes. Transplantation 2020; 56 104: 1553-1559 [PMID: 32732831 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000003144]
- 57 Sutton TA, Fisher CJ, Molitoris BA. Microvascular endothelial injury and dysfunction during ischemic acute renal failure. *Kidney Int* 2002; **62**: 1539-1549 [PMID: 12371954 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00631.x]
- 58 Bonventre JV. Dedifferentiation and proliferation of surviving epithelial cells in acute renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14 Suppl 1: S55-S61 [PMID: 12761240 DOI: 10.1097/01.asn.0000067652.51441.21]
- 59 Witzgall R, Brown D, Schwarz C, Bonventre JV. Localization of proliferating cell nuclear antigen, vimentin, c-Fos, and clusterin in the postischemic kidney. Evidence for a heterogenous genetic response among nephron segments, and a large pool of mitotically active and dedifferentiated cells. J Clin Invest 1994; 93: 2175-2188 [PMID: 7910173 DOI: 10.1172/JCI117214]
- Oliver JA, Maarouf O, Cheema FH, Martens TP, Al-Awqati Q. The renal papilla is a niche for adult kidney stem cells. J 60 Clin Invest 2004; 114: 795-804 [PMID: 15372103 DOI: 10.1172/JCI20921]
- 61 Cantley LG. Adult stem cells in the repair of the injured renal tubule. Nat Clin Pract Nephrol 2005; 1: 22-32 [PMID: 16932361 DOI: 10.1038/ncpneph0021]
- 62 Grimm PC, Nickerson P, Jeffery J, Savani RC, Gough J, McKenna RM, Stern E, Rush DN. Neointimal and tubulointerstitial infiltration by recipient mesenchymal cells in chronic renal-allograft rejection. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 93-97 [PMID: 11450677 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200107123450203]
- Poulsom R, Forbes SJ, Hodivala-Dilke K, Ryan E, Wyles S, Navaratnarasah S, Jeffery R, Hunt T, Alison M, Cook T, 63 Pusey C, Wright NA. Bone marrow contributes to renal parenchymal turnover and regeneration. J Pathol 2001; 195: 229-235 [PMID: 11592103 DOI: 10.1002/path.976]
- 64 Lin F, Moran A, Igarashi P. Intrarenal cells, not bone marrow-derived cells, are the major source for regeneration in postischemic kidney. J Clin Invest 2005; 115: 1756-1764 [PMID: 16007252 DOI: 10.1172/JCI23015]
- 65 He J, Wang Y, Sun S, Yu M, Wang C, Pei X, Zhu B, Wu J, Zhao W. Bone marrow stem cells-derived microvesicles protect against renal injury in the mouse remnant kidney model. Nephrology (Carlton) 2012; 17: 493-500 [PMID: 22369283 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1797.2012.01589.x]
- 66 Pannu N, James M, Hemmelgarn B, Klarenbach S; Alberta Kidney Disease Network. Association between AKI, recovery of renal function, and long-term outcomes after hospital discharge. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2013; 8: 194-202 [PMID: 23124779 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.06480612]



World Journal of WJ7Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2022 August 18; 12(8): 231-249

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.231

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

# Kidney disease in non-kidney solid organ transplantation

Kurtis J Swanson

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Grigoras A, Romania; Kowalewski G, Poland; Ong LT, Malaysia

Received: January 29, 2022 Peer-review started: January 29, 2022 First decision: March 25, 2022 Revised: April 7, 2022 Accepted: July 11, 2022 Article in press: July 11, 2022 Published online: August 18, 2022



Kurtis J Swanson, Division of Nephrology and Hypertension, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55414, United States

Corresponding author: Kurtis J Swanson, MD, Assistant Professor, Division of Nephrology and Hypertension, University of Minnesota, 717 Delaware Street SE, Suite 353, MMC 1932, Minneapolis, MN 55414, United States. kjswanson88@gmail.com

# Abstract

Kidney disease after non-kidney solid organ transplantation (NKSOT) is a common post-transplant complication associated with deleterious outcomes. Kidney disease, both acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease (CKD) alike, emanates from multifactorial, summative pre-, peri- and post-transplant events. Several factors leading to kidney disease are shared amongst solid organ transplantation in addition to distinct mechanisms unique to individual transplant types. The aim of this review is to summarize the current literature describing kidney disease in NKSOT. We conducted a narrative review of pertinent studies on the subject, limiting our search to full text studies in the English language. Kidney disease after NKSOT is prevalent, particularly in intestinal and lung transplantation. Management strategies in the peri-operative and post-transplant periods including proteinuria management, calcineurin-inhibitor minimization/ sparing approaches, and nephrology referral can counteract CKD progression and/or aid in subsequent kidney after solid organ transplantation. Kidney disease after NKSOT is an important consideration in organ allocation practices, ethics of transplantation. Kidney disease after SOT is an incipient condition demanding further inquiry. While some truths have been revealed about this chronic disease, as we have aimed to describe in this review, continued multidisciplinary efforts are needed more than ever to combat this threat to patient and allograft survival.

Key Words: Acute kidney injury; Chronic kidney disease; Solid organ transplant; Native kidneys; Calcineurin inhibitor toxicity; Renal replacement therapy; Kidney after solid organ transplant

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Kidney disease in the non-kidney solid organ transplant population occurs at significantly higher rate than the general population. Pre-transplant morbidity as well as peri-/post-transplant events contribute to this prevalence. Management strategies throughout the journey of non-renal solid organ transplantation are being studied, including transplantation after native kidney failure to help offset the morbidity/mortality of chronic kidney disease and maximize the benefit of non-kidney solid organ transplantation.

Citation: Swanson KJ. Kidney disease in non-kidney solid organ transplantation. World J Transplant 2022; 12(8): 231-249

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v12/i8/231.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.231

# INTRODUCTION

Chronic kidney disease (CKD), most commonly defined as decreased glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of less than 60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> or markers of kidney damage persistent at least 90 d per Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) criteria, is a frequently observed post-transplant complication for non-kidney solid organ transplantation (NKSOT) recipients and is associated with adverse outcomes [1-3]. While quantifying the prevalence of CKD in any population is daunting, several studies have noted an incidence of CKD in NKSOT ranging between 6%-21% [2,3]. Notably, this is derived via CKD definition as GFR < 30 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. In one study of liver transplant recipients, approximately 57% had a GFR between 30-59 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>[2,3]. This is compared to the estimated CKD rate of 15% in the general population[1].

Intuitively, end-organ disease compelling transplantation often leads to impaired kidney function, stemming from recurrent acute kidney injury (AKI) and subsequent CKD. Furthermore, the posttransplant milieu portends CKD through injurious transient and persistent insults, leading to the well described disproportionately high burden of kidney disease in SOT recipients<sup>[2-4]</sup>. The goal of this review is to condense the current literature in this field to: (1) Illustrate the scope of the problem; (2) Examine mechanisms leading to CKD in this population; and (3) Identify potentially modifiable risk factors and discuss management/treatment of CKD after NKSOT. In the following sections, we will discuss common factors driving AKI and CKD and then describe kidney disease after NKSOT in the following distinct contexts: Pancreas, liver, heart, lung, and intestinal transplantation.

## **KEY DEFINITIONS**

#### AKI

While several definitions exist, we will use those endorsed by the KDIGO work group whereby AKI is defined as at least a 0.3 mg/dL increase in creatinine within 48 h or at least 1.5-1.9 times baseline increase in creatinine within 1 wk or decrease in urine output of at least 0.5 mL/kg/h for at least 6 h[1].

## CKD

As in AKI, KDIGO has defined CKD, which is identified by markers of kidney damage, estimated GFR (eGFR) < 60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, and degree of albuminuria given the well described relationship between proteinuric kidney disease and CKD progression[1]. Unless otherwise stated, we will use these criteria to define CKD.

# SCOPE OF CKD AFTER NKSOT

How common is CKD after NKSOT? This is an important question many have sought to answer given the well documented deleterious impact CKD has on cardiovascular and survival outcomes<sup>[2]</sup>. As described by Bloom et al[3] in their landmark review, historically varied CKD definitions as well as the reliance of estimating equations based on serum creatinine (SCr), of which their distinct strengths/weaknesses/limitations has made the assessment of CKD prevalence enigmatic at best. An oft-cited key study by Ojo et al[2] notes the following rates of 5-year post-transplant CKD: 21.3% among intestinal transplant (IT) recipients, 18.1% among liver transplant recipients, 15.8% among lung transplant recipients, 10.9% among heart transplant recipients, and 6.9% among heart-lung transplant recipients. Whereas this study offers a reference point, they utilized a stringent definition of CKD [GFR < 30 mL/min per 1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, via four variable Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study (MDRD)



equation]. While such conservative criteria lead to underestimation of CKD prevalence (as most patients with CKD fall in the eGFR 30-60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> range), shared patient characteristics of low muscle mass/malnutrition accentuate the already flawed estimating creatinine-based equations. Moreover, the paucity of proteinuria measurements performed clinically and/or analyzed in studies is a major contributor to the underestimation of CKD in NKSOT recipients.

Several studies have helped improve our understanding of CKD prevalence in NKSOT recipients which will be highlighted below. In their recent study, Shaffi et al<sup>[5]</sup> compared 26 eGFR equations in NKSOT recipients [n = 3622, including recipients of kidney (53%), liver (35%), and other or multiple organs (12%)] to measured GFR (mGFR) either via urinary iothalamate clearance or plasma iohexol clearance. They found that the proportion of absolute percent error < 30% (P<sub>30</sub>) and mean absolute error for the CKD Epidemiology Collaboration equation (CKD-EPI) and the MDRD Study equations were 78.9% [99.6%, 95% confidence interval (CI): 76.9%-80.8%] for both and 10.6 (99.6%, 95% CI: 10.1-11.1) vs 11.0 (99.6%, 95% CI: 10.5-11.5) mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. Compared to the other 24 estimating eGFR equations the authors examined, the CKD-EPI and MDRD equations were significantly more accurate (P < 0.001). In their study examining 1135 pancreas transplant alone (PTA) recipients in Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients (SRTR), Kim et al[6] observed that about 25% of the cohort had an eGFR below 61.3 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. Gonwa et al<sup>[7]</sup> via prospective study serially measuring iothalamate clearance in 1447 liver transplant recipients observed the following: At 3 mo, 1 year, and 5 years post-transplant, the mean mGFR was 59.5 ± 27.1 mL/min, 62.7 ± 27.8 mL/min, and 55.3 ± 26.1 mL/min. Interestingly, the mean mGFR at the time of initial evaluation was  $90.7 \pm 40.5$  mL/min. In their analysis of risk factors for CKD after heart transplantation, Hamour et al[8] observed that CKD post-heart transplant is common, noting probabilities of eGFR < 45 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> were the following: 45% at year 1, 71% at year 5 and 83% at year 10. In their review which included 186 lung transplant recipients, Ishani et al[9] showed that CKD was commonly observed at 1 year post transplant and progressed henceforth: From a mean pretransplant SCr of 0.88  $\pm$  0.19 mg/dL to 1.22  $\pm$  0.82 mg/dL at one month 1.67  $\pm$  0.88 mg/dL at 12 mo and to  $1.98 \pm 1.1 \text{ mg/dL}$  at three years post-transplant. Kidney disease after NSKOT appears to be common, progressive and is likely substantially underestimated due to patient factors as well as understated albuminuria.

# MECHANISMS LEADING TO CKD IN NON-KIDNEY SOT

Across NSKOT, both shared and organ-specific factors give rise to CKD onset and progression. Comorbidities directly related to primary end-organ failure *e.g.*, diabetes mellitus, liver failure, heart failure, lung failure in addition to common baseline demographic characteristics (advancing age, female gender, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hepatitis C virus infection, drug-induced nephrotoxicity) as well as transplant specific factors, namely perioperative AKI, as well as calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) use, all contribute to the development of CKD[2-4].

The perioperative setting is a crucial shared risk factor impacting kidney function both short and long term. Hypotension, hypoperfusion, fluid shifts, nephrotoxic agents, sepsis in the perioperative period all spur AKI[3,10]. In a fashion similar to pre-transplant organ dysfunction leading to kidney impairment, marginal allograft function begets renal decompensation and vice versa[3,10]. CNI use and its impact on renal function after NKSOT is a controversial topic. While CNI use is an oft-implicated cited reason for post SOT kidney disease, it does not tell the entire story [10]. In a recent study, Ojo et al [10] noted that CNI use constitutes the majority of histologic lesions observed on kidney biopsy, ranging from between 46%-60% of cases. Non-CNI related pathology, as illustrated in their description of orthotopic heart and liver transplant recipients in their cited figures, is also an important player and has been observed in 27%-40% of kidney biopsies. Importantly, histologic findings must be interpreted cautiously as these biopsies were subject to having multiple concurrent histologic patterns.

Kubal et al[11] expounded on this, conducting their own histologic study of 62 nonrenal SOT recipients with kidney biopsies, where they showed that only 35.5% (n = 22) of those biopsied had predominant features consistent with chronic CNI toxicity. Hypertensive nephropathy [43.5% (n = 27)], not without its own disputes, was the most common diagnosis. Nearly 20% (n = 12) of the cohort had biopsies showing alternative pathology including acute tubular necrosis (n = 5), mesangioproliferative glomerulonephritis (n = 2), diabetic nephropathy (n = 1), post infectious glomerulonephritis (n = 1), and membranous nephropathy (n = 1)[11].

In a recent review, Wiseman<sup>[12]</sup>, as adapted from Schwarz *et al*<sup>[13]</sup>, describes the clinical characteristics and histology of biopsy proven kidney disease after liver, lung and heart transplantation. Of note, primary glomerulonephritis was 26% in liver transplant recipients and acute tubular injury were the most commonly observed histologic patterns in lung and heart recipients. In addition to shared mechanisms leading to CKD, distinct factors inherent to the various subtypes of organ transplant exist. These have been suitably defined in the literature and will be discussed in the following sections<sup>[10]</sup>. Though SOT recipients may recover from these early post-transplant kidney perturbations, often AKI, irrespective of renal replacement therapy (RRT) need, in addition to a "pro-nephrotoxic" environment with ongoing insults (post-transplant diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, CNI use, transplant organ

dysfunction, cardiovascular disease, infection, malignancy) in addition to pre-existing kidney dysfunction contribute to progressive CKD[2,3,14,15].

# KIDNEY DISEASE AFTER PANCREAS TRANSPLANTATION

PTA is a novel transplant option for non-uremic diabetic patients. Interestingly, there is evidence that PTA may be renoprotective via proteinuria reduction and reversal of diabetic kidney lesions[16,17]. Despite this, kidney disease often progresses for PTA recipients. The following studies detail some of the contributing factors leading to kidney disease.

Kim et al[6], in their study examining 1135 adult PTA recipients, showed that kidney function prior to transplantation is a strong predictor of end stage kidney disease (ESKD): PTA recipients with pretransplant eGFR < 60 and 60-89.9 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> were 7.74 (95%CI: 4.37-13.74) and 3.25 (95%CI: 1.77-5.97) times more likely to develop ESKD than patients with eGFR  $\ge 90$  mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. Smail *et al*[18] also found that a pre-transplant eGFR < 60mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> was associated with an end stage renal disease (ESRD) incidence at 1, 3, 5 years of 0%, 28.6% and 61.9% compared to those with an eGFR > 60  $mL/min/1.73 m^2$  (P = 0.006). Younger age, female sex, and duration of diabetes predicted the development of ESRD (all P < 0.05). However, there was no difference in patient survival based on pretransplant eGFR (P = 0.73). Gruessner et al<sup>[19]</sup> examined 513 PTAs transplanted from 1966 to 2006. They observed a 5 year post-transplant ESKD rate of 13% and found that SCr > 1.5 mg/dL at time of transplant and age < 30 predicted kidney failure. Odorico *et al*[20] performed a retrospective analysis comparing PTA recipients (n = 27) and pancreas after kidney transplant (PSK) recipients (n = 61) to assess changes in kidney function. They observed that pre-transplant eGFR < 60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> was associated with CKD progression. Fascinatingly, 67% PTA patients showed an increase (> 10%) in their SCr from baseline vs 34% PAK patients (P = 0.035). PTA transplant was considered mildly protective in terms of progression of CKD, though this finding was not significant [hazard ratio (HR) = 0.29, 95%CI: 0.04-2.37, P = 0.182). Chatzizacharias et al<sup>[21]</sup> in their risk analysis of progression to kidney failure after pancreas transplant found that tacrolimus levels > 12 mg/dL at 6 mo post-transplant were associated with declining kidney function (HR = 14.3, 95%CI: 1.3-161, P = 0.03). Surprisingly, pre-transplant proteinuria (urine protein creatinine ratio > 100 mg/mmol) and low eGFR, which they defined as ≤ 45 and  $\leq 40 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ , were not significantly associated with worsening CKD. Marchetti *et al*[22] in their inquiry of 28 PTA recipients observed stable native kidney function comparing pre-transplant to post-transplant (0.95  $\pm$  0.2 vs 0.96  $\pm$  0.22, P > 0.05). However, this follow up was only at 3 mo posttransplant. Coppelli et al<sup>[17]</sup> showed that at 1 year follow up, 32 PTA recipients did not have significantly different creatinine pre-and post-transplant ( $0.95 \pm 0.25 \text{ mg/dL} vs 1.00 \pm 0.19 \text{ mg/dL}, P > 0.12 \text{ mg/dL}$ 0.05). They observed improvement in lipid levels, blood pressure as well as albuminuria. Genzini et al [23] in their single center retrospective review followed 45 PTA recipients. After stratifying by 24 h creatinine clearance (CrCl) post PTA [group 1 = CrCl  $\leq$  70 mL/min; (*n* = 20); group 2 = CrCl > 70; (*n* = 25)], they observed significant decreases in native kidney function at 1 year in both groups (group 1 CrCl pre- vs post-transplantation =  $57.3 \pm 9 vs 34.8 \pm 32 mL/min$ , P = 0.003); (group 2 CrCl pre- vs posttransplantation =  $107.1 \pm 25 vs 81.0 \pm 23 mL/min$ , P = 0.008). In group 1, 10/20 patients (50%) ended up with a CrCl < 30 mL/min, 5/20 (25%) initiated on hemodialysis, and 3/20 (15%) underwent kidney after pancreas transplantation. No patients in group 2 ended up with significantly decreased kidney function. Scalea et al[24] looked at PTA recipients over 14 years retrospectively and saw that 88% of patients had eGFR decrease with a mean decrement of 32.1 mg/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>. Mean eGFR pretransplantation was 88.9 vs 55.6 post-transplantation (P < 0.0001) with mean follow-up of 3.68 years. Donor demographics, immunosuppression, human leukocyte antigen mismatch were not significantly associated with progressive CKD in their analysis.

Studies on kidney function after PTA are limited in terms of sample size and duration of follow up. However, it would appear that the presence of pre-transplant CKD with eGFR <  $60 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ tends to associate with cumulative CKD. While more robust studies are needed to better characterize kidney function in this population, it would appear that pre-transplant native kidney function is an important predictor of progressive CKD for pancreas transplant recipients and ought to inform organ allocation practices as well as evaluation for kidney after pancreas transplantation. These results are summarized in Table 1.

## KIDNEY DISEASE AFTER LIVER TRANSPLANTATION

Kidney disease is common for patients with liver failure, due to hemodynamic changes associated with portal hypertension as well as disease processes impacting both organs *e.g.*, viral hepatitis, hepatorenal syndrome, secondary immunoglobulin A nephropathy, oxalosis[2,3]. Although hepatitis C as a primary diagnosis of liver failure is declining, as described by the Organ Procurement Transplant Network/SRTR (OPTN/SRTR) 2019 annual data report, it still constitutes 12.6% of liver registrations [25]. In addition to its associations with glomerulonephritis, hepatitis C has been shown to increase the



Table 1 Kidney disease after pancreas transplant alone				
Ref.	Total number of patients, <i>n</i>	Risk factors associated with kidney disease	Study conclusion	
Kim et al[6]	1135	Pre-transplant eGFR < 60 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> . Pre-transplant eGFR 60-89.9 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup>	PTA recipients with pre-transplant eGFR < 60 and 60-89.9 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> were 7.74 (95%CI: 4.37-13.74) and 3.25 (95%CI: 1.77-5.97) times more likely to develop ESKD than patients with eGFR $\ge$ 90 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup>	
Smail <i>et al</i> [18]	43	Pre-transplant eGFR < $60$ mL/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> was associated with a ESRD incidence at 1, 3, 5 yr of 0, 28.6% and 61.9% compared to those with an eGFR > 60 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> 1, 3, 5 yr incidence of 0.82, and 12.5% ( <i>P</i> = 0.006); age, female sex, duration of diabetes pre-PTA (all <i>P</i> < 0.05)	The risk of progression to ESRD after PTA may be increased in patients with pretransplant eGFR below 60 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> , younger patients and in women	
Gruessner <i>et al</i> [ <mark>19</mark> ]	513	SCr > 1.5 mg/dL at transplant, age < 30	5 yr post-transplant ESKD rate of 13%	
Odorico et al[20]	27 PTA, 61 PAK	Pre-transplant eGFR < 60 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup>	67% PTA patients showed an increase (> 10%) in their SCr from baseline <i>vs</i> 34% PAK patients ( $P = 0.035$ ). PTA transplant was considered mildly renoprotective; this finding was not significant (HR = 0.29, 95%CI: 0.04-2.37, $P = 0.182$ )	
Chatzizacharias <i>et al</i> [ <mark>21</mark> ]	24	Tacrolimus levels > 12 mg/dL at 6 mo post- transplant	Tacrolimus levels, but not pre-transplant proteinuria or low eGFR < 45 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> were associated with CKD progression	
Marchetti <i>et al</i> [ <mark>22</mark> ]	28		Stable native kidney function comparing pre-transplant to post-transplant (0.95 $\pm$ 0.2 <i>vs</i> 0.96 $\pm$ 0.22, <i>P</i> > 0.05); limited follow up of 3 mo	
Coppelli et al[17]	32		32 PTA recipients did not have significantly different creatinine pre- and post-transplant (0.95 ± 0.25 mg/dL $vs$ 1.00 ± 0.19 mg/dL, $P >$ 0.05); PTA lead to improvement in lipids, BP, and albuminuria	
Genzini <i>et al</i> [23]	45; 20-group 1 CrCl ≤ 70 mL/min; 25- group 2 CrCl > 70 mL/min	CrCl < 70 mL/min	Kidney function at 1-yr: Group 1 CrCl pre- $vs$ post-transplantation = 57.3 ± 9 $vs$ 34.8 ± 32 mL/min, $P$ = 0.003); (group 2 CrCl pre- $vs$ post-transplantation = 107.1 ± 25 $vs$ 81.0 ± 23 mL/min, $P$ = 0.008). In group 1, 10/20 patients (50%) ended up with a CrCl < 30 mL/min, 5/20 (25%) initiated on hemodialysis, and 3/20 (15%) underwent kidney after pancreas transplantation. No patients in group 2 ended up with significantly decreased kidney function	
Scalea <i>et al</i> [24]	123		88% of patients had eGFR decrease with a mean decrement of 32.1 mg/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> . Mean eGFR pre-transplantation was 88.9 vs 55.6 post-transplantation ( $P < 0.0001$ ) with mean follow-up of 3.68 yr. Donor demographics, immunosuppression, HLA mismatch were not significantly associated with progressive CKD in their analysis	

PTA: Pancreas transplant alone; ESKD: End stage kidney disease; eGFR: Estimated glomerular filtration rate; ESRD: End stage renal disease; SCr: Serum creatinine; PAK: Pancreas after kidney transplant; HR: Hazard ratio; CI: Confidence interval; BP: Blood pressure; CrCl: Creatinine clearance; HLA: Human leukocyte antigen; CKD: Chronic kidney disease.

> risk of developing diabetes mellitus[3]. As previously mentioned, CKD is often underreported in this group of NKSOT recipients due to liver failure mediated sarcopenia and malnutrition<sup>[26]</sup>. Here we will explore recent studies describing kidney function after liver transplantation. Ojo et al[2] utilizing SRTR data, observed that in 36849 liver transplant recipients at 1 year follow up, 8% had advanced CKD (CKD stage IV or V) and at 60 mo, 18.1% do. Key risk factors associated with chronic renal failure (CRF) after liver transplantation were pre-transplant GFR, particularly that of  $\leq$  29 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> [relative risk (RR) = 3.78], post-operative renal failure (RR = 2.11), pre-transplant dialysis (RR = 1.45), hepatitis C (RR = 1.22), and pre-transplant diabetes mellitus (RR = 1.39).

> Given the dilemmas associated with creatinine/eGFR interpretation in liver disease, several groups have attempted to evaluate kidney function after liver transplantation by serially following mGFR as summarized below. Cohen et al [27] looked at 353 liver transplant recipients with pre- and posttransplant mGFR via iothalamate clearance. Mean age at transplant was 50.3 years, with mean follow up of 6.8 years. 41% of their liver transplant recipients were transplanted due to cholestatic liver disease. Tacrolimus (51.7%) was the most common CNI used. At 3 years and 5 years in both the entire group (n= 353) and intensive follow-up group (n = 191), mean mGFR was > 50 mL/min/body surface area at 3 (56.5 and 56.4) and 5 years (56.6 and 53.9). Although mGFR at listing did not correlate well with 3 year mGFR in the intensive follow up group (correlation coefficient, r = 0.35). 1 year mGFR correlated relatively well with 3 year mGFR (r = 0.72). The authors reported a near doubling of transplant recipients with mGFR < 40 at 3 years posttransplant (39/191, 20.4%) vs pre-transplant (10/191, 10.5%). In the entire cohort of 353 orthotopic liver transplant (OLT) recipients, 15 patients (4.2%) developed

ESKD. Mean time to ESKD was 7.5 years after transplant (range = 2.5-11.3 years). In Kaplan-Meier analysis, the incidence of ESKD within 10 years was 10% ± 3%, 95%CI: 3%-15%.

In their study of 152 OLT recipients at least 5 years post-liver transplant, Herlenius et al[28] set out to describe the prevalence of CKD by linking early mGFR to late mGFR and to determine risk factors leading to CKD after liver transplant. At 5 years, 8 (5%) of the patients were on dialysis. GFR decreased by 36% at 5 years and 42% at 10 years. The authors observed that baseline mGFR had a weak correlation with 5-year mGFR (Pearson correlation coefficient,  $R^2 = 0.27$ ). Stronger correlation was observed between 3 mo and 5 year mGFR [0.67 and  $R^2$  = 0.46 (2-tailed P < 0.001) and 1 year and 5 year mGFR (0.72 and  $R^2 = 0.52$  (2-tailed P < 0.001)]. They also conducted a multivariate logistic regression analysis on risk factors for developing advanced kidney disease (CKD IV, V) at 5 years post-liver transplant and found that only mGFR 3 mo post-liver transplant below 30 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> was predictive (P = 0.03).

The following studies describe kidney disease after liver transplantation using eGFR: Wilkinson and Pham<sup>[29]</sup> reported the following rates in terms of incidence and mortality rate from AKI and CKD: 17%-95% rate of AKI with a mortality rate of 25%-74% in those on RRT vs 52% not requiring RRT; 10%-20% incidence of CKD, 2%-8% rate of ESRD with a mortality rate between 25%-50%. AKI risk factors included delayed graft function, poor liver allograft function, body mass index, use of cyclosporine-A and pre-transplant AKI. CKD risk factors included the following: AKI, need for hemodialysis, hepatorenal syndrome, CNI use, diabetes mellitus, hepatitis C, and age. Gonwa et al[30] inspected 834 liver transplant recipients which they stratified into 3 groups: Controls (n = 748), CRF [defined as sustained SCr > 2.5 mg/dL, (n = 41)], and ESRD (n = 45). They observed an incidence of "severe renal dysfunction", CRF + ESRD in 18.1% of OLT recipients after 13 years of follow up. In multivariate stepwise logistic regression analysis, increased creatinine by 1 mg/dL above the average of the group conferred the following risk for CRF or ESRD: Creatinine at 4 wk (odds ratio (OR) = 1.598, 95% CI: 1.076-2.372), creatinine at 3 mo (OR = 2.254, 95%CI: 1.262-4.025), and 1 year creatinine (OR = 2.582, 95%CI: 1.633-4.083). Survival was markedly decreased at year 13 in the ESRD group (28.2%) compared to the control group without significant kidney disease (54.6%). The authors also noted decreased survival after ESRD onset for those who did not receive a subsequent kidney transplant: 6 years after the onset of ESRD, patients receiving HD without a transplant had a survival of only 27% compared with 71.4% in the kidney transplant group (P = 0.04). O'Riordan et al[26], in their study of 230 OLT recipients, observed that at 5 years post-liver transplant, 71% had CKD with GFR < 60 mL/min. Pre-transplant factors associated with progression to ESRD included age, female gender, liver transplant from cytomegalovirus (CMV) positive donor to CMV positive recipient, and pre-liver transplant diabetes in univariate analysis (all P < 0.05). Though pre-OLT proteinuria was missing in 53% of patients, more than 40% of those with measurements had > 150 mg/L/d. Mean pre-transplant proteinuria =  $0.21 \pm 0.29$ g/L (range = 0.00-2.09) and was significantly associated with CKD progression (OR = 5.36, 95% CI: 1.41-20.45, P = 0.01). In multivariate analysis for factors impacting CKD progression to stage 5 disease, pre-OLT total urinary protein (OR = 7.48, 95% CI: 1.04-53.97) and female gender (OR = 7.84, 95% CI: 2.04-30.08, P < 0.005) were the most predictive. In multivariate Cox regression analysis, GFR < 30 mL/min (HR = 3.05, 95%CI: 1.21-7.70, P = 0.02) was meaningfully associated with reduced patient survival. Similarly, survival was significantly decreased for those with GFR < 30 mL/min compared to those with GFR > 30 mL/min in Kaplan-Meier analysis (log rank P = 0.04). Wyatt and Arons[31] observed significant mortality in 358 liver transplant recipients who sustained AKI, irrespective of whether they required RRT or not: AKI without RRT [adjusted OR (aOR) = 8.69, 95% CI: 3.25-23.19, P < 0.0001]; AKI requiring RRT (aOR = 12.07, 95% CI: 3.90-37.32, *P* < 0.0001). Bahirwani *et al*[32] retrospectively reviewed 40 OLT recipients with CKD prior to transplant, which they defined as  $SCr \ge 2 \text{ mg/dL}$  for 90 d. Notable demographics included median eGFR of 24 mL/min (range 16-33), mean age of 56.5 years [interquartile range (IQR) = 52-60.5], 21 (53%) of the group had liver failure from hepatitis C, median Model of End Stage Liver Disease (MELD) of 26 (range = 22-31) and 19 (48%) of the recipients had pre-transplant diabetes. Interestingly, they observed the following median eGFR at 1, 2, and 3 years post-transplant 35 mL/min (IQR = 27-47), 34 mL/min (IQR = 20-51), and 37 mL/min (IQR = 22-55). 53% of recipients developed CKD stage 4 at 3 years. At a median follow up of 1.21 years post-transplant, 12 (30%) of recipients were on RRT. On univariate analysis, pre-transplant diabetes (HR = 4.23, 95% CI: 1.12-15.93, P = 0.03) and African American race (HR = 3.44, 95% CI: 1.04-11.35, P = 0.04) significantly predicted posttransplant RRT. This association was not significant on multivariate analysis. Interestingly, hypertension, hepatitis C, pre-transplant RRT, MELD score, pre transplant eGFR were not predictive of post-transplant RRT on univariate analysis (all P > 0.05). Cabezuelo *et al*[33] analyzed 184 OLTs for both early postoperative acute renal failure (> 50% increase in SCr within 1 wk of transplant) and late postoperative acute renal failure (similar increase in creatinine two to four weeks post-transplant). 12% of the cohort required RRT. Predictors of early acute renal failure were pre-transplant acute renal failure (OR = 10.2, P = 0.025), serum albumin (OR = 0.3, P = 0.001), duration of dopamine treatment (OR = 1.6, P= 0.001), and grade II-IV dysfunction of the liver graft (OR = 5.6, P = 0.002). Late postoperative risk factors were: Re-operation (OR = 3.1, P = 0.013) and bacterial infection (OR = 2.9, P = 0.017). Pham *et al* [34] in their review of AKI in NKSOT refer to a study whereby renal recovery after liver transplantation in recipients who were on dialysis at transplant was related to pre-transplant dialysis vintage: The percentage of renal function recovery for those who were on dialysis for  $\leq$  30 d 31-60 d, and 61-90 d were 71%, 56%, and 24%. They also note that in an analysis of the Canadian Organ Replacement



Register database by Al Riyami et al[35], despite a low incidence of ESRD (2.9%) in their cohort, the unadjusted mortality rate for those with AKI requiring dialysis compared to those who did not was 49.2% vs 26.8%, respectively (P < 0.001)[34,35].

A particularly interesting study by Kollmann et al[36] investigated whether donor type [donation after circulatory death (DCD) (n = 57) vs donation after brain death (DBD) (n = 446) or living donor liver transplantation (LDLT) (n = 178)] impacted AKI rates. They observed that perioperative AKI (defined as AKI within the first 7 postoperative days) was observed more often in the DCD group (61%; DBD, 40%; and LDLT, 44%; P = 0.01) and was associated with significantly higher peak aspartate aminotransferase levels (P < 0.001). DCD patients also had a significantly higher peak SCr (P < 0.001) and a trend toward higher rates of AKI stage 3 per Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss of kidney function and End-stage kidney disease criteria (DCD, 33%; DBD, 21%; LDLT, 21%; P = 0.11). AKI recovery (DCD, 77%; DBD, 72%; LDLT, 78%; *P* = 0.45) and progression to CKD (DCD, 33%; DBD, 32%; LDLT, 32%; *P* = 0.99) were similar across groups. Patient survival was significantly lower in OLT recipients who received DCD or DBD organs and required perioperative RRT in multivariate analysis (HR = 7.90; 95% CI: 4.51-13.83; P < 0.001).

While a plethora of studies exist examining kidney function after liver transplantation exist, this appears to be representative of the body of work, including both studies using measured and eGFR to assess kidney function. As is the case of longitudinal studies, impaired kidney function definitions and immunosuppression eras have changed over time, rendering comparison difficult. Clearly AKI and CKD are adverse outcomes that lead to adverse outcomes including ESKD and patient mortality. While some risk factors are unmodifiable (age, sex, ethnicity), potentially modifiable risk factors, such as diabetes, hypoalbuminemia, proteinuria, and donor type were observed in these studies. Perhaps these modifiable risk factors can be diagnosed and managed as part of pre-transplant care to optimize before transplantation, especially in those with lower baseline kidney function. Moreover, these studies support the use of mGFR in select candidates and recipients both in the pre- and post-transplant contexts to better identify kidney disease. These studies are abbreviated in Table 2.

#### KIDNEY DISEASE AFTER HEART TRANSPLANTATION

With kidney and heart function intricately related, disease in one organ precipitates disease in the other; the same comorbidities (hyperlipidemia, hypertension, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, etc) lead to kidney and heart disease [2,10,37]. While heart failure can arise from kidney-sparing, acute conditions, de novo heart failure in CKD is a common occurrence, with rates cited between 17%-21% [38]. Estimating pre-heart transplant kidney disease can be challenging in waitlisted heart transplant candidates due to underestimated eGFR stemming from cardiac cachexia/poor nutrition. Moreover, thoracic transplantations (heart and lung) are complex, high-risk surgeries with high rates of AKI due to aortic crossclamping, cardiopulmonary bypass, aggressive diuresis and fluid shifts<sup>[3]</sup>. The following studies describe kidney disease after heart transplantation: Ojo et al[2] described a perioperative acute renal failure rate of 20%-30% of heart transplant recipients with a 10.9% CKD IV/V rate at 60 mo posttransplant. In addition to shared mechanisms, they noted systemic atherosclerosis, renal hypoperfusion from cardiorenal disease as organ specific risk factors leading to kidney dysfunction[10].

In their retrospective cohort study of 233 orthotopic heart transplant (OHT) recipients, Cantarovich et al[39] observed that early renal dysfunction predicts poor long-term kidney function: A 30% decline in CrCl between 1 mo and 3 mo independently predicted the need for chronic dialysis (P = 0.04) and time to first CrCl < 30 mL/min at > 1 year after transplant (P = 0.01). Rubel *et al*[40] studied 370 OHT recipients with up to 10 year follow up looking for early GFR decline as well as ESKD. They found mean eGFR fell 24% at year one, 23% of patients developed a 50% reduction in GFR by year 3, and that 20% of the cohort developed ESRD at 10 years post-transplant. Significant predictors of post-transplant ESRD in Cox multivariate analysis included the following: GFR < 50 mL/min (HR = 3.69, P = 0.024); high mean cyclosporine trough in the first 6 mo (HR = 5.10, P = 0.0059); and presence of diabetes (HR = 3.53, P = 0.021). Lindelöw *et al*[37] investigated kidney outcomes in 151 of their OHT recipients with 9 year follow up. The average preoperative GFR ( $66 \pm 17 \text{ mL/min per } 1.73 \text{ m}^2$ ) declined to  $52 \pm 19 (P < 0.0001)$ at 1 year. From 2 years to 9 years after heart transplantation, overall kidney function remained fairly stable (all P > 0.05). There was no significant correlation between the preoperative GFR and postoperative renal function or survival. Recipient age predicted post heart transplant renal function. Boyle et al[14] set out to determine risks and consequences of post-heart transplant AKI in their study of 756 OHT recipients. They observed an AKI rate of 5.8% (44 of 756). Significant AKI risk factors were insulin dependent diabetes (P = 0.019) and prior cardiac surgery (P = 0.014). OHTs with AKI had higher preoperative SCr, lower preoperative GFR, lower preoperative albumin, lower preoperative hematocrit, increased cardiopulmonary bypass time, and increased blood transfusion needs compared to those without AKI (all P < 0.01). They observed a 50% (22/44) mortality rate in OHTs with AKI requiring dialysis compared to those who did not have AKI (1.4%, 10/712).

In their analysis of CKD risk factors after heart transplantation, Hamour et al[8] evaluated 352 OHT recipients. They found that the cumulative probability of eGFR < 45 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> over time was the



#### Table 2 Kidney disease after liver

Ref.	Total number of patients, <i>n</i>	Risk factors associated with kidney disease	Study conclusion
Ojo et al[2]	36849	Pre-transplant GFR $\leq$ 29 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> (RR = 3.78), post-operative renal failure (RR = 2.11), pre-transplant dialysis (RR = 1.45), hepatitis C (RR = 1.22), and pre-transplant diabetes mellitus (RR = 1.39)	8% with CKD IV/V at 1 yr; 18.1% at 5 yr. Pre-transplant GFR, particularly that of $\leq$ 29 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> , post-operative renal failure, pre-transplant dialysis, hepatitis C, and pre-transplant diabetes mellitus associated with CKD
Cohen <i>et al</i> [27]	353	1 yr mGFR correlated with 3 yr mGFR ( $r = 0.72$ )	At 3 and 5 yr in both the entire group ( $n = 353$ ) and intensive follow-up group ( $n = 191$ ), mean mGFR was > 50 mL/min/BSA at 3 (56.5 and 56.4) and 5 yr (56.6 and 53.9). Near doubling of transplant recipients with mGFR < 40 at 3 yr posttransplant (39/191, 20.4%) $vs$ pretransplant (10/191, 10.5%). 15 patients (4.2%) developed ESKD. Mean time to ESKD was 7.5 yr after transplant (range = 2.5-11.3 yr). The incidence of ESKD within 10 yr was 10% $\pm$ 3%, 95%CI: 3%-15%
Herlenius et al[28]	152	mGFR 3 mo post-liver transplant below 30 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> predicted CKD IV, V ( $P = 0.03$ )	At 5 yr, 8 (5%) of the patients were on dialysis. GFR decreased by 36% at 5 yr and 42% at 10 yr. mGFR 3 mo post-liver transplant below 30 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> predicted CKD IV, V ( $P = 0.03$ )
Wilkinson and Pham [ <mark>29</mark> ]		AKI risk factors: Delayed graft function, poor liver allograft function, BMI, use of cyclosporine-A and pre-transplant AKI; CKD risk factors: Acute kidney injury, need for hemodialysis, hepatorenal syndrome, calcineurin inhibitor use, diabetes mellitus, hepatitis C, and age	17%-95% rate of AKI with a mortality rate of 25%-74% in those on RRT $vs$ 52% not requiring RRT; 10%-20% incidence of CKD, 2%-8% rate of ESRD with a mortality rate between 25%-50%
Gonwa <i>et al</i> [30]	834	Cr by 1 mg/dL above the average of the group conferred the following risk for CRF or ESRD: Cr at 4 wk (OR = 1.598, 95% CI: 1.076-2.372), Cr at 3 mo (OR = 2.254, 95% CI: 1.262-4.025), and 1 yr Cr (OR = 2.582, 95% CI: 1.633-4.083)	"severe renal dysfunction", CRF + ESRD in 18.1% of (OLTx) recipients after 13 yr of follow up; 6 yr after the onset of ESRD, patients receiving HD without a transplant had a survival of only 27% compared with 71.4% in the kidney transplant group ( $P = 0.04$ )
O'Riordan et al[26]	230	Univariate: Age, female gender, liver transplant from CMV positive donor to CMV positive recipient, and pre-liver transplant diabetes, pre-transplant proteinuria. Multivariate: Pre-OLT total urinary protein (OR = 7.48, 95% CI: 1.04-53.97) and female gender (OR = 7.84, 95% CI: 2.04-30.08, $P < 0.005$ ) were the most predictive	5 yr post-liver transplant, 71% had CKD; pre-OLT total urinary protein (OR = 7.48, 95% CI: 1.04-53.97) and female gender (OR = 7.84, 95% CI: 2.04-30.08, <i>P</i> < 0.005) were the most predictive of CKD progression. In multivariate Cox regression analysis, GFR < 30 mL/min (HR = 3.05, 95% CI: 1.21-7.70, <i>P</i> = 0.02) was associated with patient survival. Similarly, survival was significantly for those with GFR < 30 mL/min compared to those with GFR > 30 mL/min in Kaplan-Meier analysis (log rank <i>P</i> = 0.04)
Wyatt and Arons[ <mark>31</mark> ]	358		Mortality in 358 liver transplant recipients who sustained AKI, irrespective of whether they required RRT or not: AKI without RRT (aOR = 8.69, 95% CI: 3.25-23.19, $P < 0.0001$ ); AKI requiring RRT (aOR = 12.07, 95% CI: 3.90-37.32, $P < 0.0001$ )
Bahirwani et al <mark>[32]</mark>	40	Univariate: Pre-transplant diabetes (HR = 4.23, 95%CI: 1.12-15.93, $P = 0.03$ ) and African American race (HR = 3.44, 95%CI: 1.04-11.35, $P = 0.04$ ). Multivariate: No significant predictors of CKD	53% of recipients developed CKD stage 4 at 3 yr. At a median follow up of 1.21 yr post-transplant, 12 (30%) of recipients were on RRT
Cabezuelo et al[33]	184	Early acute renal failure: Pretransplant acute renal failure (OR = 10.2, $P = 0.025$ ), serum albumin (OR = 0.3, $P = 0.001$ ), duration of dopamine treatment (OR = 1.6, $P = 0.001$ ), and grade II-IV dysfunction of the liver graft (OR = 5.6, $P = 0.002$ ). Late postoperative risk factors: Re-operation (OR = 3.1, $P = 0.013$ ) and bacterial infection (OR = 2.9, $P = 0.017$ )	12% of the cohort required RRT
Pham et al [ <mark>34</mark> ]			The percentage of renal function recovery for those who were on dialysis for $\leq$ 30 d, 31-60 d, and 61-90 d were 71%, 56%, and 24%
Al Riyami et al[ <mark>35</mark> ]	4186		Despite a low incidence of ESRD (2.9%) in their cohort, the unadjusted mortality rate for those with AKI requiring dialysis compared to those who did not was 49.2% vs 26.8%, respectively ( $P < 0.001$ )
Kollman et al <mark>[36]</mark>	681; 57 DCD, 446 DBD; 178 LDLT	Perioperative AKI (defined as AKI within the first 7 postoperative days) was observed more often in the DCD group (61%; DBD, 40%; and LDLT, 44%; $P = 0.01$ )	Perioperative AKI associated with DCDLT. No significant differences in stage 3 AKI per RIFLE, AKI recovery, and progression to CKD. Patient survival was significantly lower in OLTx recipients who received DCD or DBD organs and required perioperative RRT in multivariate analysis (HR = 7.90; 95% CI: 4.51-13.83; $P < 0.001$ )

GFR: Glomerular filtration rate; RR: Relative risk; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; mGFR: Measured glomerular filtration rate; BSA: Body surface area; ESKD: End stage kidney disease; CI: Confidence interval; AKI: Acute kidney injury; BMI: Body mass index; RRT: Renal replacement therapy; ESRD: End stage renal disease; Cr: Creatinine; CRF: Chronic renal failure; CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio; OLTx: Orthotopic liver transplant; CMV:

Cytomegalovirus; HR: Hazard ratio; aOR: Adjusted odds ratio; DCD: Donation after circulatory death; DBD: Donation after brain death; LDLT: Living donor liver transplantation; DCDLT: Donation after circulatory death liver transplantation; RIFLE: Risk, Injury, Failure, Loss of kidney function and Endstage kidney disease

> following: 45% at year 1, 71% at year 5 and 83% at year 10. In their multivariable logistic regression model for decrease in eGFR to  $< 45 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$  at 3 years, they found the following significant risk factors: Post-operative RRT for AKI, P < 0.001; pre-transplant diabetes (P = 0.005); increasing recipient age, (P < 0.001); female recipient (P = 0.029) and female donor (P = 0.04). Interestingly cyclosporine regimen was not significantly associated with CKD development progression. In their analysis of the Planning and Research Cooperative database, which included 141 OHTs, Wyatt and Arons[31] observed that postoperative AKI, especially that requiring RRT, was associated with increased mortality (aOR = 8.96, 95%CI: 1.75-45.80, P = 0.008).

> As previously described, progressive CKD is common after heart transplantation. Similar to other NKSOT, perioperative/early AKI incites CKD and increased mortality. Modifiable risk factors exist in addition to those inherent to heart failure and subsequent transplantation. Though studies have mixed results, recipient age (as modified by selection/organ allocation), pre-transplant diabetes, as well as elevated CNI levels are potentially modifiable. Moreover, several of the risk factors described by Boyle *et al*[14] such as low pre-transplant albumin, lower preoperative hematocrit are perhaps biomarkers of frailty, malnutrition and may suggest a role for "pre-habilitation" to bolster nutrition, frailty, anemia preoperatively in hopes of abating AKI and future adverse renal and patient outcomes in heart transplantation. These studies are abridged in Table 3.

# KIDNEY DISEASE AFTER LUNG TRANSPLANTATION

Lung transplantation shares many parallels with heart transplantation in terms of kidney disease. For one, end stage lung disease is a debilitating, profound state of illness rendering GFR estimations difficult due to the toll chronic lung disease exerts. As described previously, characteristics inherent to thoracic transplantation predispose lung transplant recipients to AKI[3]. Below are studies chronicling kidney disease after lung transplantation.

In their examination of SRTR, Ojo et al[2] observed a 2.9% incidence of CKD IV/V at 12 mo and 15.8% incidence of GFR < 30 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> at 5 years post lung transplant. Rocha et al [41] examined 296 lung transplant recipients whereby they observed an overall AKI rate of 56% (n = 166). 8% of those with AKI required RRT (n = 23). AKI predictors included the following in multivariate analysis: Baseline GFR (OR = 0.98, 95% CI: 0.96-0.99, P = 0.012), pulmonary diagnosis other than chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (OR = 6.80, 95% CI: 1.5-30.89, P = 0.013), mechanical ventilation > 1 d (OR = 6.16, 95% CI: 1.70-22.24, P = 0.006) and parenteral amphotericin B use (OR = 3.04, 95%CI: 1.03-8.98, P = 0.045). Patient survival was significantly impacted both by AKI and AKI requiring RRT with one-year patient survival of 92.3%, 81.8% and 21.7% in the no AKI, AKI sans RRT and AKI requiring RRT subgroups, respectively (*P* < 0.0001). This relationship was observed at 5 (61%, 58% and 13%) and 10 years (59%, 55% and 13%) as well. Single lung transplant (HR = 1.78, 95% CI: 1.24-2.55, P = 0.0018) and AKI requiring RRT (HR = 6.77, 95% CI: 4.00-11.44, P < 0.0001) were independent variables associated with increased mortality in multivariate Cox proportional-hazards regression. In their prospective trial examining mGFRs in lung transplant recipients, Broekroelofs et al[42] identified an association between pulmonary diagnosis and GFR loss. A nearly 50% decrease in mGFR at 36 mo post transplantation (100 mL/min pre-transplant vs 51 mL/min at 36 mo post-transplant) was observed in lung transplant recipients. The highest median loss of GFR occurred in cystic fibrosis (CF) recipients (-10 mL/min/year, range -14 to -6 mL/min/year), compared to those who were transplanted for emphysema (-6 mL/min/year, range -27 to +12 mL/min/year) and pulmonary hypertension (-1 mL/min/year, range -6 to +7 mL/min/year). This is a relatively consistent finding as described in other studies with CF lung transplant recipients having more severe kidney complications than lung transplant recipients with lung failure from pulmonary hypertension[34,43].

Mason et al[44] retrospectively reviewed their 425 lung transplant recipients to describe dialysis after transplantation. In examining need for dialysis, they determined a prevalence 0.6%, 4%, 9%, 13%, 16% and 19%, at 30 d and 1, 3, 5, 7 and 9 years post-transplant. Significant risk factors associated with dialysis were the following: Lower creatinine clearance (P = 0.03) and greater recipient height (P =0.0002). Notably, donor blood type O (P = 0.001) and head trauma as donor cause of death (P = 0.01) decreased risk for dialysis need. Mortality risk after ESRD was 100%, 17% and 3.1% per year at 3 mo, 1 year and 3 years, respectively. Median survival after starting dialysis was 5 mo. In their single center retrospective study, Canales et al[45] examined 186 lung transplant recipients (plus 33 heart-lung transplant recipients), looking for predictors of time to doubling SCr and ESKD. A major takeaway observed from their trial was the prevalence of CKD, particularly advanced CKD at 1 and 7 years compared to the NHANES III cohort. At 1 and 7 years, the prevalence of CKD IV (81 and 95 times) and



#### Table 3 Kidney disease after heart

Ref.	Total number of patients, <i>n</i>	Risk factors associated with kidney disease	Study conclusion
Ojo et al[ <mark>2</mark> ]	24024	Systemic atherosclerosis, renal hypoperfusion from cardiorenal disease	Perioperative acute renal failure rate of 20%-30% of heart transplant recipients with a 10.9% CKD IV/V rate at 60 mo post-transplant
Cantarovich <i>et al</i> [39]	233	30% in CrCl between 1 mo and 3 mo independently predicted the need for chronic dialysis ( $P = 0.04$ ) and time to first CrCl < 30 mL/min at > 1 yr after transplant ( $P = 0.01$ )	Early renal dysfunction predicts poor long term kidney outcomes
Rubel <i>et al</i> [40]	370	Multivariate analysis: GFR < 50 mL/min (HR = 3.69, $P$ = 0.024); high mean cyclosporine trough in the first 6 mo (HR = 5.10, $P$ = 0.0059); and presence of diabetes (HR = 3.53, $P$ = 0.021)	Mean eGFR fell 24% at year one, 23% of patients developed a 50% reduction in GFR by year 3, and that 20% of the cohort developed ESRD at 10 yr post- transplant
Lindelöw <i>et al</i> [37]	151	Age	The average preoperative GFR of 66 ± 17 mL/min per 1.73 m <sup>2</sup> declined to 52 ± 19 ( $P < 0.0001$ ) at 1 yr. From 2 yr to 9 yr after heart transplantation, overall kidney function remained fairly stable (all $P > 0.05$ )
Boyle <i>et al</i> [14]	756	Insulin dependent diabetes ( $P = 0.019$ ) and prior cardiac surgery ( $P = 0.014$ )	AKI rate of 5.8% (44 of 756); they observed a 50% (22/44) mortality rate in OHTs with AKI requiring dialysis compared to those who did not have AKI (1.4%, 10/712)
Hamour <i>et al</i> [8]	352	Post-operative RRT for AKI, $P < 0.001$ ; pretransplant diabetes ( $P = 0.005$ ); increasing recipient age, ( $P < 0.001$ ); female recipient, ( $P = 0.029$ ) and female donor ( $P = 0.04$ ) associated for progression to eGFR < 45. CSA not associated	Cumulative probability of eGFR < 45 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> over time was the following: 45% at year 1, 71% at year 5 and 83% at year 10
Wyatt and Arons <mark>[31</mark> ]	141		Postoperative AKI, especially that requiring RRT, was associated with increased mortality (aOR = $8.96$ , $95\%$ CI: 1.75-45.80, $P = 0.008$ )

CKD: Chronic kidney disease; CrCl: Creatinine clearance; GFR: Glomerular filtration rate; HR: Hazard ratio; eGFR: Estimated glomerular filtration rate; ESRD: End stage renal disease; AKI: Acute kidney injury; OHT: Orthotopic heart transplant; RRT: Renal replacement therapy; CSA: Cyclosporine; CI: Confidence interval; aOR: Adjusted odds ratio.

> V (10 and 20 times) were substantially higher in the lung, heart-lung transplant recipients than the general population as described by NHANES III. In their multivariate step model, older age, lower 1 mo GFR and CSA use in the first 6 mo were associated with faster doubling of SCr (all P < 0.05). AKI episodes (RR = 1.6, 95% CI: 1.2-2.0, *P* < 0.001), and older age at transplant (RR = 1.02, 95% CI: 1.008-1.04), P = 0.004) were significant predictors of death. Ishani *et al*[9] in their study of lung, heart-lung transplant recipients found that diastolic blood pressure greater than 90 mmHg (RR = 1.30, 95% CI: 1.05-1.60, P = 0.02), 1 mo post-transplant creatinine (RR = 1.28, 95%CI: 1.02-1.70, P = 0.03) were associated with increased risk to time to doubling baseline SCr. Cause of lung failure, age at transplant, nor rejection were significantly associated. Tacrolimus use in the first 6 mo after transplant was associated with a decreased in the risk for doubling time of SCr (RR = 0.38, 95% CI: 0.19-0.79, P = 0.0009). Paradela de la Morena et al[46] retrospectively evaluated 161 lung transplant recipients at their center. They found that 68.6% of the cohort developed CKD. On multivariate analysis, older age (OR = 2.0; P < 0.001) and CMV infection (OR = 2.2; P = 0.045) were associated with CKD development. CKD at 1 year was associated with increased mortality compared to those without CKD (P = 0.001).

> Kidney disease, both in terms of AKI and CKD, is common in lung transplant recipients. There appear to be certain risk factors associated with CKD development, namely lower pre- and early posttransplant creatinine, AKI, end stage lung disease from CF, and older recipient age. There appears to be a subset of lung transplant recipients at higher risk for progressive CKD. Early transplant nephrology referral may be of benefit for these patients. Despite CKD commonly manifesting post-lung transplant, modifiable/preventable risk factors including diastolic blood pressure and CMV infection are potential targets in terms of blood pressure optimization and prophylaxis strategies to mitigate CKD development. In summary, early multidisciplinary care and co-management from transplant pulmonology and nephrology is vital for appropriate patient selection and continued management of kidney disease in lung transplant recipients. These studies are summarized in Table 4.

# KIDNEY DISEASE AFTER INTESTINAL TRANSPLANTATION

Kidney disease after IT is understudied due to the rarity of IT. As described in OPTN/SRTR annual report, 104 ITs were performed in 2018[47]. We will highlight pertinent studies in the field of intestinal



Table 4 Kidney disease after lung				
Ref.	Total number of patients, <i>n</i>	Risk factors associated with kidney disease	Study conclusion	
Ojo et al[ <mark>2</mark> ]	7644		2.9% incidence of CKD IV/V at 12 mo and 15.8% incidence of GFR $<30$ mL/min/1.73 m^2 at 5 yr post lung transplant	
Rocha et al[41]	296	AKI: Baseline GFR (OR = 0.98, 95%CI: 0.96-0.99, <i>P</i> = 0.012), pulmonary diagnosis other than COPD (OR = 6.80, 95%CI: 1.5-30.89, <i>P</i> = 0.013), mechanical ventilation > 1 d (OR = 6.16, 95%CI: 1.70-22.24, <i>P</i> = 0.006) and parenteral amphotericin B use (OR = 3.04, 95%CI: 1.03-8.98, <i>P</i> = 0.045)	AKI rate of 56% ( $n = 166$ ). Patient survival by AKI and AKI requiring RRT with one-year survival no AKI = 92.3%, AKI w/o RRT = 81.8% and AKI w/RRT 21.7% ( $P < 0.0001$ ). At 5 (61%, 58% and 13%) and 10 yr (59%, 55% and 13%). Single lung transplant (HR = 1.78, 95% CI: 1.24-2.55, $P = 0.0018$ ) and AKI requiring RRT (HR = 6.77, 95% CI: 4.00-11.44, $P < 0.0001$ ) associated with mortality	
Broekroelofs <i>et al</i> [42]	57	Highest median GFR in the CF recipients (-10 mL/min/year, range -14 to -6 mL/min/year), compared to those w/emphysema (-6 mL/min/year, range -27 to +12 mL/min/year) and pHTN (-1 mL/min/year, range -6 to +7 mL/min/year)	Nearly 50% decrease in mGFR at 36 mo post transplantation (100 mL/min pre-transplant $vs$ 51 mL/min at 36 mo post-transplant)	
Mason et al[44]	425	Lower creatinine clearance ( $P = 0.03$ ) and greater recipient height ( $P = 0.0002$ )	HD prevalence = 0.6%, 4%, 9%, 13%, 16% and 19%, at 30 d and 1, 3, 5, 7 and 9 yr post-transplant. Mortality risk after ESRD was 100%, 17% and 3.1% per year at 3 mo, 1 yr and 3 yr, respectively. In other words, median survival after starting dialysis was 5 mo	
Canales <i>et al</i> [45]	186	Older age, lower 1 mo GFR and CSA use in the first 6 mo were associated with faster doubling of serum creatinine (all $P < 0.05$ )	At 1 and 7 yr, the prevalence of CKD IV (81 and 95 times) and V (10 and 20 times) were substantially higher in the lung, heart-lung transplant recipients than the general population as described by NHANES III; AKI episodes (RR = 1.6, 95% CI: 1.2-2.0, $P < 0.001$ ), and older age at transplant (RR = 1.02, 95% CI: 1.008-1.04), $P = 0.004$ ) were significant predictors of death	
Ishani <i>et al</i> <b>[9]</b>	186	DBP than 90 mmHg (RR = 1.30, 95%CI: 1.05-1.60, $P$ = 0.02), 1 mo post-transplant Cr (RR = 1.28, 95%CI: 1.02-1.70, $P$ =0.03) were associated with increased risk to time to doubling baseline SCr	Cause of lung failure, age at transplant, nor rejection were significantly associated with doubling of Cr. Tacrolimus use in the first 6 mo after transplant was associated with a decreased in the risk for doubling time of SCr (RR = $0.38, 95\%$ CI: $0.19-0.79, P = 0.0009$ )	
Paradela de la Morena <i>et al</i> [ <mark>46</mark> ]	161	Older age (OR = 2.0; <i>P</i> < 0.001) and CMV infection (OR = 2.2; <i>P</i> = 0.045)	68.6% of the cohort developed CKD; CKD at 1 yr was associated with increased mortality compared to those without CKD ( $P = 0.001$ )	

CKD: Chronic kidney disease; GFR: Glomerular filtration rate; Cr: Creatinine; COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio; AKI: Acute kidney injury; RRT: Renal replacement therapy; HR: Hazard ratio; CF: Cystic fibrosis; pHTN: Portal hypertension; mGFR: Measured glomerular filtration rate; ESRD: End stage renal disease; CSA: Cyclosporine; AKI: Acute kidney injury; RR: Relative risk; CI: Confidence interval; DBP: Diastolic blood pressure; SCr: Serum creatinine; CMV: Cytomegalovirus.

> transplantation discussing kidney disease. Huard et al[48] in their evaluation of SRTR data of 843 IT recipients, assessed incidence, risk factors, and impact on survival of severe CKD, which they defined as GFR < 30 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> in IT recipients. They observed a cumulative incidence of severe CKD of 3.2%, 25.1%, and 54.1% 1, 5 and 10 years after IT, respectively. Female sex (HR = 1.34), older age (HR = 1.38/10 year increment), catheter-related sepsis (HR = 1.58), steroid maintenance immunosuppression (HR = 1.50), graft failure (HR = 1.76), acute cellular rejection (HR = 1.64), prolonged requirement for IV fluids (HR = 2.12) or total parenteral nutrition (HR = 1.94), and diabetes (HR = 1.54) were associated with severe CKD. Individuals with higher GFR at the time of IT (HR = 0.92 for each 10 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> increment), and those receiving induction therapies (HR = 0.47) or tacrolimus (HR = 0.52) showed lower hazards of severe CKD. In adjusted analysis, severe CKD was associated with a significantly higher hazard of death (HR = 6.20). Herlenius et al[28] studied 10 patients after IT via serial measurements of GFR. They performed measurements at baseline, 3 mo post transplantation, and yearly thereafter. Median follow-up time for the cohort was 1.5 years (0.5-7.8 years). Tacrolimus was discontinued in four patients because of impaired renal function. These four patients were switched to sirolimus at 11, 18, 24, and 40 mo post transplantation. Median baseline GFR was 67 (22-114) mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> (22-114). In the adult patients, GFR 3 mo post transplantation had decreased to 50% of the baseline. At 1 year, median GFR in the adult patients was reduced by 72% (n = 5). Two patients developed renal failure within the first year and required hemodialysis. Notably, eGFR via MDRD formula consistently overestimated GFR by approximately 30% compared with the mGFR. Ueno et al[49] examined 24 adult IT recipients with at least 2 years survival in the tacrolimus-based era. They measured kidney function via 6 mo averages of SCr along with calculating creatinine clearance per the Cockcroft-Gault formula. Post-transplant mean CrCl was significantly lower at 2 years compared to baseline (49.6 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> vs 114 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, P < 0.0001). The authors also evaluated the role of tacrolimus by cumulative level, which they defined as the sum of weekly average tacrolimus levels (ng·day/mL). They found that



recipients with cumulative tacrolimus levels > 4500 ng ng day/mL had significantly decreased CrCl at 2 years compared to those with cumulative tacrolimus levels less than 4500 ng ng·day/mL (P = 0.006).

Kidney disease after IT is understudied. Even so, there are key takeaways that can be derived from the data to date. In this moribund population, perhaps mGFR and/or cystatin C could be used adjunctively with typical estimating equations to better characterize kidney function and guide nephrology referral/management. One can surmise that a subset of patients *i.e.*, older, diabetic IT recipients, with persistent IV fluid needs could benefit from early transplant nephrology care. These results are described in Table 5.

## DIAGNOSIS AND MANAGEMENT OF CKD POST NON-KIDNEY SOT

Uncertainty regarding kidney function is an overarching theme surrounding kidney disease in NKSOT. While mGFR would be the ideal, most accurate/precise test of function, it is impractical, expensive, and not widely available. As previously described, CKD-EPI and MDRD in some contexts appear to be acceptable eGFR equations that can aid in screening for and diagnosis of CKD. Bloom et al[3] endorse using MDRD, acknowledging that it is conservative *i.e.*, would be sensitive in that it has better capture of SOT recipients with permissible false-positivity. As with any test, patient selection is of utmost importance, in both a macro and micro sense *i.e.*, a test primarily based on clearance of a muscle waste product will be flawed in those with significant malnutrition, sarcopenia.

Nephrologists are aptly suited to manage kidney disease in NKSOT as the modifiable risk factors leading to progressive CKD are shared across SOT recipients and the general public alike. As is well described in Bloom et al's seminal work, CKD management after NKSOT is founded on the same tenets of CKD management generally<sup>[3]</sup>. Fundamentally, CKD after NKSOT is CKD management + CNI considerations. In other words, the same diseases processes that effect native kidney function remain relevant after SOT. The literature/guidelines describing CKD management are well described and summarizing them is beyond the scope of this review [1,12,50]. The impact of therapies and management strategies for risk factors leading to CKD in NKSOT is understudied. In the following sections, we will highlight salient points on CKD management.

#### Proteinuria

Renin angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS) blockade for proteinuria management in transplant recipients is extrapolated from the non-transplant CKD literature with limited direct evidence. Most research in this domain has occurred in kidney transplant. Knoll et al<sup>[51]</sup> attempted to answer this question in the context of kidney transplant with a randomized controlled trial. However, as is aptly put by Toto[52] in his comment from Nature Reviews Nephrology, this study did not "settle the controversy surrounding the use of RAAS blockade in the renal transplant population". Though proteinuria management in non-kidney SOT is understudied, RAAS blockade appears to be a reasonable approach not only for treating proteinuria, but also for those with significant risk factors for heart disease given their cardioprotective benefit[53,54].

#### CNI use/minimization strategies

With CNIs as possible potentiators of CKD, CNI-sparing/minimizing maintenance immunosuppression regimens have been proposed as a renoprotective management strategy. There is a large body of evidence examining CNI minimization in NKSOT, which we will discuss below. With the advent of tacrolimus and results of ELITE-SYMPHONY, tacrolimus has ousted cyclosporine CNI-wise, as tacrolimus appears to have a less nephrotoxic profile[55]. Mechanistically, this may be due to less renal vasoconstriction as has been demonstrated in both in vivo and in vitro studies [3,56,57]. Pancreas transplant wise, limited evidence exists supporting CNI minimization or sparing. While Kandula et al [58] compared tacrolimus-sirolimus based regimen to tacrolimus-mycophenolate immunosuppression in PTA recipients, mean tacrolimus levels were similar across groups at all time points.

In the context of liver transplantation, there is an expansive body of literature supporting the use of CNI-sparing or minimization therapy with sirolimus and mycophenolate [59-64]. For heart transplant recipients, CNI minimization/sparing has been shown as a viable immunosuppression approach. Cornu et al[65] in their systematic review and meta-analysis of eight studies on CNI minimization showed that creatinine clearance was preserved in individuals with impaired renal function, which they defined as eGFR < 60 mL/min, at 6 mo [+12.23 (+5.26, +18.82) mL·min<sup>-1</sup>, P = 0.0003). Although longer term benefit was not shown in this study, CNI minimization strategies were not associated with increased rejection, mortality or adverse events compared to the standard CNI regimen approach (all P > 0.05). As is apply described by Zuckermann et al[66], the use of induction in OHT recipients has "provided immunosuppressive cover" to allow for the following approaches: CNI minimization and delayed CNI introduction whilst kidney function is recovering post- heart transplantation[66-70].

In lung transplant recipients, evidence exists supporting the use of CNI sparing/minimization regimens. Högerle et al<sup>[71]</sup> in their recent review describe a following approaches including basiliximab induction, which showed favorable short term renal outcomes. They also noted CNI minimization



Table 5 Kidney disease after intestinal				
Ref.	Total number of patients, <i>n</i>	Risk factors associated with kidney disease	Study conclusion	
Huard et al [48]	843	Female sex (HR = 1.34), older age (HR = $1.38/10$ yr increment), catheter-related sepsis (HR = $1.58$ ), steroid maintenance immunosuppression (HR = $1.50$ ), graft failure (HR = $1.76$ ), ACR (HR = $1.64$ ), prolonged requirement for IV fluids (HR = $2.12$ ) or TPN (HR = $1.94$ ), and diabetes (HR = $1.54$ )	Cumulative incidence of severe CKD of 3.2%, 25.1%, and 54.1% 1, 5 and 10 yr after intestinal transplant; in adjusted analysis, severe CKD was associated with a significantly higher hazard of death (HR = 6.20)	
Herlenius <i>et al</i> [76]	10		In the adult patients, GFR 3 mo post transplantation had decreased to 50% of the baseline. At 1 yr, median GFR in the adult patients was reduced by 72% ( $n = 5$ ). Two patients developed renal failure within the first year and required hemodialysis	
Ueno <i>et al</i> [49]	24	Cumulative tacrolimus levels > 4500ng ng·day/mL associated with significantly decreased creatinine clearance at 2 yr ( $P$ = 0.006)	Post-transplant mean creatinine clearance was significantly lower at 2 yr compared to baseline (49.6 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> $vs$ 114 mL/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> , $P < 0.0001$ )	

HR: Hazard ratio; ACR: Acute cellular rejection; TPN: Total parenteral nutrition; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; GFR: Glomerular filtration rate.

approaches with tacrolimus/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor combinations which showed improved renal function with comparable allograft/patient survival. Notably, mTOR use was associated with increased wound complications, proteinuria, hypertension, post-transplant diabetes and dyslipidemia. They also highlighted CNI minimization approaches with mTOR use instead of antimetabolite immunosuppression. Strueber et al[72] examined 190 lung transplant recipients randomized to everolimus or mycophenolate mofetil 1 mo post-transplant. Though results limited due to lack of completion of the study protocol, rejection and infectious complications were lower in the everolimus group of whom 20%-28% of recipients were also on reduced CNI doses. In a 3-year multicenter randomized prospective study, Glanville et al [73] did not show significant differences in creatinine at 3 years comparing lung transplant recipients on mycophenolate sodium vs everolimus. While the authors stated that they utilized reduced 2-h post-dose CSA levels in the everolimus group and that "most levels measured were within pre-specified target ranges", granular data describing CNI levels in these cohorts is lacking. Further in support of CNI minimization/sparing is a study by Stephany et al[74], who observed improved GFR durable out to 18 mo for lung transplant recipients converted to sirolimusbased immunosuppression, with the greatest benefit incurred to lung transplant recipients without proteinuria.

In IT recipients, the benefit of CNI minimization/sparing strategies appears to be limited in terms of preserving renal function. Rutter *et al*[75] in their single center study demonstrated significant decline in renal function irrespective of tacrolimus exposure. Herlenius *et al*[76], in their study of 10 IT recipients, noted that 4 patients were switched from CNI to sirolimus based regimen. Of these, one developed renal failure leading to hemodialysis, one died due to hemorrhage with CKD IV at the time of death, and the other 2 had "stable GFR" at 2 and 3 years post conversion without developing rejection or intestinal allograft failure. Based on the initial successes of the BENEFIT and BENEFIT-EXT trials comparing belatacept to cyclosporine in kidney transplant recipients, belatacept in lieu of CNI or with CNI minimization has been proposed as a novel immunosuppression strategy for NKSOT[77,78]. There is mounting research describing CNI-minimizing or sparing approaches using belatacept in OHT recipients[79], lung transplant recipients[80], and PTA recipients[81,82]. More robust studies *e.g.,* randomized control trials with longer follow-up are needed to better understand outcomes related to belatacept in NKSOT as these early studies are limited in design (case-series, retrospective studies) and follow up.

An important caveat to belatacept use is that of liver transplantation. As demonstrated by Klintmalm *et al*[83] in their phase II trial and Schwarz *et al*[84], concerns exist regarding allograft function and safety with belatacept. Though results from a study conducted by LaMattina *et al*[85] were more favorable, these are limited due to small numbers as well as the patients being converted back to a CNI-based regimen. Thus, belatacept use in liver transplantation is at most controversial. Additional studies sufficiently powered are needed to determine efficacy and safety of belatacept in liver transplant recipients.

Approaches to minimize CNI use *via* induction/maintenance immunosuppression appear promising in terms of preserving renal function. While these often incur adverse effects related to specific therapies *e.g.*, mTOR inhibitors, in several instances, they have not lead to decreased allograft or patient survival. Appropriate, sufficient CNI minimizing immunosuppression tailored to preserve renal function while also staving off rejection is achievable *via* multidisciplinary collaboration and dialogue between transplant experts across nonrenal organ systems and transplant nephrology.
#### Hypoalbuminemia

Low serum albumin appears to impact kidney function in NKSOT recipients. As described in their review, Kim et al[86] note that hypoalbuminemia may indicate poor nutritional state, impact pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics, and/or represent an increased inflammatory state. As a relatively inexpensive, trackable biomarker, perhaps albumin and a goal albumin e.g., greater than 3.0 g/dL could be a pre-transplant goal for the multi-disciplinary team including nutritionist/dieticians to help patients with pre-transplant CKD with high risk for progression.

#### Nephrology referral/management considerations

The integration of nephrology care into dedicated NKSOT care throughout various stages of pre-, peri-, and post-transplantation is critical for diagnosis and management of kidney disease. Wiseman[12], in his recent review, provides substantive recommendations on timing/appropriateness of nephrology referral, based on KDIGO guidelines, and management considerations across transplant timepoints in tabular form. As has been described throughout this study, SOT recipients are a unique subset of patients with CKD that often progresses to ESKD necessitating RRT. This has led to the growing demand for kidney transplantation (KT) after solid organ transplantation which will be discussed subsequently.

#### KIDNEY AFTER SOLID ORGAN TRANSPLANTATION

Kidney after NKSOT is an emerging RRT for the SOT community[87]. Though this is a relatively comorbid population, they have: (1) Overcome perioperative risks associated organ transplantation; and (2) Tolerated prior induction/maintenance immunosuppression. For patients deemed candidates, KT is a viable therapy for advanced kidney disease after solid organ transplantation. Cassuto et al[88], in their study examining the survival benefit of KT for kidney after heart (KAH), kidney after lung (KALu), and kidney after liver (KALi) in addition to repeat KT recipients. While they observed a survival benefit for kidney after SOT compared to the waitlist population as whole for prior heart, liver recipients, this was not the case for KALu recipients who had a 61% greater risk of death vs those on the waitlist for KT generally (HR = 1.61, 95% CI: 1.09-2.38, P = 0.017)[86]. El-Husseini *et al*[89] examined outcomes in their 15 year analysis of national data from the United Network of Organ Sharing (UNOS) database whereby they showed inferior median graft survival (7.8 years, 95%CI: 7.3-8.2) and patient survival (8.3 years, 95%CI: 7.9-8.3) compared to primary kidney (graft survival 10.7, 95%CI: 10.6-10.8; patient survival 12.2, 95%CI: 12.1-12.3) and repeat kidney (graft survival 10.5, 95%CI: 10.2-10.7; patient survival 13.2 years, 95% CI: 12.9-13.5) (P < 0.001). In subgroup analysis, the graft and patient median survival time and 1, 5, and 10 year survival rates for KALi, KAH, and KALu were comparable. After adjustment, KALu transplant was associated with increased risk of graft loss compared to primary KT (HR = 2.123, 95%CI: 1.516-2.974, *P* < 0.001) and increased risk of death (HR = 3.309, 95% CI: 2.395-4.572, *P* < 0.001) compared to the other kidney after SOT subgroups[87]. Lonze et al[90] looked at outcomes in KAH or KALu transplant recipients reported to UNOS and found that 5-year graft survival however was lower than for primary KT recipients (61% KAH vs 73.8% primary kidney, P < 0.001; 62.6% KALu vs 82.9% primary kidney, P < 0.001). Notably, death-censored graft survival (DCGS) was comparable to primary kidney transplant (84.9% KAH vs 88.2% primary kidney, P = 0.1; 87.6% KALu vs 91.8% primary kidney, P = 0.6). Moreover, renal transplantation incurred a survival benefit compared to dialysis after heart transplantation (HR = 0.57, 95% CI: 0.45-0.74, *P* < 0.001) and lung transplantation (HR = 0.46, 95% CI: 0.30-0.71, *P* < 0.001). Haugen *et al*[91] sought to answer if the survival benefit of kidney after non-kidney SOT extended to older recipients (≥ 65 years of age). In their analysis of the SRTR, they found that while DCGS was comparable to older kidney transplant recipients [adjusted HR (aHR) = 1.13, 95% CI: 0.93-1.37, P = 0.2], mortality was increased (aHR = 1.40, 95%CI: 1.28-1.54, P < 0.001). KT relative to no transplant lead to a survival benefit for NKSOT recipients (aHR = 0.47, 95%CI: 0.42-0.54, P < 0.001).

#### DISCUSSION

In this review, we abridged current literature describing kidney disease in NKSOT describing kidney disease in pancreas, heart, lung, liver, and IT recipients. We also discussed diagnosis, management and described the emerging RRT of kidney after NKSOT. Kidney disease after NKSOT is not one size fits all; although shared risk factors inherent to solid organ failure and the perioperative period exist, these are heterogeneous populations that experience AKI and CKD at varying degrees and rates. Chronic renal dysfunction after SOT is a nascent area of study due to prolonged survival after NKSOT being a relatively recent development in the field. More questions than answers persist on crucial management aspects: At what level of kidney impairment should we consider combined kidney-nonrenal SOT? What is the role of mGFR? Kidney biopsy? Cystatin C? Should the degree of kidney impairment influence maintenance immunosuppression *i.e.*, CNI use? What is the best way to manage proteinuria in this



population? Are their roles for novel biomarkers for predicting AKI recovery or CKD progression? Ought sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors be used in this population?

The allocation dilemma weighs heavier in the broader context of the entire waitlist. Decisions regarding kidney after solid organ transplantation or even combined kidney-SOT with the knowledge that maximization of a limited resource, based on years of survival gained from KT, is not in this population presents serious ethical challenges in terms of justice, defying a utilitarian approach. Clinicians and researchers alike spanning multiple disciplines including physician-scientists, primary care providers, general nephrologists, transplant surgeons, non-kidney transplant specialists, as well as transplant nephrologists are tasked and capable of ushering in a new era of kidney disease prevention, diagnosis, management, preservation of kidney function, and when possible subsequent KT. With these efforts promoting robust, well-designed, multi-center prospective randomized controlled trials, hope exists towards deciphering the ever-present ambiguities surrounding kidney disease in non-renal organ transplantation and improving future patient, kidney, and allograft outcomes.

#### CONCLUSION

Kidney disease after SOT is an incipient condition demanding further inquiry. While some truths have been revealed about this chronic disease, as we have aimed to describe in this review, continued multidisciplinary efforts are needed more than ever to combat this threat to patient and allograft survival.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Swanson KJ contributed to the concept/design, article drafting, critical revision of article and approval of article.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The author reports no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Kurtis J Swanson 0000-0001-5952-9054.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Stevens PE, Levin A; Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Chronic Kidney Disease Guideline Development Work Group Members. Evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease: synopsis of the kidney disease: improving global outcomes 2012 clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med 2013; 158: 825-830 [PMID: 23732715 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-11-201306040-00007]
- 2 Ojo AO, Held PJ, Port FK, Wolfe RA, Leichtman AB, Young EW, Arndorfer J, Christensen L, Merion RM. Chronic renal failure after transplantation of a nonrenal organ. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 931-940 [PMID: 12954741 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa021744
- 3 Bloom RD, Reese PP. Chronic kidney disease after nonrenal solid-organ transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 2007; 18: 3031-3041 [PMID: 18039925 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2007040394]
- 4 Clajus C, Hanke N, Gottlieb J, Stadler M, Weismüller TJ, Strassburg CP, Bröcker V, Bara C, Lehner F, Drube J, Kielstein JT, Schwarz A, Gueler F, Haller H, Schiffer M. Renal comorbidity after solid organ and stem cell transplantation. Am J Transplant 2012; 12: 1691-1699 [PMID: 22676355 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04047.x]
- 5 Shaffi K, Uhlig K, Perrone RD, Ruthazer R, Rule A, Lieske JC, Navis G, Poggio ED, Inker LA, Levey AS. Performance of creatinine-based GFR estimating equations in solid-organ transplant recipients. Am J Kidney Dis 2014; 63: 1007-1018 [PMID: 24703720 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.01.436]
- Kim SJ, Smail N, Paraskevas S, Schiff J, Cantarovich M. Kidney function before pancreas transplant alone predicts 6 subsequent risk of end-stage renal disease. Transplantation 2014; 97: 675-680 [PMID: 24637866 DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000437556.87109.45]



- 7 Gonwa TA, Jennings L, Mai ML, Stark PC, Levey AS, Klintmalm GB. Estimation of glomerular filtration rates before and after orthotopic liver transplantation: evaluation of current equations. Liver Transpl 2004; 10: 301-309 [PMID: 14762871 DOI: 10.1002/Lt.20017]
- Hamour IM, Omar F, Lyster HS, Palmer A, Banner NR. Chronic kidney disease after heart transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2009; 24: 1655-1662 [PMID: 19168463 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfn759]
- 9 Ishani A, Erturk S, Hertz MI, Matas AJ, Savik K, Rosenberg ME. Predictors of renal function following lung or heart-lung transplantation. Kidney Int 2002; 61: 2228-2234 [PMID: 12028464 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00361.x]
- 10 Ojo AO. Renal disease in recipients of nonrenal solid organ transplantation. Semin Nephrol 2007; 27: 498-507 [PMID: 17616280 DOI: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2007.03.010]
- Kubal C, Cockwell P, Gunson B, Jesky M, Hanvesakul R, Dronavalli V, Bonser RS, Neil D. Chronic kidney disease after 11 nonrenal solid organ transplantation: a histological assessment and utility of chronic allograft damage index scoring. Transplantation 2012; 93: 406-411 [PMID: 22217532 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e318240e984]
- 12 Wiseman AC. CKD in Recipients of Nonkidney Solid Organ Transplants: A Review. Am J Kidney Dis 2022; 80: 108-118 [PMID: 34979161 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2021.10.014]
- 13 Schwarz A, Haller H, Schmitt R, Schiffer M, Koenecke C, Strassburg C, Lehner F, Gottlieb J, Bara C, Becker JU, Broecker V. Biopsy-diagnosed renal disease in patients after transplantation of other organs and tissues. Am J Transplant 2010; **10**: 2017-2025 [PMID: 20883535 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03224.x]
- Boyle JM, Moualla S, Arrigain S, Worley S, Bakri MH, Starling RC, Heyka R, Thakar CV. Risks and outcomes of acute 14 kidney injury requiring dialysis after cardiac transplantation. Am J Kidney Dis 2006; 48: 787-796 [PMID: 17059998 DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2006.08.002]
- 15 Bloom RD, Doyle AM. Kidney disease after heart and lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 2006; 6: 671-679 [PMID: 16539623 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01248.x]
- Fioretto P, Steffes MW, Sutherland DE, Goetz FC, Mauer M. Reversal of lesions of diabetic nephropathy after pancreas 16 transplantation. N Engl J Med 1998; 339: 69-75 [PMID: 9654536 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199807093390202]
- Coppelli A, Giannarelli R, Vistoli F, Del Prato S, Rizzo G, Mosca F, Boggi U, Marchetti P. The beneficial effects of pancreas transplant alone on diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Care 2005; 28: 1366-1370 [PMID: 15920053 DOI: 10.2337/diacare.28.6.1366
- 18 Smail N, Paraskevas S, Tan X, Metrakos P, Cantarovich M. Renal function in recipients of pancreas transplant alone. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2012; 17: 73-79 [PMID: 22186098 DOI: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e32834f0145]
- Gruessner RW, Sutherland DE, Kandaswamy R, Gruessner AC. Over 500 solitary pancreas transplants in nonuremic 19 patients with brittle diabetes mellitus. Transplantation 2008; 85: 42-47 [PMID: 18192910 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000296820.46978.3f
- 20 Odorico JS, Voss B, Munoz Del Rio A, Leverson G, Becker YT, Pirsch JD, Hoffman RM, Sollinger HW. Kidney function after solitary pancreas transplantation. Transplant Proc 2008; 40: 513-515 [PMID: 18374117 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.01.038]
- Chatzizacharias NA, Vaidya A, Sinha S, Sharples E, Smith R, Jones G, Brockmann J, Friend PJ. Risk analysis for 21 deterioration of renal function after pancreas alone transplant. Clin Transplant 2012; 26: 387-392 [PMID: 21980989 DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-0012.2011.01534.x
- Marchetti P, Boggi U, Coppelli A, Giannarelli R, Vistoli F, Aragona M, Del Prato S, Mosca F. Pancreas transplant alone. 22 Transplant Proc 2004; 36: 569-570 [PMID: 15110596 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2004.02.032]
- Genzini T, Marchini GS, Chang AJ, Antunes I, Hayashi A, Abensur H, Kataoka L, Crescentini F, Romão JE Jr, Rangel EB, 23 Perosa M. Influence of pancreas transplantation alone on native renal function. Transplant Proc 2006; 38: 1939-1940 [PMID: 16908329 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.06.083]
- 24 Scalea JR, Butler CC, Munivenkatappa RB, Nogueira JM, Campos L, Haririan A, Barth RN, Philosophe B, Bartlett ST, Cooper M. Pancreas transplant alone as an independent risk factor for the development of renal failure: a retrospective study. Transplantation 2008; 86: 1789-1794 [PMID: 19104423 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181913fbf]
- 25 Kwong AJ, Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Schladt DP, Skeans MA, Noreen SM, Foutz J, Booker SE, Cafarella M, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2019 Annual Data Report: Liver. Am J Transplant 2021; 21 Suppl 2: 208-315 [PMID: 33595192 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16494]
- 26 O'Riordan A, Wong V, McCormick PA, Hegarty JE, Watson AJ. Chronic kidney disease post-liver transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006; 21: 2630-2636 [PMID: 16735393 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfl247]
- 27 Cohen AJ, Stegall MD, Rosen CB, Wiesner RH, Leung N, Kremers WK, Zein NN. Chronic renal dysfunction late after liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2002; 8: 916-921 [PMID: 12360433 DOI: 10.1053/jlts.2002.35668]
- 28 Herlenius G, Fistouris J, Olausson M, Felldin M, Bäckman L, Friman S. Early renal function post-liver transplantation is predictive of progressive chronic kidney disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 2008; 43: 344-349 [PMID: 18938662 DOI: 10.1080/00365520701679264
- Wilkinson A, Pham PT. Kidney dysfunction in the recipients of liver transplants. Liver Transpl 2005; S47-S51 [PMID: 29 16237714 DOI: 10.1002/lt.20618]
- Gonwa TA, Mai ML, Melton LB, Hays SR, Goldstein RM, Levy MF, Klintmalm GB. End-stage renal disease (ESRD) after orthotopic liver transplantation (OLTX) using calcineurin-based immunotherapy: risk of development and treatment. Transplantation 2001; 72: 1934-1939 [PMID: 11773892 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200112270-00012]
- 31 Wyatt CM, Arons RR. The burden of acute renal failure in nonrenal solid organ transplantation. Transplantation 2004; 78: 1351-1355 [PMID: 15548974 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000140848.05002.b8]
- 32 Bahirwani R, Forde KA, Mu Y, Lin F, Reese P, Goldberg D, Abt P, Reddy KR, Levine M. End-stage renal disease after liver transplantation in patients with pre-transplant chronic kidney disease. Clin Transplant 2014; 28: 205-210 [PMID: 24382253 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12298]
- Cabezuelo JB, Ramírez P, Ríos A, Acosta F, Torres D, Sansano T, Pons JA, Bru M, Montoya M, Bueno FS, Robles R, Parrilla P. Risk factors of acute renal failure after liver transplantation. Kidney Int 2006; 69: 1073-1080 [PMID: 16528257 DOI: 10.1038/sj.ki.5000216]



- 34 Pham PT, Slavov C, Pham PC. Acute kidney injury after liver, heart, and lung transplants: dialysis modality, predictors of renal function recovery, and impact on survival. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2009; 16: 256-267 [PMID: 19576556 DOI: 10.1053/j.ackd.2009.04.002]
- 35 Al Riyami D, Alam A, Badovinac K, Ivis F, Trpeski L, Cantarovich M. Decreased survival in liver transplant patients requiring chronic dialysis: a Canadian experience. Transplantation 2008; 85: 1277-1280 [PMID: 18475183 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31816c4e6b]
- Kollmann D, Neong SF, Rosales R, Hansen BE, Sapisochin G, McCluskey S, Bhat M, Cattral MS, Lilly L, McGilvray ID, 36 Ghanekar A, Grant DR, Selzner M, Wong FSH, Selzner N. Renal Dysfunction After Liver Transplantation: Effect of Donor Type. Liver Transpl 2020; 26: 799-810 [PMID: 32189415 DOI: 10.1002/lt.25755]
- 37 Lindelöw B, Bergh CH, Herlitz H, Waagstein F. Predictors and evolution of renal function during 9 years following heart transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 2000; 11: 951-957 [PMID: 10770975 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.V115951]
- House AA, Wanner C, Sarnak MJ, Piña IL, McIntyre CW, Komenda P, Kasiske BL, Deswal A, deFilippi CR, Cleland JGF, 38 Anker SD, Herzog CA, Cheung M, Wheeler DC, Winkelmayer WC, McCullough PA; Conference Participants. Heart failure in chronic kidney disease: conclusions from a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Controversies Conference. *Kidney Int* 2019; **95**: 1304-1317 [PMID: 31053387 DOI: 10.1016/j.kint.2019.02.022]
- 39 Cantarovich M, Hirsh A, Alam A, Giannetti N, Cecere R, Carroll P, Edwardes ME. The clinical impact of an early decline in kidney function in patients following heart transplantation. Am J Transplant 2009; 9: 348-354 [PMID: 19120080 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02490.x
- 40 Rubel JR, Milford EL, McKay DB, Jarcho JA. Renal insufficiency and end-stage renal disease in the heart transplant population. J Heart Lung Transplant 2004; 23: 289-300 [PMID: 15019638 DOI: 10.1016/S1053-2498(03)00191-8]
- Rocha PN, Rocha AT, Palmer SM, Davis RD, Smith SR. Acute renal failure after lung transplantation: incidence, 41 predictors and impact on perioperative morbidity and mortality. Am J Transplant 2005; 5: 1469-1476 [PMID: 15888056 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.00867.x]
- 42 Broekroelofs J, Navis GJ, Stegeman CA, van der Bij W, de Boer WJ, de Zeeuw D, de Jong PE. Long-term renal outcome after lung transplantation is predicted by the 1-month postoperative renal function loss. Transplantation 2000; 69: 1624-1628 [PMID: 10836372 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200004270-00017]
- 43 Navis G, Broekroelofs J, Mannes GP, van der Bij W, de Boer WJ, Tegzees AM, de Jong PE. Renal hemodynamics after lung transplantation. A prospective study. Transplantation 1996; 61: 1600-1605 [PMID: 8669104 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-199606150-00009
- Mason DP, Solovera-Rozas M, Feng J, Rajeswaran J, Thuita L, Murthy SC, Budev MM, Mehta AC, Haug M 3rd, McNeill AM, Pettersson GB, Blackstone EH. Dialysis after lung transplantation: prevalence, risk factors and outcome. J Heart Lung Transplant 2007; 26: 1155-1162 [PMID: 18022082 DOI: 10.1016/j.healun.2007.08.006]
- Canales M, Youssef P, Spong R, Ishani A, Savik K, Hertz M, Ibrahim HN. Predictors of chronic kidney disease in long-45 term survivors of lung and heart-lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 2006; 6: 2157-2163 [PMID: 16827787 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01458.x
- Paradela de la Morena M, De La Torre Bravos M, Prado RF, Roel MD, Salcedo JA, Costa EF, Rivas DG, Maté JM. 46 Chronic kidney disease after lung transplantation: incidence, risk factors, and treatment. Transplant Proc 2010; 42: 3217-3219 [PMID: 20970657 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2010.05.064]
- Smith JM, Weaver T, Skeans MA, Horslen SP, Miller E, Noreen SM, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 47 2018 Annual Data Report: Intestine. Am J Transplant 2020; 20 Suppl s1: 300-339 [PMID: 31898410 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15675]
- 48 Huard G, Iyer K, Moon J, Doucette JT, Nair V, Schiano TD. The high incidence of severe chronic kidney disease after intestinal transplantation and its impact on patient and graft survival. Clin Transplant 2017; 31 [PMID: 28241392 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12942
- Ueno T, Kato T, Gaynor J, Velasco M, Selvaggi G, Nishida S, Moon J, Levi D, Madariaga J, Tzakis A. Renal dysfunction 49 following adult intestinal transplant under tacrolimus-based immunosuppression. Transplant Proc 2006; 38: 1762-1764 [PMID: 16908274 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.05.066]
- 50 Kasiske BL, Zeier MG, Chapman JR, Craig JC, Ekberg H, Garvey CA, Green MD, Jha V, Josephson MA, Kiberd BA, Kreis HA, McDonald RA, Newmann JM, Obrador GT, Vincenti FG, Cheung M, Earley A, Raman G, Abariga S, Wagner M, Balk EM; Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients: a summary. Kidney Int 2010; 77: 299-311 [PMID: 19847156 DOI: 10.1038/ki.2009.377]
- Knoll GA, Fergusson D, Chassé M, Hebert P, Wells G, Tibbles LA, Treleaven D, Holland D, White C, Muirhead N, 51 Cantarovich M, Paquet M, Kiberd B, Gourishankar S, Shapiro J, Prasad R, Cole E, Pilmore H, Cronin V, Hogan D, Ramsay T, Gill J. Ramipril vs placebo in kidney transplant patients with proteinuria: a multicentre, double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2016; 4: 318-326 [PMID: 26608067 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00368-X]
- 52 Toto RD. Transplantation: The role of RAAS blockade in kidney transplantation. Nat Rev Nephrol 2016; 12: 129-131 [PMID: 26656455 DOI: 10.1038/nrneph.2015.201]
- Heinze G, Mitterbauer C, Regele H, Kramar R, Winkelmayer WC, Curhan GC, Oberbauer R. Angiotensin-converting 53 enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonist therapy is associated with prolonged patient and graft survival after renal transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17: 889-899 [PMID: 16481415 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2005090955]
- 54 Ponticelli C, Cucchiari D. Renin-angiotensin system inhibitors in kidney transplantation: a benefit-risk assessment. J Nephrol 2017; 30: 155-157 [PMID: 28211033 DOI: 10.1007/s40620-017-0378-x]
- 55 Ekberg H, Tedesco-Silva H, Demirbas A, Vítko S, Nashan B, Gürkan A, Margreiter R, Hugo C, Grinyó JM, Frei U, Vanrenterghem Y, Daloze P, Halloran PF; ELITE-Symphony Study. Reduced exposure to calcineurin inhibitors in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 2007; 357: 2562-2575 [PMID: 18094377 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa067411]
- 56 Nankivell BJ, Chapman JR, Bonovas G, Gruenewald SM. Oral cyclosporine but not tacrolimus reduces renal transplant blood flow. Transplantation 2004; 77: 1457-1459 [PMID: 15167607 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000121196.71904.e0]
- 57 Epstein A, Beall A, Wynn J, Mulloy L, Brophy CM. Cyclosporine, but not FK506, selectively induces renal and coronary artery smooth muscle contraction. Surgery 1998; 123: 456-460 [PMID: 9551073]



- 58 Kandula P, Fridell J, Taber TE, Sharfuddin A, Yaqub MS, Phillips CL, Chen J, Mujtaba M. Impact of tacrolimus-sirolimus maintenance immunosuppression on proteinuria and kidney function in pancreas transplant alone recipients. Transplantation 2012; 94: 940-946 [PMID: 23037007 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3182696a13]
- 59 Cotterell AH, Fisher RA, King AL, Gehr TW, Dawson S, Sterling RK, Stravitz RT, Luketic VA, Sanyal AJ, Shiffman ML, Posner MP. Calcineurin inhibitor-induced chronic nephrotoxicity in liver transplant patients is reversible using rapamycin as the primary immunosuppressive agent. Clin Transplant 2002; 16 Suppl 7: 49-51 [PMID: 12372044 DOI: 10.1034/j.1399-0012.16.s7.7.x
- 60 Nair S, Eason J, Loss G. Sirolimus monotherapy in nephrotoxicity due to calcineurin inhibitors in liver transplant recipients. Liver Transpl 2003; 9: 126-129 [PMID: 12548505 DOI: 10.1053/jlts.2003.50026]
- 61 Neff GW, Montalbano M, Slapak-Green G, Meyer D, Berney T, Safdar K, Schiff ER, Tzakis AG. Sirolimus therapy in orthotopic liver transplant recipients with calcineurin inhibitor related chronic renal insufficiency. Transplant Proc 2003; **35**: 3029-3031 [PMID: 14697970 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2003.10.002]
- Cantarovich M, Tzimas GN, Barkun J, Deschênes M, Alpert E, Tchervenkov J. Efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil 62 combined with very low-dose cyclosporine microemulsion in long-term liver-transplant patients with renal dysfunction. *Transplantation* 2003; **76**: 98-102 [PMID: 12865793 DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000054367.57978.4C]
- Pfitzmann R, Klupp J, Langrehr JM, Uhl M, Neuhaus R, Settmacher U, Steinmüller T, Neuhaus P. Mycophenolatemofetil for immunosuppression after liver transplantation: a follow-up study of 191 patients. Transplantation 2003; 76: 130-136 [PMID: 12865798 DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000071522.74885.48]
- Hao JC, Wang WT, Yan LN, Li B, Wen TF, Yang JY, Xu MQ, Zhao JC, Wei YG. Effect of low-dose tacrolimus with 64 mycophenolate mofetil on renal function following liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol 2014; 20: 11356-11362 [PMID: 25170222 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i32.11356]
- Cornu C, Dufays C, Gaillard S, Gueyffier F, Redonnet M, Sebbag L, Roussoulières A, Gleissner CA, Groetzner J, Lehmkuhl HB, Potena L, Gullestad L, Cantarovich M, Boissonnat P. Impact of the reduction of calcineurin inhibitors on renal function in heart transplant patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2014; 78: 24-32 [PMID: 24251918 DOI: 10.1111/bcp.12289]
- 66 Zuckermann A, Schulz U, Deuse T, Ruhpawar A, Schmitto JD, Beiras-Fernandez A, Hirt S, Schweiger M, Kopp-66 Fernandes L, Barten MJ. Thymoglobulin induction in heart transplantation: patient selection and implications for maintenance immunosuppression. Transpl Int 2015; 28: 259-269 [PMID: 25363471 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12480]
- Delgado DH, Miriuka SG, Cusimano RJ, Feindel C, Rao V, Ross HJ. Use of basiliximab and cyclosporine in heart 67 transplant patients with pre-operative renal dysfunction. J Heart Lung Transplant 2005; 24: 166-169 [PMID: 15701432 DOI: 10.1016/j.healun.2003.09.043]
- Cantarovich M, Giannetti N, Barkun J, Cecere R. Antithymocyte globulin induction allows a prolonged delay in the 68 initiation of cyclosporine in heart transplant patients with postoperative renal dysfunction. Transplantation 2004; 78: 779-781 [PMID: 15371689 DOI: 10.1097/01.tp.0000130179.18176.3d]
- 69 Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Gustafsson F, Eiskjaer H, Radegran G, Gude E, Jansson K, Solbu D, Sigurdardottir V, Arora S, Dellgren G, Gullestad L; SCHEDULE Investigators. Everolimus initiation and early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawal in heart transplant recipients: a randomized trial. Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 1828-1838 [PMID: 25041227 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12809]
- Eisen HJ, Kobashigawa J, Starling RC, Pauly DF, Kfoury A, Ross H, Wang SS, Cantin B, Van Bakel A, Ewald G, Hirt S, 70 Lehmkuhl H, Keogh A, Rinaldi M, Potena L, Zuckermann A, Dong G, Cornu-Artis C, Lopez P. Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplantation: a randomized, multicenter trial. Am J Transplant 2013; 13: 1203-1216 [PMID: 23433101 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12181]
- Högerle BA, Kohli N, Habibi-Parker K, Lyster H, Reed A, Carby M, Zeriouh M, Weymann A, Simon AR, Sabashnikov A, 71 Popov AF, Soresi S. Challenging immunosuppression treatment in lung transplant recipients with kidney failure. Transpl Immunol 2016; 35: 18-22 [PMID: 26892232 DOI: 10.1016/j.trim.2016.02.002]
- Strueber M, Warnecke G, Fuge J, Simon AR, Zhang R, Welte T, Haverich A, Gottlieb J. Everolimus Versus Mycophenolate Mofetil De Novo After Lung Transplantation: A Prospective, Randomized, Open-Label Trial. Am J Transplant 2016; 16: 3171-3180 [PMID: 27104933 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13835]
- 73 Glanville AR, Aboyoun C, Klepetko W, Reichenspurner H, Treede H, Verschuuren EA, Boehler A, Benden C, Hopkins P, Corris PA; European and Australian Investigators in Lung Transplantation. Three-year results of an investigator-driven multicenter, international, randomized open-label de novo trial to prevent BOS after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 2015; 34: 16-25 [PMID: 25049068 DOI: 10.1016/j.healun.2014.06.001]
- 74 Stephany BR, Boumitri M, Budev M, Alao B, Poggio ED. Absence of proteinuria predicts improvement in renal function after conversion to sirolimus-based immunosuppressive regimens in lung transplant survivors with chronic kidney disease. J Heart Lung Transplant 2009; 28: 564-571 [PMID: 19481016 DOI: 10.1016/j.healun.2009.03.010]
- 75 Rutter CS, Russell NK, Sharkey LM, Amin I, Butler AJ. Decline in renal function following intestinal transplant: is the die cast at 3 months? Clin Transplant 2021; 35: e14249 [PMID: 33565629 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.14249]
- Herlenius G, Fägerlind M, Krantz M, Mölne J, Olausson M, Gäbel M, Friman V, Oltean M, Friman S. Chronic kidney 76 disease--a common and serious complication after intestinal transplantation. Transplantation 2008; 86: 108-113 [PMID: 18622286 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31817613f8]
- 77 Vincenti F, Charpentier B, Vanrenterghem Y, Rostaing L, Bresnahan B, Darji P, Massari P, Mondragon-Ramirez GA, Agarwal M, Di Russo G, Lin CS, Garg P, Larsen CP. A phase III study of belatacept-based immunosuppression regimens versus cyclosporine in renal transplant recipients (BENEFIT study). Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 535-546 [PMID: 20415897 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.03005.x]
- 78 Durrbach A, Pestana JM, Pearson T, Vincenti F, Garcia VD, Campistol J, Rial Mdel C, Florman S, Block A, Di Russo G, Xing J, Garg P, Grinyó J. A phase III study of belatacept versus cyclosporine in kidney transplants from extended criteria donors (BENEFIT-EXT study). Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 547-557 [PMID: 20415898 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03016.x
- Launay M, Guitard J, Dorent R, Prevot Y, Prion F, Beaumont L, Kably B, Lecuyer L, Billaud EM, Guillemain R.



Belatacept-based immunosuppression: A calcineurin inhibitor-sparing regimen in heart transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 553-563 [PMID: 31452337 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15584]

- 80 Timofte I, Terrin M, Barr E, Sanchez P, Kim J, Reed R, Britt E, Ravichandran B, Rajagopal K, Griffith B, Pham S, Pierson RN 3rd, Iacono A. Belatacept for renal rescue in lung transplant patients. Transpl Int 2016; 29: 453-463 [PMID: 26678245 DOI: 10.1111/tri.12731]
- 81 Mujtaba MA, Sharfuddin AA, Taber T, Chen J, Phillips CL, Goble M, Fridell JA. Conversion from tacrolimus to belatacept to prevent the progression of chronic kidney disease in pancreas transplantation: case report of two patients. Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 2657-2661 [PMID: 25179306 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12863]
- Perez CP, Patel N, Mardis CR, Meadows HB, Taber DJ, Pilch NA. Belatacept in Solid Organ Transplant: Review of 82 Current Literature Across Transplant Types. Transplantation 2018; 102: 1440-1452 [PMID: 29787522 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002291]
- 83 Klintmalm GB, Feng S, Lake JR, Vargas HE, Wekerle T, Agnes S, Brown KA, Nashan B, Rostaing L, Meadows-Shropshire S, Agarwal M, Harler MB, Garcia-Valdecasas JC. Belatacept-based immunosuppression in de novo liver transplant recipients: 1-year experience from a phase II randomized study. Am J Transplant 2014; 14: 1817-1827 [PMID: 25041339 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.12810]
- Schwarz C, Rasoul-Rockenschaub S, Soliman T, Berlakovich GA, Steininger R, Mühlbacher F, Wekerle T. Belatacept 84 treatment for two yr after liver transplantation is not associated with operational tolerance. Clin Transplant 2015; 29: 85-89 [PMID: 25377272 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12483]
- LaMattina JC, Jason MP, Hanish SI, Ottmann SE, Klassen DK, Potosky D, Hutson WR, Barth RN. Safety of belatacept 85 bridging immunosuppression in hepatitis C-positive liver transplant recipients with renal dysfunction. Transplantation 2014; 97: 133-137 [PMID: 24342980 DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000438635.44461.2e]
- Kim S, McClave SA, Martindale RG, Miller KR, Hurt RT. Hypoalbuminemia and Clinical Outcomes: What is the Mechanism behind the Relationship? Am Surg 2017; 83: 1220-1227 [PMID: 29183523 DOI: 10.1177/0003134817083011231
- 87 Chandrakantan A, de Mattos AM, Naftel D, Crosswy A, Kirklin J, Curtis JJ. Increasing referral for renal transplant evaluation in recipients of nonrenal solid-organ transplants: a single-center experience. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 1: 832-836 [PMID: 17699294 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.01191005]
- Cassuto JR, Reese PP, Sonnad S, Bloom RD, Levine MH, Olthoff KM, Shaked A, Naji A, Abt P. Wait list death and 88 survival benefit of kidney transplantation among nonrenal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 2010; 10: 2502-2511 [PMID: 20977641 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03292.x]
- 89 El-Husseini A, Aghil A, Ramirez J, Sawaya B, Rajagopalan N, Baz M, Mei X, Davenport DL, Gedaly R. Outcome of kidney transplant in primary, repeat, and kidney-after-nonrenal solid-organ transplantation: 15-year analysis of recent UNOS database. Clin Transplant 2017; 31 [PMID: 28881060 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13108]
- 90 Lonze BE, Warren DS, Stewart ZA, Dagher NN, Singer AL, Shah AS, Montgomery RA, Segev DL. Kidney transplantation in previous heart or lung recipients. Am J Transplant 2009; 9: 578-585 [PMID: 19260837 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02540.x
- 91 Haugen CE, Luo X, Holscher CM, Bowring MG, DiBrito SR, Garonzik-Wang J, McAdams-DeMarco M, Segev DL. Outcomes in Older Kidney Transplant Recipients After Prior Nonkidney Transplants. Transplantation 2019; 103: 2383-2387 [PMID: 30747853 DOI: 10.1097/TP.00000000002596]



WJ7

## World Journal of **Transplantation**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2022 August 18; 12(8): 250-258

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.250

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

#### **Retrospective Cohort Study**

P-Reviewer: Eccher A, Italy; Sarier

Received: January 28, 2022

Peer-review started: January 28,

First decision: March 25, 2022

Article in press: July 25, 2022

Published online: August 18, 2022

Revised: March 27, 2022

Accepted: July 25, 2022

# Emergency department visits and hospital admissions in kidney transplant recipients during the COVID-19 pandemic: A hospital-based study

#### Wachira Wongtanasarasin, Phichayut Phinyo

Specialty type: Transplantation	Wachira Wongtanasarasin, Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai 50200, Thailand
<b>Provenance and peer review:</b> Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.	Wachira Wongtanasarasin, Department of Emergency Medicine, UC Davis School of Medicine, Sacramento, CA 95817, United States
Peer-review model: Single blind	Phichayut Phinyo, Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai 50200, Thailand
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	<b>Phichayut Phinyo</b> , Center for Clinical Epidemiology and Clinical Statistics, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai 50200, Thailand
Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0	<b>Corresponding author:</b> Wachira Wongtanasarasin, MD, Attending Doctor, Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University, 110 Intavarorot Street, Sriphum, Chiang Mai 50200, Thailand. wachir_w@hotmail.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Several studies have demonstrated that the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has affected daily living and the healthcare system. No previous study has described the consequences of COVID-19 on emergency department (ED) visits and hospital admission among kidney transplant (KT) recipients.

#### AIM

To investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on ED visits and hospital admissions within 1 year in patients who underwent KT in Thailand.

#### **METHODS**

We conducted a retrospective study at a university hospital in Thailand. We reviewed the hospital records of KT patients who visited the ED during the outbreak of COVID-19 (from January 2020 to December 2021). We used the previous 2 years as the control period in the analysis. We obtained baseline demographics and ED visit characteristics for each KT patient. The outcomes of interest were ED visits and ED visits leading to hospital admission within the 1<sup>st</sup> year following a KT. The rate of ED visits and ED visits leading to hospital admissions between the two periods were compared using the stratified Cox



M, Turkey

2022

proportional hazards model.

#### RESULTS

A total of 263 patients were included in this study: 112 during the COVID-19 period and 151 during the control period. There were 34 and 41 ED visits after KT in the COVID-19 and control periods, respectively. The rate of first ED visit at 1 year was not significantly different in the COVID-19 period, compared with the control period [hazard ratio (HR) = 1.02, 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.54-1.92; P = 0.96]. The hospital admission rate was similar between periods (HR = 0.92, 95%CI: 0.50-1.69; P = 0.78).

#### **CONCLUSION**

ED visits and hospital admissions within the 1st year in KT recipients were not affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite these findings, we believe that communication between post-KT patients and healthcare providers is essential to highlight the importance of prompt ED visits for acute health conditions, particularly in post-KT patients.

Key Words: Emergency department visit; Hospital admission; Kidney transplant; COVID-19; Acute health conditions

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) affects kidney transplant (KT) recipients in terms of hospital admission rates. This study showed that despite emergency department (ED) visits remaining unchanged during the COVID-19 pandemic, hospital admission rates increased. Although we could not establish the cause-effect relationship of these changes, we encourage healthcare providers to provide post-KT patients recommendations to visit ED promptly for acute health conditions.

Citation: Wongtanasarasin W, Phinyo P. Emergency department visits and hospital admissions in kidney transplant recipients during the COVID-19 pandemic: A hospital-based study. World J Transplant 2022; 12(8): 250-258 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v12/i8/250.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.250

#### INTRODUCTION

In the United States, there were approximately 143 million total visits to an emergency department (ED) in 2018[1]. Over the last two decades, the rate of ED visits has increased, exceeding what could be accounted for by population growth[1]. Multiple factors, including extremes of age, women, public insurance, minority race/ethnicity, and country region, are associated with higher rates of ED visits in the general population<sup>[2]</sup>. Recently, there has been a significant increase in acute care delivery following hospitalization[3,4]. Acute care after hospital treatment is considered an indication of poor quality of care in some contexts, including kidney transplant (KT) patients[4,5]. Patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) account for 7.1% of total Medicare expenditures in the United States despite accounting for only 0.9% of Medicare treatments[6,7]. Patients with ESRD have visited the ED at a 6-fold higher rate than the general population; however, most previous studies excluded KT patients, who account for a growing proportion (around 22.8%) of prevalent ESRD patients<sup>[7]</sup>. The long-term advantages of KT are well documented and include improved survival and quality of life compared to dialysis[8,9]. On the other hand, the management of patients after KT is complex and resource-intensive, necessitating extensive care coordination, frequent laboratory monitoring, and ongoing patient engagement[9,10]. Furthermore, KT recipients frequently have multiple comorbidities, which complicates their care[11,12].

In recent years, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has become the most critical disease and influenced human health across the globe[13]. This pandemic affects not only physical health but also mental health and well-being[14]. Transplant recipients, including KT patients, who are receiving immunosuppressive therapy are at the highest risk of severe illness, and as a result, are at a higher risk of an adverse outcome from COVID-19[15]. One of the unique aspects of the transplant recipient's life is that, in the post-operative phase, the patient should live in an isolated space, pay special attention to their living environment, and prefer a limited social life because of the immunosuppressive treatment involves immunosuppression in the patient[14]. A previous study demonstrated that the COVID-19 pandemic is associated with a significant reduction in average daily ED visits; however, the admission rates were increased[16]. This research investigated the effect of COVID-19 and the consequences on ED visits and admission rates among KT recipients within 1 year. In addition, this study assessed the



differences in the diagnoses of KT patients who visited an ED between COVID-19 and regular periods.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Protocol

We conducted a single-center retrospective observational study at a university tertiary hospital between January 2018 and December 2021. The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board (IRB) of the Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University (EXEMPTION-8745/65; Chiang Mai, Thailand). The IRB waived informed consent due to its retrospective design. Patient confidentiality was preserved by using anonymous health records. All methods employed in this study were performed following relevant guidelines and regulations.

#### Setting and study population

Maharaj Nakorn Chiang Mai Hospital (MNCMH) is a university hospital with 1500 beds, 151 intensive care units (ICUs) and sub-ICU beds, 28 operating rooms, and doctors from all subspecialties on duty. According to the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale, the triage categorization is based on a five-level scale, ranging from blue (level 1, resuscitation) to white (level 5, non-urgency). Our ED provides a 24-h service with emergency physicians and skilled nurses. We categorized seven types of dispositions in the current study: ICU admission, general ward admission, observational unit admission, referral to another hospital, discharge, discharge against doctor's recommendation, and death.

We included all adult patients (age  $\geq$  18 years) who underwent KT at MNCMH between January 2017 and December 2020. Patients who died in the hospital after KT before hospital discharge were excluded. We collected data only from KT patients who visited the ED of MNCMH within 1 year after the date of transplantation (between January 2018 and December 2021). Extreme outliers and high-volume ED visitors (KT patients using the ED more than ten times per year) were excluded from the study population and were not included in the study analysis.

#### Data collection

Data were collected through the electronic medical records and chart review. To assess risk factors for ED visits and admissions following KT, age, sex, donor types, insurance, and Charlson comorbidity index were collected. Specifically, for KT recipients who visited the ED within 1 year after transplantation, we collected the following data: (1) Time to first and any ED visit since transplantation; (2) Triage level; (3) Total ED time; (4) Type of disposition; and (5) Invasive procedures during ED stay, which were intubation and cardiopulmonary resuscitation. The diagnosis for each ED visit is also collected using the International Classification of Diseases code.

#### Outcomes and data analysis

The primary outcome of interest was ED visits in the 1st year following KT. All recipients were followed until death or out of the study period. In-hospital deaths were retrieved from hospital medical records. Patients who did not visit ED at the end of the study period were considered censors. For patients with recurrent ED visits, the time to ED visit was defined as the time from the index date of transplantation to the date of the recurrent ED visit. The risk interval was, therefore, set as marginal since we assumed that the patients were at risk of any ED visit from the date of their transplantation.

Secondary outcomes included ED visits leading to hospital admissions following KT's 1st year. The number of ED visits and hospital admissions for any reason was calculated and compared between January 2018 and December 2019 and between January 2020 and December 2021. All responsible diagnoses from January 2018 to December 2019 were compared to all diagnoses from January 2020 to December 2021. We described continuous data using the mean ± SD for normally distributed variables. For skewed data, median and interquartile range were calculated. Categorical data were summarized using frequency and percentage. The independent *t*-test was used to compare continuous variables. For categorical variables, Fisher's exact probability test was performed. All tests were two-sided, with significance for all tests being determined as P < 0.05. All analyses were performed using STATA 16 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, United States).

For the primary analysis, the rate of ED visits within 1 year after KT was compared using the stratified Cox proportional hazards model. We presented two analytic approaches for each survival outcome, the rate of first ED visits and any ED visit after transplantation. For the rate of the first ED visit, we restricted the analysis to only the first ED visit, whereas all ED visits during the 1st year period were considered in the analysis of the rate of any ED visits. We employed the modeling method for recurrent events described by Kelly and Lim[17]. The risk interval was defined as the total time (marginal). We used a restricted risk set and assumed event-specific baseline hazards. To quantify the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic period on the control period, hazard ratios (HRs) were estimated from the stratified Cox's regression model. They were reported with 95% confidence intervals (CI) and P values. Kaplan-Meier curves were demonstrated, and a comparison of differences was made by the log-

#### RESULTS

#### Patient characteristics

A total of 263 KT recipients were enrolled in this study, 112 in the COVID-19 period (underwent KT between January 2019 and December 2020) and 151 in the control period (underwent KT between January 2017 and December 2018). No recipient died during the follow-up period. Figure 1 illustrates the flow diagram of this study population. The mean ages were  $45.5 \pm 10.4$  years and  $43.7 \pm 13.4$  years for COVID-19 and control groups, respectively. Most of the participants received deceased donors. There were no significant differences in baseline demographics between the two periods (Table 1). Baseline demographics of KT patients who visited an ED during the study periods are summarized in Table 1.

#### ED visits

A total of 17.1% of KT recipients visited ED within 1 year after transplantation (15.3% in the COVID-19 period and 18.5% in the control period), accounting for 75 ED visits. The mean times to first ED visit since transplantations were  $130.8 \pm 106.2$  and  $120.6 \pm 105.3$  d for the COVID-19 and control periods, respectively. On the other hand, the rates of invasive procedures were similar among both periods. Table 2 summarizes the clinical variables of KT patients who presented to the ED within 1 year after transplantation. The rate of first ED visit at 1 year was not different in the COVID-19 period, compared with the control period when adjusting for confounding variables (HR = 1.02, 95% CI: 0.54-1.92; P = 0.96, Figure 2). Similarly, the rate of any ED visit in the following year was also not different between the two periods (HR = 1.24, 95% CI: 0.73-2.10; P = 0.43, Table 3). The five most responsible diagnoses are demonstrated in Table 4. Fever and abdominal pain were ranked first during the control period, while abdominal pain was the top diagnosis during COVID-19.

#### Hospital admissions

The admission rate in the COVID-19 period significantly decreased during the study period, compared with the control period (38.2% vs 65.9%; P = 0.02). In addition, the rate of any ED visit leading to hospital admission in the following year was also not different (HR = 0.92, 95% CI: 0.50-1.69; P = 0.78, Table 3).

#### DISCUSSION

In this retrospective study of KT patients, about one-sixth of KT recipients had at least 1 ED visit in the 1<sup>st</sup> year following transplantation. However, the rates of ED visits and hospital admissions were not affected by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. We also found that abdominal pain was responsible for most diagnoses across the COVID-19 and control periods. The impact of COVID-19 on ED visits and hospital admissions is demonstrated in several previous studies [15-17]. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on ED visits and admission rates among KT patients. KT recipients are usually advised to isolate themselves from the community because of the greater risk of being infected. Consequently, they might not visit the ED promptly. Our previous study showed that an average daily ED visit was significantly reduced during the COVID-19 pandemic, probably due to the fear of reaching COVID-19 in the hospital[15]. However, the present findings showed the difference. Despite the fear of contacting COVID-19, we found that ED visits by post-KT patients were not disturbed. A previous study demonstrated that KT recipients had a higher chance of a more severe course of COVID-19 infection than hemodialysis patients [18]; however, another finding showed that the severity and adverse outcomes were not different between KT recipients and those without for the COVID-19 infection[19].

Recently, telemedicine has become one of the most powerful strategies used to follow-up KT recipients[18,19]. Results from Yadav and Singh's study found that application of telemedicine in the transplant population enhances medication compliance, reduces hospitalization rates, and makes living donor evaluation convenient<sup>[19]</sup>. Telemedicine could be recommended as an alternative method, especially in the pandemic era, to avoid and reduce the rate of transmission in the hospital in KT population.

Although ED visits are not different between the two groups in our study, hospital admissions were higher for the COVID-19 group. This may reflect the natural consequence of inappropriate and untimely ED visits, resulting in a higher severity of diseases. We proposed that the reasons for these findings could be multifactorial. First, KT patients have a higher baseline chance of visiting ED than other patients. Previous studies have shown that acute care utilization in the following year after KT is relatively high[4,7,9]. In one retrospective study conducted in the United States, nearly half of KT

Table 1 Baseline demographics of kidney transplantation patients during the study period			
Characteristics	COVID-19, <i>n</i> = 112	Control, <i>n</i> = 151	<i>P</i> value
Male sex, <i>n</i> (%)	70 (62.5)	93 (61.6)	0.92
Age at transplant, mean ± SD	$45.5\pm10.4$	$43.7 \pm 13.4$	0.23
Age at transplant, n (%)			0.20
< 40	35 (31.3)	55 (36.4)	
40-59	68 (6.7)	77 (51.0)	
≥ 60	9 (8.0)	19 (12.6)	
Donor type, n (%)			0.65
Living donor	41 (36.6)	59 (39.1)	
Deceased donor	71 (63.4)	92 (60.9)	
Insurance, n (%)			0.66
Universal coverage	24 (21.4)	56 (37.1)	
Social security scheme	33 (29.5)	40 (26.5)	
Government officer	55 (49.1)	55 (36.4)	
Charlson comorbidity index, mean ± SD	$1.7 \pm 1.5$	$1.8 \pm 1.5$	0.59

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019.



Figure 1 Study flow. COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; ED: Emergency department; KT: Kidney transplantation.

patients visited the ED within 1 year after KT[7]. Second, post-KT recipients are prescribed immunosuppressive agents. Usually, they are informed to seek medical evaluation even they have minor symptoms, such as low-grade fever or abdominal pain. Furthermore, fever and other unspecified symptoms could be one of the clinical features of COVID-19[20]. KT recipients might intend to visit ED as they considered themselves suspected of having this COVID-19 infection. Interestingly, our study found that hospital admissions were markedly increased in the COVID-19 group. Consistent with previous evidence, hospital admission during this disastrous period is likely higher than usual, mainly because of untimely and delayed ED visits[15].

Our findings regarding ED visits and admission rates during the COVID-19 pandemic may serve as a body of literature regarding the impact of COVID-19 in the various spectrum, including KT recipients. Not only the number of ED visits among post-KT patients were not less than the regular period, but also the admission rates were significantly high. Our data also suggest that clinicians and healthcare professionals should encourage KT recipients to visit EDs on time to reduce unfavorable outcomes.

Table 2 Clinical variables of kidney transplantation patients who presented to the emergency department within 1 year during the study period

Variables	COVID-19 (January 2020-December 2021), <i>n</i> = 34	Control (January 2018-December 2019), <i>n</i> = 41	<i>P</i> value
Time to first ED visit since transplantation in day, mean ± SD	130.8 ± 106.2	120.6 ± 105.3	0.88
Triage level, n (%)			0.71
Resuscitation	2 (5.9)	1 (2.4)	
Emergency	13 (38.2)	13 (31.7)	
Urgency	12 (35.3)	20 (48.8)	
Less urgency	5 (14.7)	6 (14.6)	
Non-urgency	2 (5.9)	1 (2.4)	
Total ED times in min, mean ± SD	275.8 ± 263.5	232.7 (120.6)	0.35
Total ED times in min, median (IQR)	210.5 (130-330)	222 (138-300)	0.35
Admission, n (%)	13 (38.2)	27 (65.9)	0.02
Type of disposition, $n$ (%)			0.10
ICU admission	1 (2.9)	1 (2.4)	
General ward admission	12 (35.3)	25 (61.0)	
OU admission	0 (0)	1 (2.4)	
Referred	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Discharge	21 (61.8)	14 (34.2)	
Against advice	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Death at ED	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Intubation, n (%)	0 (0)	1 (2.4)	0.36
CPR, <i>n</i> (%)	0 (0)	0 (0)	N/A

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; CPR: Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; ED: Emergency department; ICU: Intensive care unit; IQR: Interquartile range; N/A: Not applicable; OU: Observational unit.

Table 3 Multivariable hazard ratios of emergency depa	artment visit and hospital admissior	by risk characteristics	
Outcomes	Multivariable HR <sup>1</sup>	95%CI	<i>P</i> value
First ED visit	1.02	0.54-1.92	0.96
Any ED visit	1.24	0.73-2.10	0.43
ED visit leading to hospital admission	0.92	0.50-1.69	0.78

<sup>1</sup>Adjusted for sex, age, donor, insurance, Charlson comorbidity index. CI: Confidence interval; ED: Emergency department; HR: Hazard ratio.

#### Limitations

This study had some limitations to be considered. This method could not account for underlying trends in hospital admission and ED attendance despite comparing two time periods. Differences in hospital admission patterns may be associated with the epidemic or the limits by chance. This problem might be solved with additional time series analysis or regression modeling over a longer time. We only conducted the investigation at a single university hospital. As a result, the design may be valid and generalizable to the situation with the same degree of care. Furthermore, some baseline data were not recorded, including causes of ESRD and hospital length of stay during index transplantation. Moreover, another perspective that this study did not address was the quality of life of post-KT patients who visited ED in the first following year. Further research should evaluate this aspect of the patients.

Raishideng® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Top five	emergency department	diagnoses recorded during the study period	
No	ICD-10	Diagnoses	%
January 2018-Dec	ember 2019		
1	R509	Fever, unspecified	12.8
2	R104	Other and unspecified abdominal pain	12.8
3	N185	Chronic kidney disease, stage 5	10.3
4	A099	Gastroenteritis and colitis of unspecified origin	10.3
5	A419	Septicemia, unspecified	10.3
January 2020-Dec	ember 2021		
1	R104	Other and unspecified abdominal pain	23.7
2	N390	Urinary tract infection, site not specified	10.5
3	A419	Septicemia, unspecified	7.9
4	A099	Gastroenteritis and colitis of unspecified origin	5.3
5	R074	Chest pain, unspecified	5.3

ICD: International Classification of Diseases.



Figure 2 Kaplan-Meier estimates of first emergency department visits in kidney transplantation patients who visited emergency department during coronavirus disease 2019 period (solid line) and control period (dot line). COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; ED: Emergency department.

#### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, COVID-19 also affects KT recipients in terms of hospital admission rates. The present study points out that despite ED visits not being changed during the COVID-19 pandemic, hospital admission rates were increased. Although we could not determine the exact cause of this change, we believe that communication between post-KT patients and healthcare providers is necessary to emphasize the importance of timely ED visits for acute health conditions, especially in immunocompromised hosts like post-KT patients.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Several investigations have shown that the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has an impact on daily life and the healthcare system.



#### **Research motivation**

There has been no previous research on the effects of COVID-19 on emergency department (ED) visits and hospitalizations among kidney transplant (KT) patients. We conducted this study to explore the effects of COVID-19 on ED visits among post-KT recipients.

#### **Research objectives**

The aim of this study was to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the ED visits and hospital admissions within 1 year in patients who underwent KT in Thailand.

#### **Research methods**

We conducted a retrospective study. We reviewed hospital records of KT patients who visited ED during the outbreak of COVID-19. We used the previous 2 years as the control period in the analysis. We obtained baseline demographics and ED visit characteristics of each KT patient. The outcomes of interest were ED visits and ED visits leading to hospital admission within the 1<sup>st</sup> year following a KT.

#### **Research results**

We included a total of 263 patients: 112 during the COVID-19 period and 151 during the control period. There were 34 and 41 ED visits after KT in the COVID-19 and control periods, respectively. The rate of first ED visit at 1 year was not significantly different in the COVID-19 period, compared with the control period. The hospital admission rate was also similar between periods.

#### Research conclusions

The COVID-19 pandemic had no effect on KT recipients' ED visits or hospital admissions in the 1<sup>st</sup> year after transplantations.

#### Research perspectives

Despite these findings, we suggest that communication between post-KT patients and healthcare professionals is crucial in emphasizing the significance of timely ED visits for acute health issues, especially in post-KT patients.

#### FOOTNOTES

**Author contributions:** Wongtanasarasin W and Phinyo P designed the protocol, contributed to data collection, and data analyses; Wongtanasarasin W contributed to the formal analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript; and all authors read and critically reviewed the final version of the manuscript.

**Institutional review board statement:** The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University (EXEMPTION-8745/65).

**Informed consent statement:** The Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University waived informed consent due to its retrospective design.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

**STROBE statement:** The authors have read the STROBE-Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE-Checklist.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Thailand

ORCID number: Wachira Wongtanasarasin 0000-0002-1418-0036; Phichayut Phinyo 0000-0002-8543-6254.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Wang JJ

Zaishidena® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### REFERENCES

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Statistical Brief. [cited 1 January 2022]. Available from: 1 https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/statbriefs.jsp
- Burke RE, Juarez-Colunga E, Levy C, Prochazka AV, Coleman EA, Ginde AA. Patient and Hospitalization Characteristics 2 Associated With Increased Postacute Care Facility Discharges From US Hospitals. Med Care 2015; 53: 492-500 [PMID: 25906015 DOI: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000359]
- Burke RE, Juarez-Colunga E, Levy C, Prochazka AV, Coleman EA, Ginde AA. Rise of post-acute care facilities as a discharge destination of US hospitalizations. JAMA Intern Med 2015; 175: 295-296 [PMID: 25437642 DOI: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.6383
- Schold JD, Elfadawy N, Buccini LD, Goldfarb DA, Flechner SM, P Phelan M, Poggio ED. Emergency Department Visits 4 after Kidney Transplantation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2016; 11: 674-683 [PMID: 27012951 DOI: 10.2215/CJN.07950715]
- 5 Vashi AA, Fox JP, Carr BG, D'Onofrio G, Pines JM, Ross JS, Gross CP. Use of hospital-based acute care among patients recently discharged from the hospital. JAMA 2013; 309: 364-371 [PMID: 23340638 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2012.216219]
- 6 CMS. 2013 Edition. [cited 1 January 2022]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/CMS-Statistics-Reference-Booklet/2013
- 7 Lovasik BP, Zhang R, Hockenberry JM, Schrager JD, Pastan SO, Adams AB, Mohan S, Larsen CP, Patzer RE. Emergency department use among kidney transplant recipients in the United States. Am J Transplant 2018; 18: 868-880 [PMID: 29116680 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.14578]
- Tonelli M, Wiebe N, Knoll G, Bello A, Browne S, Jadhav D, Klarenbach S, Gill J. Systematic review: kidney transplantation compared with dialysis in clinically relevant outcomes. Am J Transplant 2011; 11: 2093-2109 [PMID: 21883901 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03686.x]
- Weeda ER, Su Z, Taber DJ, Bian J, Morinelli TA, Pilch NA, Mauldin PD, DuBay DA. Hospital admissions and emergency department visits among kidney transplant recipients. Clin Transplant 2019; 33: e13522 [PMID: 30861180 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13522]
- Sarier M, Demir M, Goktas S, Duman I, Buyukkinaci M, Yuksel Y, Tekin S, Yavuz AH, Sengul A. Results of Real-time 10 Multiplex Polymerase Chain Reaction Assay in Renal Transplant Recipients With Sterile Pyuria. Transplant Proc 2017; 49: 1307-1311 [PMID: 28735999 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2017.02.051]
- 11 Hollisaaz MT, Aghanassir M, Lorgard-Dezfuli-Nezad M, Assari S, Hafezie R, Ebrahiminia M. Medical comorbidities after renal transplantation. Transplant Proc 2007; 39: 1048-1050 [PMID: 17524888 DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2007.03.061]
- Wu C, Evans I, Joseph R, Shapiro R, Tan H, Basu A, Smetanka C, Khan A, McCauley J, Unruh M. Comorbid conditions in 12 kidney transplantation: association with graft and patient survival. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16: 3437-3444 [PMID: 16176999 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2005040439]
- Wang C, Horby PW, Hayden FG, Gao GF. A novel coronavirus outbreak of global health concern. Lancet 2020; 395: 470-13 473 [PMID: 31986257 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30185-9]
- De Pasquale C, Pistorio ML, Veroux P, Gioco R, Giaquinta A, Privitera F, Veroux M. Quality of Life and Mental Health 14 in Kidney Transplant Recipients During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Front Psychiatry 2021; 12: 645549 [PMID: 34177645 DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.645549]
- 15 Mirjalili M, Shafiekhani M, Vazin A. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and Transplantation: Pharmacotherapeutic Management of Immunosuppression Regimen. Ther Clin Risk Manag 2020; 16: 617-629 [PMID: 32694915 DOI: 10.2147/TCRM.S256246]
- Wongtanasarasin W, Srisawang T, Yothiya W, Phinyo P. Impact of national lockdown towards emergency department 16 visits and admission rates during the COVID-19 pandemic in Thailand: A hospital-based study. Emerg Med Australas 2021; 33: 316-323 [PMID: 33070468 DOI: 10.1111/1742-6723.13666]
- 17 Kelly PJ, Lim LL. Survival analysis for recurrent event data: an application to childhood infectious diseases. Stat Med 2000; 19: 13-33 [PMID: 10623910 DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0258(20000115)19:1<13::aid-sim279>3.0.co;2-5]
- Biancone L, Minetti E, De Rosa P, Rigotti P, Stallone G, Volpe M, Citterio F. Telemedicine monitoring in the follow-up of 18 kidney transplant recipients: consensus indications from an Italian panel of surgeons and nephrologists after the COVID-19 experience. J Nephrol 2022; 35: 725-733 [PMID: 35175578 DOI: 10.1007/s40620-021-01193-w]
- 19 Yadav A, Singh P. Telehealth Use by Living Kidney Donor Transplant Programs During the COVID-19 Pandemic and Beyond: a Practical Approach. Curr Transplant Rep 2021; 8: 257-262 [PMID: 34812402 DOI: 10.1007/s40472-021-00339-w
- Esakandari H, Nabi-Afjadi M, Fakkari-Afjadi J, Farahmandian N, Miresmaeili SM, Bahreini E. A comprehensive review 20 of COVID-19 characteristics. Biol Proced Online 2020; 22: 19 [PMID: 32774178 DOI: 10.1186/s12575-020-00128-2]



World Journal of WJT Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Transplant 2022 August 18; 12(8): 259-267

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.259

**Retrospective Study** 

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

### Trends and outcomes of liver transplantation among older recipients in the United States

Kenji Okumura, Joon Sub Lee, Abhay Dhand, Hiroshi Sogawa, Gregory Veillette, Devon John, Ryosuke Misawa, Roxana Bodin, David C Wolf, Thomas Diflo, Seigo Nishida

Specialty type: Transplantation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Costache RS, Romania; Pandey NM, India

Received: January 16, 2022 Peer-review started: January 16, 2022 First decision: March 16, 2022 **Revised:** March 30, 2022 Accepted: July 31, 2022 Article in press: July 31, 2022 Published online: August 18, 2022



Kenji Okumura, Joon Sub Lee, Abhay Dhand, Hiroshi Sogawa, Gregory Veillette, Devon John, Ryosuke Misawa, Roxana Bodin, David C Wolf, Thomas Diflo, Seigo Nishida, Department of Surgery, Westchester Medical Center/New York Medical College, Valhalla, NY 10595, United States

Corresponding author: Kenji Okumura, MD, Department of Surgery, Westchester Medical Center/New York Medical College, 100 Woods Road, Valhalla, NY 10595, United States. kenji.okumura@wmchealth.org

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

The average age of recipients and donors of liver transplantation (LT) is increasing. Although there has been a change in the indications for LT over the years, data regarding the trends and outcomes of LT in the older population is limited.

#### AIM

To assess the clinical characteristics, age-related trends, and outcomes of LT among the older population in the United States.

#### **METHODS**

We analyzed data from the United Network for Organ Sharing database between 1987-2019. The sample was split into younger group (18-64 years old) and older group ( $\geq 65$  years old).

#### RESULTS

Between 1987-2019, 155758 LT were performed in the United States. During this period there was a rise in median age of the recipients and percentage of LT recipients who were older than 65 years increased (P < 0.05) with the highest incidence of LT among older population seen in 2019 (1920, 23%). Common primary etiologies of liver disease leading to LT in older patients when compared to the younger group, were non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (16.4% vs 5.9%), hepatocellular carcinoma (14.9% vs 6.9%), acute liver failure (2.5% vs 5.2%), hepatitis C cirrhosis (HCV) (19.2 % vs 25.6%) and acute alcoholic hepatitis (0.13% vs 0.35%). In older recipient group female sex and Asian race were higher, while model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score and rates of preoperative mechanical



ventilation were lower (P < 0.01). Median age of donor, female sex, body mass index (BMI), donor HCV positive status, and donor risk index (DRI) were significantly higher in older group (P <0.01). In univariable analysis, there was no difference in post-transplant length of hospitalization, one-year, three-year and five-year graft survivals between the two groups. In multivariable Cox-Hazard regression analysis, older group had an increased risk of graft failure during the five-year post-transplant period (hazard ratio: 1.27, P < 0.001). Other risk factors for graft failure among recipients were male sex, African American race, re-transplantation, presence of diabetes, mechanical ventilation at the time of LT, higher MELD score, presence of portal vein thrombosis, HCV positive status, and higher DRI.

#### **CONCLUSION**

While there is a higher risk of graft failure in older recipient population, age alone should not be a contraindication for LT. Careful selection of donors and recipients along with optimal management of risk factors during the postoperative period are necessary to maximize the transplant outcomes in this population.

Key Words: Liver transplant; Elderly; Outcomes; Hepatocellular carcinoma; Nonalcohol steatohepatitis

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Liver transplantation (LT) among older patients is becoming more acceptable in the United States. The overall outcomes of LT for patients  $\geq$  65 years are comparable to younger recipients. While there is a higher risk of graft failure in older recipient population, age alone should not be a contraindication for LT. Careful selection of donors and recipients along with optimal management of risk factors during the postoperative period are necessary to maximize the transplant outcomes in this population.

Citation: Okumura K, Lee JS, Dhand A, Sogawa H, Veillette G, John D, Misawa R, Bodin R, Wolf DC, Diflo T, Nishida S. Trends and outcomes of liver transplantation among older recipients in the United States. World J Transplant 2022; 12(8): 259-267

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v12/i8/259.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.259

#### INTRODUCTION

Liver disease is one of the most frequent causes of death in the United States [1,2]. Liver transplantation (LT) is the most effective life-saving treatment for patients with end-stage liver disease and liver failure. Over the past few decades, the number of LT in the United States has increased and outcomes of these transplants have significantly improved[3,4]. According to the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) database, in 1987 there were 1713 LT performed in the United States. Since then, there has been a more than five-fold increase in the number of LTs, with 8906 cases performed in 2020. As the general population becomes older, the average ages of LT recipients and donors have increased as well[5]. Over the past three decades, the characteristic of donors and recipients of LT for end-stage liver disease has changed considerably[3,6-8]. Our goal was to assess trends in the etiology of underlying liver disease, and outcomes of LT among older population in the United States.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Patients and selection criteria

We evaluated all patients 18 years or older who underwent LT in the United States from January 1, 1987 to December 31, 2019 in the UNOS database. Patients without a documented primary diagnosis were excluded from the analyses. This study was approved by our Institutional Review Board.

#### Patient characteristics and outcome variables

All data were collected from the UNOS registry. Demographic information, such as listing diagnosis, age, gender and race, along with time on waiting list prior to transplant were included in the analyses. Additional variables, such as model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score at listing on the waitlist and at the time of transplant, body mass index (BMI), pre-transplant diabetes mellitus (DM), hepatitis C





Figure 1 Trend of liver transplant and indications for liver transplant in older group (age  $\geq$  65 years). A: Trend of liver transplant in older group (age  $\geq$  65 years); B: Trend of indications for liver transplant in older group (age  $\geq$  65 years). LT: Liver transplantation; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; HBV: Hepatitis B virus; ALD: Alcohol related liver disease; NASH: Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma.

virus (HCV) status, dialysis prior to transplant, previous abdominal surgery, spontaneous bacterial peritonitis, trans-jugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt, portal vein thrombosis, mechanical ventilation status and donor risk index (DRI)[9], were included as well. The study groups were defined as older ( $\geq$  65 years old) and younger (18-64 years old).

#### Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States). Non-parametric analyses were used to compare continuous variables (Mann-Whitney *U* test) and categorical variables (Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test). The overall survival and graft survival were calculated from the date of transplant to the date of the event using the Kaplan-Meier method. Survival curves were compared by using the log-rank test. Cox-Hazard regression analyses were applied to assess the association between multiple covariate factors and survival rates between two groups. Results were presented as hazard ratios and reported with 95% confidence intervals with *P* values. *P* < 0.01 was taken as statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

#### **Recipient characteristics**

Of the 155758 individuals who received a LT during the study period, 20000 were in older group ( $\geq 65$  years old) and 135758 patients were in younger group (18-64 years old). The trends of LT in older patients are shown in Figure 1A. The overall number and percentage of LT in older group increased over the years, and the percentage of older recipients became > 20% after 2016. The trends of indications for LT in the older population is shown in Figure 1B. HCV cirrhosis was the most common indication for LT from 1994 to 2005. The number of patients requiring LT due to hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) also gradually increased during the study period. HCC became the most common indication for LT in older group.

Table 1 presents the characteristics of recipients who underwent LT during the study period. The median age of recipients was 52 years in the younger group and 67 years in the older group. Recipients in older group were more likely to be female, White, and Asian compared to those in younger group (*P* < 0.001). Recipients in younger group were more likely to be HCV positive and have portal vein thrombosis, while recipients in older group were more likely to have pre-transplant DM. For primary etiology of liver disease, younger group was more likely to have alcohol-related liver disease (ALD), HCV cirrhosis and acute liver failure, while older group was more likely to have NASH and HCC. Additionally, the younger group was more likely to be on mechanical ventilation at the time of LT and have a prior history of LT.

#### Donor characteristics

The median donor age was higher in the older group (43 years vs 38 years, P < 0.001) (Table 2). The donors of older recipients were more likely to be female, have a higher BMI, and have a higher DRI.



Table 1 Baseline characteristics of the study population comparing age young group (age 18-64) <i>vs</i> older group (age ≥ 65 years)			
	Young group, age 18-64 ( <i>n</i> = 135758)	Older group, age ≥ 65 ( <i>n</i> = 20000)	<i>P</i> value
Age (IQR)	52 (45-58)	67 (66-69)	< 0.001
Female, n (%)	47934 (35.3)	7612 (38.1)	< 0.001
Race, %			< 0.001
White	73.5	75.5	
Black	8.9	6.0	
Hispanic/Latino	12.5	12.1	
Asian	3.8	5.4	
Others	1.3	0.9	
BMI (IQR)	27.4 (24.0-31.7)	27.7 (24.5-31.5)	0.571
HCV, %	44876 (33.1)	5236 (26.2)	< 0.001
Diabetes, n (%)	226584 (22.3)	6784 (35.7)	< 0.001
L <sup>1</sup> -MELD	18 (12-26)	15 (10-22)	< 0.001
R <sup>2</sup> -MELD	21 (14-30)	18 (12-26)	< 0.001
Primary disease, %			
Alcohol cirrhosis	22.3	15.3	< 0.001
HCV cirrhosis	25.2	19.0	< 0.001
NASH	5.9	16.4	< 0.001
HCC	6.9	14.9	< 0.001
Acute liver failure	5.2	2.5	< 0.001
Acute alcoholic hepatitis	0.35	0.13	< 0.001
Previous surgery, <i>n</i> (%)	48407 (35.7)	8899 (44.5)	< 0.001
SBP, <i>n</i> (%)	9147 (6.7)	1084 (5.4)	< 0.001
TIPSS, $n$ (%)	7231 (5.3)	1187 (5.9)	0.001
Portal vein thrombosis, <i>n</i> (%)	4875 (3.6)	1162 (5.8)	< 0.001
Mechanical ventilation, <i>n</i> (%)	10464 (7.6)	888 (4.3)	< 0.001
Dialysis, <i>n</i> (%)	14284 (10.5)	2059 (10.3)	0.167
Wait days, d (IQR)	82 (16-263)	118 (27-310)	< 0.001
Re-transplant, n (%)	10125 (7.5)	727 (3.6)	< 0.001

<sup>1</sup>Listing.

<sup>2</sup>Most recent.

IQR: Interquartile; BMI: Body mass index; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; NASH: Non-alcohol steatohepatitis; HCC: Hepatocellular carcinoma; SBP: Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis; TIPSS: Trans-jugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt; MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease.

#### Outcomes

Kaplan-Meier survival analysis showed no significant differences in the 1, 3, and 5-year graft survival between the two groups, but overall survival was lower in the older group (Table 2). Multivariable Cox-Hazard regression analyses were performed to identify the factors associated with five-year graft failure (Table 3). Factors associated with five-year graft failure were recipient age  $\geq$  65 years, pre-LT DM, re-LT, male gender, African American race, ventilation at the time of LT, high MELD score (per 10), recipient portal vein thrombosis at time of LT, recipient HCV positive status, and high DRI. Transplants performed during the latter part of the study had a protective effect on five-year graft survival. In a subgroup analysis of older recipients, male gender, pre-LT DM, previous LT, ventilation at the time of LT, higher MELD score (per 10), portal vein thrombosis, HCV positive status, and higher DRI were associated with worse five-year graft survival (Table 4 and Figure 2).

Table 2 Donor characteristics and post-transplant outcomes			
	Young, age 18-64 ( <i>n</i> = 135758)	Older, age ≥ 65 ( <i>n</i> = 20000)	P value
Donor age (IQR)	38 (24-52)	43 (28-56)	< 0.001
Donor female, <i>n</i> (%)	53967 (39.8)	8434 (42.2)	< 0.001
Donor race, %			< 0.001
White	70.3	68.2	
Black	14.6	15.5	
Hispanic/Latino	11.6	12.4	
Asian	2.1	2.4	
Others	1.4	1.6	
Donor BMI (IQR)	25.6 (22.5-29.5)	26.2 (23.0-30.3)	< 0.001
Donor HCV, n (%)	4912 (3.6)	907 (4.5)	< 0.001
Cold ischemia time, h (IQR)	6.9 (5.0-9.0)	6.1 (4.8-8.0)	< 0.001
Donor risk index (IQR)	1.53 (1.35-1.81)	1.61 (1.38-1.94)	< 0.001
Outcomes			
LOS, d (IQR)	11 (7-20)	10 (7-19)	0.261
Graft survival rate, (%)			
1 yr	84.0	84.1	0.416
3 yr	77.0	77.1	0.206
5 yr	72.6	72.9	0.010
Overall survival rate			
1 yr	88.6	86.5	< 0.001
3 yr	82.5	79.5	< 0.001
5 yr	78.3	75.1	< 0.001

IQR: Interquartile range; BMI: Body mass index; LOS: Post-transplant length of hospital stay; HCV: Hepatitis C virus.

#### DISCUSSION

This study utilized the UNOS database to analyze the trends and outcomes of LT in older patients. The results show an overall increase in total number of LT in older population over time, as well as significant changes in the trends of the primary etiology of LT. In older recipients, univariable analysis showed comparable graft survival, while multivariable analysis showed a lower graft and overall survival. But, these inferior results in older population may otherwise be considered acceptable.

The improvements in surgical techniques and perioperative care have allowed for a gradual increase LT for older recipients[4,5]. The presence of chronic liver diseases like HCV, NASH, and associated HCC in the older patients may have led to an increase in end-stage liver disease, requiring LT[10]. The recent improvements in HCV treatment has likely played a significant role in the change in primary indication for LT. Overall, the most current common indication for LT is ALD across all ages, however, our study shows that NASH and HCC are the leading causes of LT, with no increase in ALD in the older population. Durand et al[4] have shown that in LT, older recipients have a lower chance of liver allograft rejection. Additionally, they reported that patients with non-autoimmune conditions, such as NASH and alcoholic cirrhosis, do not require higher maintenance immunosuppression compared to other LT recipients[4]. Historically a subset of patients with positive HCV serostatus had a recurrence of HCV after LT[11]. HCV recurrence post-LT and subsequent chronic HCV infection would lead to drastic consequences, as chronic inflammation, fibrosis, and ultimately graft failure<sup>[12]</sup>. However, with the development of Direct-Acting Antivirals (DAA), there has been a major shift in the primary etiology of LT with the overall decrease in need of LT for chronic HCV infection[6]. Our analyses further showed that recipient HCV status was one of the risk factors for graft failure. This was likely before the availability of DAA, which has now become the therapy of choice for effectively curing HCV infection [13]. The recent studies show that DAA achieves high sustained virologic response in LT recipients and the elimination of HCV will prevent chronic inflammation, thereby avoiding the risk of compromising



#### Table 3 Multivariable cox regression for five-year graft survival

Variables	B (SE)	Hazard ratio (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value
Year of transplant	-0.04 (0.002)	0.958 (0.955-0.961)	< 0.001
Age ≥ 65	0.24 (0.02)	1.27 (1.22-1.32)	< 0.001
Male	0.10 (0.02)	1.11 (1.08-1.14)	< 0.001
BMI (per10)	-0.05 (0.01)	0.95 (0.93-0.98)	0.001
Race			0.001
Caucasian	Ref	1.0 (Ref)	
African American	0.23 (0.02)	1.26 (1.21-1.31)	< 0.001
Hispanic	-0.11 (0.02)	0.90 (0.86-0.94)	< 0.001
Asian	-0.21 (0.04)	0.81 (0.75-0.87)	< 0.001
Pre-LT diabetes	0.20 (0.02)	1.22 (1.18-1.26)	< 0.001
Ventilation	0.51 (0.03)	1.67 (1.59-1.76)	< 0.001
Pre-LT dialysis	0.20 (0.02)	1.23 (1.17-1.28)	< 0.001
Retransplant	0.44 (0.03)	1.55 (1.47-1.63)	< 0.001
PVT	0.21 (0.03)	1.23 (1.16-1.31)	< 0.001
R <sup>1</sup> -MELD (per 10)	0.04 (0.01)	1.05 (1.03-1.06)	< 0.001
HCV recipient	0.28 (0.01)	1.33 (1.29-1.36)	< 0.001
Donor race			< 0.001
Caucasian	Ref	1.0 (Ref)	
African American	0.06 (0.02)	1.06 (1.02-1.10)	0.001
Hispanic	0.10 (0.02)	1.11 (1.06-1.16)	< 0.001
Asian	0.19 (0.04)	1.21 (1.11-1.31)	< 0.001
Donor risk index	0.34 (0.03)	1.41 (1.34-1.48)	< 0.001
Cold ischemia time	0.014(0.002)	1.014 (1.010-1.019)	< 0.001

#### <sup>1</sup>Most recent.

BMI: Body mass index; LT: Liver transplantation; PVT: Portal vein thrombosis; CI: Confidence interval; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; MELD: Model for endstage liver disease.

#### the graft[14,15].

As in our study, pre-transplant DM has previously been shown to be associated with worse outcomes in LT[16]. Diabetes is a metabolic disease and is associated with increased morbidity after LT[17,18]. The prevalence of NASH in patients with type 2 diabetes is more than 2-fold higher compared to the general population[19]. Poorly controlled diabetes is also strongly associated with NASH and accelerates the progression of liver disease. NASH and diabetes also increase cardiovascular risks[20]. These cumulative risk factors should be carefully evaluated for the post-transplant management of older patients.

In patients with cirrhosis, the requirement of mechanical ventilation at time of transplant is associated with an increased risk of post-operative mortality[21]. In our study, older patients were less likely to be intubated at the time of transplant, this would be related to cautious recipient selection. The patients' requirements for dialysis and comorbidities of kidney dysfunction also had a significant impact on the outcomes of LT[22], which is further correlated with a higher MELD score. In our study, older patients had a lower MELD score and need for dialysis at the time of transplant, which might reflect the individual transplant center selection criteria for older recipients.

There were several limitations to this study. First, primary diagnosis at the time of listing for LT was used, but this diagnosis may not be accurate. If an alternative diagnosis is found post-transplant, these changes may not be recorded in the UNOS database. Secondly, we have evaluated only the patients who received LT, which means that older patients with comorbidities and/or severe clinical conditions who were not considered to be a candidate for LT, added to the selection bias in this study. Finally, long-term data regarding the graft and overall survival among older recipients is limited.

Table 4 Multivariable cox regression for five-year graft survival in older group			
Variables	<i>B</i> (SE)	Hazard ratio (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value
Year of transplant	-0.05 (0.004)	0.954 (0.947-0.961)	< 0.001
Male	0.19 (0.04)	1.21 (1.12-1.30)	< 0.001
Re-transplant	0.41 (0.08)	1.50 (1.28-1.76)	< 0.001
Pre-LT diabetes	0.17 (0.04)	1.18 (1.10-1.27)	< 0.001
Ventilation	0.42 (0.08)	1.52 (1.30-1.76)	< 0.001
Portal vein thrombosis	0.18 (0.07)	1.20 (1.05-1.36)	0.006
MELD (per 10)	0.13 (0.02)	1.14 (1.10-1.18)	< 0.001
HCV Recipient	0.21 (0.04)	1.23 (1.15-1.33)	< 0.001
Donor age (per 10)	0.03 (0.01)	1.03 (1.002-1.054)	0.032
Donor risk index	0.25 (0.06)	1.29 (1.15-1.44)	< 0.001
Cold ischemia time	0.017 (0.006)	1.02 (1.01-1.03)	0.003

LT: Liver transplantation; MELD: Model for end-stage liver disease; HCV: Hepatitis C virus; CI: Confidence interval.





#### CONCLUSION

The number of LT in older recipients has significantly increased over time along with the change in indication of LT. Older age alone should not be a contraindication for LT, however, careful evaluation processes and postoperative care are necessary to improve the transplant outcomes.

#### **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

The average age of liver transplant and the number of liver transplant in the older recipients is increasing.

Baishidena® WJT https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Research motivation

We wanted to investigate the outcomes of expansion of criteria of liver transplantation (LT) with increasing inclusion of older recipients and donors. We also wanted to identify any potentially modifiable risk factors that may be associated lower with graft or patient survival.

#### Research objectives

We compared one, three- and five-year graft and patient survival between two groups of liver transplant recipients: Younger group (18-64 years old) and older group (≥ 65 years old) between the period of 1987-2019 in the United States.

#### Research methods

We analyzed data from the United Network for Organ Sharing database between 1987-2019. The sample was split into younger group (18-64 years old) and older group ( $\geq$  65 years old).

#### Research results

The number of LT for older patients was highest in 2019 (1920). In the older group, the percentage of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma as the primary etiology for LT was higher than younger group compared to the older group (16.4 % vs 5.9%; 14.9% vs 6.9%). On univariable analysis, there was no difference in post-transplant length of hospitalization, one-year and five-year overall survivals between the two groups. On multivariable Cox-Hazard regression analysis for graft survival, older group (hazard ratio: 1.27, P < 0.001) had higher risk of graft failure which was associated with male gender, pre-transplant diabetes, previous history of LT, ventilation at the time of LT, high model for end-stage liver disease score, recipient portal vein thrombosis, hepatitis C virus positive status, and higher donor risk index.

#### Research conclusions

Older age alone should not be considered to be a contraindication for LT.

#### Research perspectives

Careful evaluation process and postoperative care are necessary to improve transplant outcomes.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The data reported here have been supplied by the UNOS as the contractor for the OPTN. The interpretation and reporting of these data are the responsibility of the authors and in no way should be seen as an official policy of or interpretation by the OPTN or the United States Government.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Okumura K, Nishida S contributed to the study design, data analysis, data interpretation, and writing manuscript; Lee JS, Dhand A, Sogawa H, Veillette G, John D, Misawa R, Bodin R, Wolf DC, and Diflo T revised manuscript and critical revisions; and all authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: All study methods were approved by our Institutional Review Board.

Informed consent statement: The informed consent statement was waived.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Data is available on request from the authors.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: United States

**ORCID number:** Kenji Okumura 0000-0002-7751-2624; Joon Sub Lee 0000-0003-1151-1343; Abhay Dhand 0000-0003-3527-1938; Hiroshi Sogawa 0000-0003-3724-9005; Gregory Veillette 0000-0001-8635-0578; Devon John 0000-0002-2192-4929; Ryosuke Misawa 0000-0001-8429-3135; Roxana Bodin 0000-0002-8679-239X; David C Wolf 0000-0001-6819-9675; Thomas Diflo 0000-0002-4059-2309; Seigo Nishida 0000-0002-1504-3551.



Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Kim D, Li AA, Gadiparthi C, Khan MA, Cholankeril G, Glenn JS, Ahmed A. Changing Trends in Etiology-Based Annual Mortality From Chronic Liver Disease, From 2007 Through 2016. Gastroenterology 2018; 155: 1154-1163.e3 [PMID: 30009816 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.008]
- Asrani SK, Devarbhavi H, Eaton J, Kamath PS. Burden of liver diseases in the world. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 151-171 2 [PMID: 30266282 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.09.014]
- Kwong AJ, Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Schladt DP, Skeans MA, Noreen SM, Foutz J, Booker SE, Cafarella M, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2019 Annual Data Report: Liver. Am J Transplant 2021; 21 Suppl 2: 208-315 [PMID: 33595192 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16494]
- Durand F, Levitsky J, Cauchy F, Gilgenkrantz H, Soubrane O, Francoz C. Age and liver transplantation. J Hepatol 2019; 70: 745-758 [PMID: 30576701 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.12.009]
- Su F, Yu L, Berry K, Liou IW, Landis CS, Rayhill SC, Reyes JD, Ioannou GN. Aging of Liver Transplant Registrants and 5 Recipients: Trends and Impact on Waitlist Outcomes, Post-Transplantation Outcomes, and Transplant-Related Survival Benefit. Gastroenterology 2016; 150: 441-53.e6; quiz e16 [PMID: 26522262 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.10.043]
- 6 Puigvehí M, Hashim D, Haber PK, Dinani A, Schiano TD, Asgharpour A, Kushner T, Kakked G, Tabrizian P, Schwartz M, Gurakar A, Dieterich D, Boffetta P, Friedman SL, Llovet JM, Saberi B. Liver transplant for hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States: Evolving trends over the last three decades. Am J Transplant 2020; 20: 220-230 [PMID: 31437349 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15576]
- 7 Mathurin P, Lucey MR. Liver transplantation in patients with alcohol-related liver disease: current status and future directions. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 507-514 [PMID: 32277903 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(19)30451-0]
- 8 Brancaccio G, Vitale A, Signoriello G, Gaeta GB, Cillo U. Changing indications for liver transplant: slow decline of hepatitis viruses in Italy. Infect Dis (Lond) 2020; 52: 557-562 [PMID: 32401092 DOI: 10.1080/23744235.2020.1763453]
- 9 Feng S, Goodrich NP, Bragg-Gresham JL, Dykstra DM, Punch JD, DebRoy MA, Greenstein SM, Merion RM. Characteristics associated with liver graft failure: the concept of a donor risk index. Am J Transplant 2006; 6: 783-790 [PMID: 16539636 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01242.x]
- 10 Shirazi F, Wang J, Wong RJ. Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis Becomes the Leading Indication for Liver Transplant Registrants Among US Adults Born Between 1945 and 1965. J Clin Exp Hepatol 2020; 10: 30-36 [PMID: 32025164 DOI: 10.1016/j.jceh.2019.06.007]
- Berenguer M. What determines the natural history of recurrent hepatitis C after liver transplantation? J Hepatol 2005; 42: 11 448-456 [PMID: 15763325 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2005.01.011]
- 12 Berenguer M, Schuppan D. Progression of liver fibrosis in post-transplant hepatitis C: mechanisms, assessment and treatment. J Hepatol 2013; 58: 1028-1041 [PMID: 23262248 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.12.014]
- Li H, Huang MH, Jiang JD, Peng ZG. Hepatitis C: From inflammatory pathogenesis to anti-inflammatory/hepatoprotective 13 therapy. World J Gastroenterol 2018; 24: 5297-5311 [PMID: 30598575 DOI: 10.3748/wig.v24.i47.5297]
- Cotter TG, Paul S, Sandıkçı B, Couri T, Bodzin AS, Little EC, Sundaram V, Charlton M. Improved Graft Survival After 14 Liver Transplantation for Recipients With Hepatitis C Virus in the Direct-Acting Antiviral Era. Liver Transpl 2019; 25: 598-609 [PMID: 30716208 DOI: 10.1002/lt.25424]
- 15 Kwong AJ, Wall A, Melcher M, Wang U, Ahmed A, Subramanian A, Kwo PY. Liver transplantation for hepatitis C virus (HCV) non-viremic recipients with HCV viremic donors. Am J Transplant 2019; 19: 1380-1387 [PMID: 30378723 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15162]
- Zhang Q, Deng YL, Liu C, Huang LH, Shang L, Chen XG, Wang LT, Du JZ, Wang Y, Wang PX, Zhang H, Shen ZY. 16 Diabetes mellitus may affect the long-term survival of hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma patients after liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol 2016; 22: 9571-9585 [PMID: 27920478 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i43.9571]
- 17 John PR, Thuluvath PJ. Outcome of liver transplantation in patients with diabetes mellitus: a case-control study. Hepatology 2001; 34: 889-895 [PMID: 11679959 DOI: 10.1053/jhep.2001.29134]
- 18 Gray M, Singh S, Zucker SD. Influence of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Preoperative Hemoglobin A1c Levels on Outcomes of Liver Transplantation. Hepatol Commun 2019; 3: 574-586 [PMID: 30976746 DOI: 10.1002/hep4.1323]
- Younossi ZM, Golabi P, de Avila L, Paik JM, Srishord M, Fukui N, Qiu Y, Burns L, Afendy A, Nader F. The global 19 epidemiology of NAFLD and NASH in patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hepatol 2019; 71: 793-801 [PMID: 31279902 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2019.06.021]
- Targher G, Day CP, Bonora E. Risk of cardiovascular disease in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. N Engl J 20 Med 2010; 363: 1341-1350 [PMID: 20879883 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra0912063]
- Yuan H, Tuttle-Newhall JE, Chawa V, Schnitzler MA, Xiao H, Axelrod D, Dzebisashvili N, Lentine KL. Prognostic 21 impact of mechanical ventilation after liver transplantation: a national database study. Am J Surg 2014; 208: 582-590 [PMID: 25151187 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2014.06.004]
- 22 Weber ML, Ibrahim HN, Lake JR. Renal dysfunction in liver transplant recipients: evaluation of the critical issues. Liver Transpl 2012; 18: 1290-1301 [PMID: 22847917 DOI: 10.1002/lt.23522]



World Journal of WJT Transplantation

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com World J Transplant 2022 August 18; 12(8): 268-280

DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.268

ISSN 2220-3230 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

## Gastrointestinal manifestations, risk factors, and management in patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder: A systematic review

William Reiche, Abubakar Tauseef, Ahmed Sabri, Mohsin Mirza, David Cantu, Peter Silberstein, Saurabh Chandan

Specialty type: Transplantation	William Reiche, Abubakar Tauseef, Mohsin Mirza, Department of Medicine, CHI Creighton University Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68124, United States
<b>Provenance and peer review:</b> Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.	Ahmed Sabri, David Cantu, Department of Pathology, CHI Creighton University Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68124, United States
Peer-review model: Single blind	<b>Peter Silberstein</b> , Division of Hematology and Oncology, Department of Medicine, CHI Creighton University Medical Center, Omaha NE 68124, United States
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B, B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): D, D, D Grade E (Poor): 0	<ul> <li>Saurabh Chandan, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Medicine, CHI Creighton University Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68124, United States</li> <li>Corresponding author: William Reiche, DO, Doctor, Department of Medicine, CHI Creighton University Medical Center, 7500 Mercy Road, Omaha, NE 68124, United States.</li> <li>reichewilliam@gmail.com</li> </ul>
<b>P-Reviewer:</b> Bellini MI, Italy; Bos S,	Abstract
United Kingdom; Ferreira GSA,	BACKGROUND
D, India	Patients with a history of solid organ transplantation (SOT) or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) are at an increased risk of developing post-transplant
Received: January 7, 2022	lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD). The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is commonly
Peer-review started: January 7,	affected as it has an abundance of B and T cells.
2022	4134
First decision: March 9, 2022	To determine typical GL-manifestations, risk factors for developing PTLD, and
Revised: March 24, 2022	management.
Accepted: August 5, 2022	8
Article in press: August 5, 2022	METHODS
Published online: August 18, 2022	Major databases were searched until November 2021.
(a):24.48()(a)	RESHITS

Non-case report studies that described GI manifestations of PTLD, risk factors for developing PTLD, and management of PTLD were included. Nine articles written within the last 20 years were included in the review. All articles found that patients with a history of SOT, regardless of transplanted organ, have a propensity to develop GI-PTLD.



#### **CONCLUSION**

GI tract manifestations may be nonspecific; therefore, consideration of risk factors is crucial for identifying GI-PTLD. Like other lymphoma variants, PTLD is very aggressive making early diagnosis key to prognosis. Initial treatment is reduction of immunosuppression which is effective in more than 50% of cases; however, additional therapy including rituximab, chemotherapy, and surgery may also be required.

Key Words: Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder; Gastrointestinal manifestations; Reduction of immunosuppression; Risk factors; Epstein-Barr virus

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Patients with a history of solid-organ or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation are at an increased risk of developing post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD). The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is commonly affected as it has an abundance of B and T-cells. GI tract manifestations may be nonspecific; therefore, consideration of risk factors is crucial for identifying GI-PTLD. Like other lymphoma variants, PTLD is very aggressive making early diagnosis key to prognosis. Initial treatment is reduction of immunosuppression which is effective in more than 50% of cases; however, additional therapy including surgery and chemotherapy may also be required. We performed a systematic review of GI-PTLD to better describe GI manifestations, risk factors for disease, and management of GI-PTLD.

Citation: Reiche W, Tauseef A, Sabri A, Mirza M, Cantu D, Silberstein P, Chandan S. Gastrointestinal manifestations, risk factors, and management in patients with post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder: A systematic review. World J Transplant 2022; 12(8): 268-280 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2220-3230/full/v12/i8/268.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.268

#### INTRODUCTION

While primary and secondary lymphoid neoplasms only constitute 1%-4% of all gastrointestinal (GI) malignancies[1,2]; post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) is one of the most common post-transplant malignancies within the GI tract. PTLD is a lymphoma variant which can manifest in patients having solid organ transplantation (SOT) or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). Patients with a history of SOT are at increased risk of developing PTLD which may be more prone to develop in the GI tract. Review of the typical GI symptoms and timing of symptom development will be invaluable to the clinician caring for patients with a transplantation history, especially as this patient population continues to grow. Risk factors for developing PTLD are important to identify as PTLD can present in a myriad of ways and clinical suspicion greatly aids in timely evaluation and treatment for PTLD. We performed a review of the GI manifestations of PTLD. We described risk factors associated with the development of PTLD. Additionally, we reviewed the management of patients diagnosed with PTLD and associated complications.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Protocol

This review has been in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Statement (PRISMA)[5].

#### Eligibility criteria, literature search, and search strategy

An expert librarian conducted a systematic literature search using a priori protocol to identify studies reporting on GI-PTLD manifestations, risk factors for the development of GI-PTLD, and management of GI-PTLD. The search strategies included "gastrointestinal manifestations", "risk factors", "management", "reduction of immunosuppression", "post-transplant", "lymphoproliferative disorder", "EBV", and "PTLD". The search was run in November 2021 across multiple databases, including Medline, and Scopus. The search was restricted to articles in English and identified searches were exported to a reference manager (EndNote). We cross-checked reference lists of identified sources for additional relevant studies. We also cited high-quality articles in Reference Citation Analysis (https://www.refere



#### ncecitationanalysis.com).

#### Study selection

This systematic review included studies that evaluated GI manifestations of PTLD. Studies were included irrespective of primary organ transplantation. Information was gathered from nine of the most relevant articles pertaining to GI-PTLD. Additional studies were incorporated to provide background on PTLD manifestations, risk factors, imaging, treatment, and outcomes. Studies reporting performance in pediatric age groups (< 18 years), conference abstracts, and non-English studies were excluded. Studies were restricted to full text. Two authors decided on the final selection (Reiche W, Tauseef A). Details presented in PRISMA flow diagram (Supplementary Figure 1).

#### RESULTS

PTLD can manifest as nodal or more commonly as extranodal disease occurring in solid organ tissue outside of lymph nodes[6]. The most involved extranodal sites are the GI tract (23%-30%), lungs (4%-23%), bone marrow (15%-17%), central nervous system (5%-15%), liver (5%-13%), and the allograft itself (15%-19%)[7-9] in Figure 1. The GI tract is one of the most affected organs due to the preponderance of B and T lymphocytes which are prone to develop malignant change [10]. Patients with GI-PTLD usually present with nonspecific constitutional symptoms including fatigue, fever, night sweats, lymphadenopathy, and weight loss[11,12]. Not uncommonly, patients may also have nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, abdominal fullness, diarrhea or increased ostomy output, and occult or evident bleeding. PTLD may present as a small bowel obstruction, GI bleeding, gastric or intestinal perforation, or obstruction [13].

One study evaluating the location of PTLD found the stomach was one of the most common sites of involvement. Out of a total of 472 patients, 56 patients (11.9%) had gastric PTLD while 415 patients (88.1%) had PTLD in other locations[13] (Table 1). The small bowel is another common area of involvement, PTLD of the small bowel was diagnosed in 50% of patients having PTLD after small bowel transplantation (SBT)[14]. In patients requiring surgery for GI-PTLD complications, organ involvement varied: Small bowel (50%), proximal right colon (31.2%), and stomach, duodenum, and transverse colon (6.2%)[15]

SOT or HSCT are known risk factors for developing lymphoma or other lymphoproliferative disorders<sup>[11]</sup>. While studies have shown GI-PTLD can develop after most types of transplant, the incidence of PTLD after intestinal transplantation was determined to be higher than other types of SOT [16]. The mean time to PTLD varies and is dependent on host factors and transplant type. One study found the mean time for development of PTLD is 1 year for patients having HSCT, while the time to PTLD presentation may be up to 7 years after SOT[11,16-18]. The mean interval from transplantation to PTLD diagnosis after SBT was 2.7 years[14]. After liver transplantation, the average time from transplantation to diagnosis of PTLD was 7.2 years[15].

Induction and maintenance regimens are selected based on the risk of acute organ rejection associated with the transplant. T-cell depleting therapy (recombinant anti-thymocyte globulin), interleukin-2 receptor subunit alpha (IL2RA), or no immunosuppression may be used for induction therapy. For instance, for adult heart transplants, T-cell depleting therapy is most commonly used for induction; however half of transplant patients do not receive induction<sup>[19]</sup>. In lung transplants, induction therapy is used nearly 80% of the time and most commonly IL2RA are used[20,21]. For kidney transplants, induction therapy is provided 90% of the time and is usually T-cell depleting therapy[22,23]. Most commonly, induction is not used after liver transplant[24,25]. For pancreas transplant induction, T-cell depleting therapy is most commonly used (90%)[26]. Lastly, intestinal transplant induction is usually comprised of T-cell depleting agents (63.9%) or no induction (27.8%)[27]. Current trends in maintenance immunosuppression therapy for pancreas, heart, lung, kidney, liver, intestinal transplants are as follows: Pancreas transplants most often use tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) and nearly 70% of patients are on corticosteroids<sup>[26]</sup>. Heart transplant maintenance therapy most often includes tacrolimus and MMF and corticosteroids are used nearly 50% of the time [19]. Lung transplants typically are treated with tacrolimus, MMF, and corticosteroids (80%)[21]. Kidney transplants are either treated with tacrolimus, MMF, and corticosteroids (54.1%) or tacrolimus and MMF (36.8%)[22,23]. Liver transplants are typically treated with tacrolimus, MMF, and steroids in 65% of patients[24,25]. Intestinal transplants are treated with tacrolimus (73%) and corticosteroids may be used (37.4%)[28].

Imaging findings of GI-PTLD are variable and can appear as wall thickening, dilatation, an eccentric or exophytic mass, luminal ulceration, short segment intussusception, and soft tissue nodules in the peritoneum (Figure 2)[12]. Solid organ involvement is usually in the form of infiltrating lesions appearing as a solitary or a multi-nodular mass<sup>[17]</sup>. Additional risk factors for developing GI-PTLD include induction immunosuppression, prolonged duration of immunosuppression, younger age, fewer human leukocyte antigen matches, use of anti-lymphocyte antibodies, prior splenectomy, cytomegalovirus (CMV), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), hepatitis C, and human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8)[10,12,15,17,29, 30] (Table 2). EBV is the most common risk factor for developing PTLD, risk is higher in recipients who

Table 1 Study detai	IS			
Def	Localization of PTLD	Time from transplant to PTLD (yr)	Classification	
Ref.			Monomorphic	Polymorphic
Wozniak <i>et al</i> [17]	Small bowel: 9/19	7.4	9/19	10/19
	Colorectal: 3/19			
	Liver: 2/19			
Koo <i>et al</i> [14]	Small bowel: 11/12	2.7	1/12	8/12
	Colorectal: 1/12			
Khedmat <i>et al</i> [13]	Stomach + small bowel: 13/45	4.1	23/39	13/39
	Stomach + pancreas: 3/45			
	Stomach + liver: 7/45			
	Stomach: 56/472			
Khedmat <i>et al</i> [16]	Colorectal + liver: 10/73	4.1	36/57	18/57
	Colorectal + small bowel: 22/73			
	Colorectal + stomach: 2/73			
	Colorectal: 81/563			
Cruz Jr <i>et al</i> [15]	Colorectal: 6/17	7.2	13/17	3/17
	Small bowel: 11/17			
Ganne et al[18]	Small bowel: 1/8	4.8	0/2	2/2
	Stomach: 1/8			

PTLD: Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder.





are initially seronegative but develop positivity after transplantation[15,31,32]. EBV can be transmitted via the graft; however, non-leukoreduced blood products also have the potential to transmit EBV[31]. EBV is present in 60%-70% of patients diagnosed with PTLD[30]. CMV can increase the likelihood of developing PTLD by seven times[33,34]. Hepatitis C and HHV-8 are also risk factors for developing PTLD especially when patients have EBV seropositivity[33]. If more than one risk factor is present, there appears to be cumulative risk[35].

According to the revised 2017 World Health Organization classification of tumors of hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues, PTLD is categorized into four major groups based on morphologic pattern: Nondestructive PTLD, monomorphic PTLD, polymorphic PTLD, and classic Hodgkin lymphoma PTLD. Apart from the polymorphic group, all other groups are further sub-categorized. Non-destructive PTLD are usually EBV-positive and are characterized by architectural preservation of the involved tissue without features suggestive of malignant lymphoma. The subcategories for non-destructive PTLD include plasmacytic hyperplasia, florid follicular hyperplasia, and infectious mononucleosis PTLD. Monomorphic or polymorphic PTLD may follow non-destructive PTLD lesions; however, most nondestructive PTLD have polyclonal B-cells. Polymorphic-PTLD are characterized by a heterogenous population that includes immunoblasts, plasma cells, and small to moderate sized lymphoid cells that



Table 2 Stu	dy details regarding gastrointestinal post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder
Ref.	Noted findings regarding GI-PTLD
Plummer <i>et</i> al[11]	PTLD presentation is non-specific. Prognosis is variable dependent on burden of disease, age at the time of diagnosis, and morphological subtype
Small <i>et al</i> [7]	EBV infection is crucial in the pathophysiology of PTLD. EBV+ patients are more likely to respond to RIS. Chemotherapy can be utilized after RIS if RIS appears unsuccessful
Dako <i>et al</i> [ <mark>12</mark> ]	Imaging of PTLD involving GI tract is variable. Imaging of PTLD may appear as a large mass, luminal ulceration, intussusception, or soft tissue nodules
Wozniak et al[ <mark>17</mark> ]	Risk of acute cellular rejection increased when treatment for PTLD occurred. Notable risk factors for PTLD include chronic immunosup- pression, viral infection, and increased time from transplantation
Koo et al[14]	Incidence rate of PTLD after small bowel transplantation was up to 50%
Khedmat <i>et</i> al[ <mark>13</mark> ]	Clinical presentation of PTLD is nonspecific. Early treatment with RIS, rituximab, chemotherapy, or surgical therapy, if indicated, can decrease mortality rates
Khedmat et al[16]	Patients with PTLD and colorectal symptoms were noted to have a higher risk of metastatic disease. Colorectal PTLD may occur more frequently and may be more aggressive in men compared to women. Multi-organ failure may be more common in men compared to women if there is colorectal PTLD
Cruz Jr <i>et al</i> [ <mark>15</mark> ]	Surgical intervention uncommonly required for PTLD. Most common surgical need is for intestinal obstruction
Ganne et al [18]	PTLD was found to respond to rituximab irrespective of EBV status. Patients with higher EBV titers usually benefited from combination RIS, rituximab, and CHOP therapy. EBV-specific donor cytotoxic lymphocyte infusions may be effective but may lead to graft rejection. GI bleeding may be a presenting feature of disease

PTLD: Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder; EBV: Epstein-Barr virus; RIS: Immunosuppression; GI: Gastrointestinal.



DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.268 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 2 Endoscopic appearance of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder. A: Nodular and ulcerated mucosa noted in the sigmoid colon; B: Ulcerated rectal mass.

> efface the architecture of lymph nodes or may form destructive lesions but do not fulfill the criteria for lymphoma. Most cases of polymorphic-PTLD are EBV-positive. Monomorphic PTLD comprise 60%-80% of all PTLD and fulfill criteria for B-cell or T/natural killer-cell neoplasms (Figures 3-6). The least common form of PTLD are the classic Hodgkin lymphoma PTLD which are almost always EBV-positive [36].

> Distinction is often made between early PTLD and late PTLD. The former more often associated with EBV positivity and graft involvement while less commonly associated with monomorphic morphology and less often presenting as extranodal disease[8]. Treatment has not been found to differ based on this categorization[29,37,38]. Studies comparing early vs late PTLD have not shown a significant difference in survival[39,40]. Determination of EBV status is a crucial first step after the diagnosis of GI-PTLD has been made. EBV-specific cytotoxic T-cell immunity or donor lymphocyte infusions have been used as second line therapies if reduction of immunosuppression (RIS) or rituximab is not working, patients with EBV may be more responsive to RIS than patients without EBV[7,18]. However, there is no approved treatment in the United States or Europe. Several studies have failed to show improvement with antivirals alone in instances when patients have EBV and PTLD[29,31,,40,,41,].

> Once GI-PTLD diagnosis has been confirmed with endoscopic biopsy, patients can be managed with RIS, chemotherapy, and surgical intervention for complications<sup>[11]</sup>. The most important first step in





DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.268 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 3 Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, monomorphic type (extranodal marginal zone lymphoma of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue) arising in a sigmoid colon polyp. A: 4 ×/6 mm; B: 60 ×/400 µm; C: 100 ×/240 µm; D: 100 ×/240 µm. Hematoxylin & eosin stain showed a dense lymphoid infiltrate in the lamina propria composed of monotonous small-sized lymphoid cells with mature chromatin and abundant clear cytoplasm. Ki-67 showed low proliferation index.



DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.268 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 4 Immunohistochemical and in-situ hybridization staining of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, monomorphic type (extranodal marginal zone lymphoma of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue) arising in a sigmoid colon polyp. A: CD20, 100 ×/240 µm; B: Bcell lymphoma (BCL)-2, 100 ×/240 µm; C: CD10, 100 ×/240 µm; D: BCL-6, 100 ×/240 µm; E: CD5, 100 ×/240 µm; F: EBER-ISH (inset: Positive control), 100 ×/240 µm. The monotonous small-size lymphocytes stained positive for CD20 and B-cell lymphoma-2 and were negative for the rest of the stains.

> treatment is RIS[11,15]. Immunosuppressant therapy is usually decreased to 50% for calcineurininhibitors (cyclosporine, tacrolimus) and MMF or azathioprine, if also prescribed, are discontinued[42]. In the largest study to date evaluating the efficacy of standard RIS, response was nearly 45%. Rates of up to 80% have been reported [31]. More than 70% of the time, RIS will be efficacious regardless of PTLD subtype, EBV status, and early vs late disease. RIS may not be sufficient in monomorphic PTLD[43]. RIS may not work if the disease is bulky, the cancer stage is severe, if multi-organ dysfunction is present, if



Zaishidena® WJT | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.268 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 5 Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, monomorphic type (diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, non-germinal center type) arising from an ulcerated anal mass. A: 4 ×/6 mm; B: 60 ×/400 µm; C: 100 ×/240 µm; D: 100 ×/240 µm. Hematoxylin & eosin stain showed a diffuse lymphoid infiltrate composed of large pleomorphic cells with clear to eosinophilic cytoplasm, irregular nuclear contours, and prominent nucleoli in a background of fibroadipose tissue. Ki-67 showed high proliferation index.

> quick treatment is needed, or for older adults[33,44]. Although beneficial as the first step in management, RIS can be associated with acute cellular rejection with the highest risk in the first year after transplantation[36].

> If RIS is not sufficient, patients should be considered for antiviral therapy, rituximab, and chemotherapy<sup>[7]</sup>. Treatment is dependent on the PTLD subtype. Classical Hodgkin lymphoma PTLD is treated with standard adriamycin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine. Patients with PTLD diffuse large B-cell lymphoma type are treated according to the PTLD-1 trial with rituximab induction (weekly rituximab for four weeks) followed by stratification based on response. Patients in clinical remission may be treated with maintenance rituximab weekly for 4 wk. Patients with a suboptimal response may be treated with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone (Figure 7)[45].

> Rituximab has been found to be an effective therapy for PTLD. In one study including 8 patients with PTLD after SOT, complete resolution of PTLD was observed in 7 cases. Rituximab was administered at a dose of 375 mg/m<sup>2</sup> once a week for four consecutive weeks. Additionally, this study found patients with PTLD usually respond to anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies irrespective of EBV status[18]. Radiotherapy has been found to have a favorable effect in stage 1 plasmacytoma-like PTLD; however, it is infrequently used for solitary PTLD. Radiotherapy is most often utilized in treatment for central nervous system PTLD[45].

> Surgery should be considered in patients who develop GI complications including perforation, hemorrhage, and most commonly intestinal obstruction. Surgical resection is rarely considered in patients as PTLD tends to be multi-focal. A retrospective review of 5677 patients after isolated liver transplantation found only 16 patients developed post-transplantation GI complications associated with PTLD requiring surgical intervention. Overall mortality in this cohort was 69% and most patients died within the first year of explorative laparotomy. This same study found initial mortality higher in patients receiving surgery; however, long-term outcomes do not appear to be affected [15]. Prognosis is dependent on burden of disease, location of PTLD, morphological subtype, and other patient-related factors[11]. Once present, PTLD progression is aggressive; however, early appropriate treatment can decrease mortality rates. In one study comparing gastric PTLD and non-gastric PTLD, patients developing GI-PTLD had survival rates of 71% and 54% at one and five years, respectively [13].

> Mortality rates in patients requiring surgery compared to rituximab and chemotherapy found no significant difference between treatment type. Mortality associated with surgical treatment was 16%, like that observed in patients who received rituximab. While mortality rates in patients treated with





DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v12.i8.268 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 6 Immunohistochemical and *in-situ* hybridization staining of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, monomorphic type (diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, non-germinal center type) arising from an ulcerated anal mass. A: CD20, 100 ×/240 µm; B: CD10, 100 ×/240 µm; C: B-cell lymphoma (BCL)-6, 100 ×/240 µm; D: MUM-1, 100 ×/240 µm; E: c-MYC, 100 ×/240 µm; F: BCL-2, 100 ×/240 µm; G: CD30, 100 ×/240 µm; H: CD21, 100 ×/240 µm; I: EBER-ISH (inset: Positive control), 100 ×/240 µm. The large pleomorphic lymphocytes stained positive for CD20, B-cell lymphoma (BCL)-6, MUM-1, and BCL-2. These cells had a borderline staining for c-MYC (30%-40%), but FISH studies were negative for c-MYC rearrangements. CD30 was positive only in a subset of cells. EBER-ISH was negative.CD21 was negative and showed loss of follicular dendritic meshwork.

> chemotherapy and radiotherapy with interferon alfa were 42.6% and 33%, respectively<sup>[13]</sup>. A favorable response to treatment has been noted in EBV-positive patients as they were more responsive to RIS compared to EBV-negative patients<sup>[29]</sup>. Similarly, a favorable outcome was also noted in patients who had localization to the stomach[13].

> Conversely, colorectal involvement has been associated with a more severe disease presentation than PTLD involving non-colorectal sites. In one study, 75% of patients who developed colorectal symptoms had multi-organ involvement, significantly higher than the control group[16]. This same study found colorectal involvement was more likely in men. Male transplant patients developed colorectal PTLD more often than women 19.3% to 8.5%, respectively. Similarly, male transplant patients had a significantly shorter time from transplantation to diagnosis of the disease.

#### DISCUSSION

PTLD should be considered in patients with a history of SOT or HSCT as the large resident lymphocyte population in the GI tract has increased potential to develop malignancy. PTLD should be suspected to occur sooner after HSCT, within 1 year, and on average 4 to 5 years after SOT. However, there are multiple factors which appear to have a role in the time to development such as level of immunosuppression and presence of concomitant disease. Transplant type also appears to impact time to development as induction, maintenance, and the extent of inherent lymphoid tissue in the graft all contribute to the relative risk of developing PTLD. For instance, PTLD occurred sooner on average after small bowel transplant and later for liver transplant; in the studies reviewed, there was an approximate 4.5-year difference in time to onset of PTLD. Induction therapy, associated with increased risk of PTLD, is less frequently used after liver transplant while it is commonly used after intestinal transplants. The small bowel also has a greater supply of lymphoid tissue compared to the liver.

Diagnosis of PTLD can be problematic as the clinical spectrum and diagnostic testing are nonspecific. The illness script of PTLD is highly variable ranging from nonspecific abdominal symptoms to overt hemorrhage, perforation, or obstruction. The stomach and small intestine are the most frequently involved organs in the GI tract making clinical questioning and inquiry of symptoms which may





Figure 7 Workflow of the treatment for post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder. PTLD: Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder; EBV: Epstein-Barr virus; GI: Gastrointestinal; MMF: Mycophenolate mofetil; ABVD: Doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine; DLBCL: Diffuse large B-cell lymphomas.

> represent pathology in these organs important. Imaging findings of PTLD in the GI tract may range from focal intraluminal disease to perforation or metastatic disease. The various clinical presentations and wide-ranging imaging findings make it difficult to specifically identify PTLD by clinical presentation or imaging alone.

> Consideration of PTLD should increase in patients with risk factors. Most importantly determination of EBV-status and risk factors for EBV infection need to be determined. EBV infection has been noted to increase the risk of PTLD by 6-76 times[46]. As mentioned previously, elucidation of details surrounding the transplant including transplant type, determination of RIS regimen including whether induction therapy was utilized are important. As transplantation continues to increase, so will the number of patients at risk for development of PTLD[14,19,22,23,25].

> Like other lymphomas, PTLD is aggressive and mortality rates improve with early treatment. Prognosis and treatment are dependent on time of disease presentation, morphological subtype of PTLD, and concomitant systemic disease. The most important step in management is RIS; which is usually efficacious. Subsequently, rituximab and chemotherapy based on morphologic subtype have been found to be effective[18]. Differences in outcomes between surgery and treatment with rituximab are not well elucidated, nor is the role of endoscopy in management of PTLD. Broadly, treatment must consider both the risk of acute graft rejection and worsening lymphoproliferative disorder.

#### CONCLUSION

This study is a systematic review elucidating GI manifestations, associations, and management of GI-PTLD. Key points after review of the included studies are the presentation, imaging, and direct appearance of GI-PTLD is highly variable making clinical suspicion essential for timely diagnosis. Patients with nonspecific GI symptoms, and history of organ transplantation, should be evaluated for



GI-PTLD. Early detection is key for prognosis. Lastly, treatment is dependent on several factors and may include RIS, rituximab, chemotherapy, surgery, or a combination of these interventions. Initial treatment is intuitive and technically easy; however, RIS can be associated with acute graft rejections.

#### ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

#### Research background

Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) is one of the most common post-transplant malignancies within the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. PTLD is a lymphoma variant which can manifest in patients having solid organ transplantation (SOT) or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT).

#### Research motivation

The current understanding of GI manifestations of PTLD including timing to development, risk factors for development, and treatment is limited by small sample size. Previous studies have noted a propensity for the GI tract to develop PTLD; therefore, more information regarding when it may develop, how it manifests, and treatments are needed especially as transplantation becomes more prevalent.

#### Research objectives

To identify the timing and clinical presentation of GI-PTLD, risk factors for its development, and treatment.

#### Research methods

We performed a systematic review after an extensive literature search.

#### Research results

The timing of GI-PTLD is variable but on average develops 4-5 years following SOT and may occur within 1 year after HSCT. Presentation may be insidious including nonspecific abdominal discomfort to fulminant hemorrhage, perforation, or obstruction. GI-PTLD is most likely to develop in the small intestine and stomach. Transplant type, level of induction and maintenance immunosuppression, Epstein-Barr virus-status among other risk factors increase the likelihood one may develop PTLD. PTLD is aggressive and mortality improves with early treatment which is dependent on extent of disease, and morphological subtype. The most important step of therapy is reduction of immunosuppression (RIS) which usually is effective.

#### Research conclusions

The presentation, imaging, and direct appearance of GI-PTLD is highly variable making clinical suspicion key for diagnosis. Early detection is key for prognosis; therefore, consideration of risk factors is essential. Treatment is dependent on several factors and may include RIS, rituximab, chemotherapy, surgery, or a combination of these interventions. Initial treatment is intuitive and technically easy; however, RIS can be associated with acute graft rejections.

#### Research perspectives

This study suggests ascertainment of risk factors is crucial for increasing clinical suspicion when assessing patients who may have GI-PTLD. The clinical and radiological presentation of GI-PTLD is highly variable; therefore, a high index of suspicion for GI-PTLD must be maintained so that early endoscopic diagnosis may allow for targeted treatment. Future prospective studies are needed to better elucidate incidence rates of GI-PTLD and the role of endoscopy in treatment.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Reiche W, Tauseef A, and Sabri A involved in data acquisition; Reiche W drafted the article, final approval; Tauseef A contributed to the data acquisition; Sabri A involved in pathology figures, drafting the article; Mirza M, Cantu D, Silberstein P, Chandan S involved in critical revision, final approval.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-



NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: United States

**ORCID** number: William Reiche 0000-0001-8797-5764; Abubakar Tauseef 0000-0002-4317-1868; Ahmed Sabri 0000-0002-9220-4187; Mohsin Mirza 0000-0001-5454-3439; David Cantu 0000-0001-9993-1312; Peter Silberstein 0000-0003-1300-0846; Saurabh Chandan 0000-0002-2661-6693.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

#### REFERENCES

- Loehr WJ, Mujahed Z, Zahn FD, Gray GF, Thorbjarnarson B. Primary lymphoma of the gastrointestinal tract: a review of 1 100 cases. Ann Surg 1969; 170: 232-238 [PMID: 5796708 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-196908000-00011]
- McSwain B, Beal JM. Lymphosarcoma of the Gastro-Intestinal Tract: Report of Twenty Cases. Ann Surg 1944; 119: 108-123 [PMID: 17858334 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-194411910-00005]
- 3 Lahon B, Mordant P, Thabut G, Georger JF, Dauriat G, Mal H, Lesèche G, Castier Y. Early severe digestive complications after lung transplantation. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011; 40: 1419-1424 [PMID: 21497510 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2011.02.069]
- 4 Timrott K, Vondran FW, Jaeger MD, Gottlieb J, Klempnauer J, Becker T. Incidence and outcome of abdominal surgical interventions following lung transplantation--a single center experience. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2011; 396: 1231-1237 [PMID: 21400068 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-011-0754-2]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-5 analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009; 339: b2535 [PMID: 19622551 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b2535]
- Kinch A, Baecklund E, Backlin C, Ekman T, Molin D, Tufveson G, Fernberg P, Sundström C, Pauksens K, Enblad G. A 6 population-based study of 135 Lymphomas after solid organ transplantation: The role of Epstein-Barr virus, hepatitis C and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma subtype in clinical presentation and survival. Acta Oncol 2014; 53: 669-679 [PMID: 24164103 DOI: 10.3109/0284186X.2013.844853]
- Small S, Barnea Slonim L, Williams C, Karmali R. B Cell Lymphomas of the GI Tract. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 2021; 23: 7 9 [PMID: 33963950 DOI: 10.1007/s11894-021-00811-8]
- Gupta D, Mendonca S, Chakraborty S, Chatterjee T. Post Transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorder. Indian J Hematol 8 Blood Transfus 2020; 36: 229-237 [PMID: 32425371 DOI: 10.1007/s12288-019-01182-x]
- Dierickx D, Tousseyn T, Sagaert X, Fieuws S, Wlodarska I, Morscio J, Brepoels L, Kuypers D, Vanhaecke J, Nevens F, Verleden G, Van Damme-Lombaerts R, Renard M, Pirenne J, De Wolf-Peeters C, Verhoef G. Single-center analysis of biopsy-confirmed posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder: incidence, clinicopathological characteristics and prognostic factors. Leuk Lymphoma 2013; 54: 2433-2440 [PMID: 23442063 DOI: 10.3109/10428194.2013.780655]
- Neuringer IP. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease after lung transplantation. Clin Dev Immunol 2013; 2013: 430209 10 [PMID: 23533455 DOI: 10.1155/2013/430209]
- Plummer RM, Linden MA, Beckman AK. Update on B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders of the gastrointestinal tract. 11 Semin Diagn Pathol 2021; 38: 14-20 [PMID: 33863577 DOI: 10.1053/j.semdp.2021.03.006]
- Dako F, Hota P, Kahn M, Kumaran M, Agosto O. Post-lung transplantation abdominopelvic complications: the role of 12 multimodal imaging. Abdom Radiol (NY) 2020; 45: 1202-1213 [PMID: 31552464 DOI: 10.1007/s00261-019-02229-3]
- 13 Khedmat H, Ghamar-Chehreh ME, Amini M, Agah S, Taheri S. Localization of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders to the stomach might be associated with favorable outcome: a systematic review. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl 2014; 25: 353-361 [PMID: 24626003 DOI: 10.4103/1319-2442.128543]
- 14 Koo J, Dawson DW, Dry S, French SW, Naini BV, Wang HL. Allograft biopsy findings in patients with small bowel transplantation. Clin Transplant 2016; 30: 1433-1439 [PMID: 27582272 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.12836]
- Cruz RJ Jr, Ramachandra S, Sasatomi E, DiMartini A, de Vera M, Fontes P, Hughes C, Humar A. Surgical management 15 of gastrointestinal posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders in liver transplant recipients. Transplantation 2012; 94: 417-423 [PMID: 22820701 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3182584854]
- Khedmat H, Amini M, Ghamar-Chehreh ME. Colorectal involvement by post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders: a 16 review of 81 cases. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl 2014; 25: 597-604 [PMID: 24821158 DOI: 10.4103/1319-2442.132201]
- 17 Wozniak LJ, Mauer TL, Venick RS, Said JW, Kao RL, Kempert P, Marcus EA, Hwang V, Cheng EY, Busuttil RW, McDiarmid SV, Farmer DG. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of PTLD following intestinal transplantation. Clin Transplant 2018; 32: e13313 [PMID: 29888807 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13313]
- Ganne V, Siddiqi N, Kamaplath B, Chang CC, Cohen EP, Bresnahan BA, Hariharan S. Humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal 18 antibody (Rituximab) treatment for post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder. Clin Transplant 2003; 17: 417-422 [PMID: 14703923 DOI: 10.1034/j.1399-0012.2003.00054.x]
- Colvin M, Smith JM, Ahn Y, Skeans MA, Messick E, Bradbrook K, Gauntt K, Israni AK, Snyder JJ, Kasiske BL. 19 OPTN/SRTR 2020 Annual Data Report: Heart. Am J Transplant 2022; 22 Suppl 2: 350-437 [PMID: 35266620 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16977]



- 20 Valapour M, Lehr CJ, Skeans MA, Smith JM, Uccellini K, Goff R, Foutz J, Israni AK, Snyder JJ, Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2018 Annual Data Report: Lung. Am J Transplant 2020; 20 Suppl s1: 427-508 [PMID: 31898416 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15677]
- 21 Valapour M, Lehr CJ, Skeans MA, Smith JM, Miller E, Goff R, Mupfudze T, Gauntt K, Snyder JJ. OPTN/SRTR 2020 Annual Data Report: Lung. Am J Transplant 2022; 22 Suppl 2: 438-518 [PMID: 35266615 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16991]
- Hart A, Smith JM, Skeans MA, Gustafson SK, Wilk AR, Castro S, Foutz J, Wainright JL, Snyder JJ, Kasiske BL, Israni 22 AK. OPTN/SRTR 2018 Annual Data Report: Kidney. Am J Transplant 2020; 20 Suppl s1: 20-130 [PMID: 31898417 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15672]
- 23 Lentine KL, Smith JM, Hart A, Miller J, Skeans MA, Larkin L, Robinson A, Gauntt K, Israni AK, Hirose R, Snyder JJ. OPTN/SRTR 2020 Annual Data Report: Kidney. Am J Transplant 2022; 22 Suppl 2: 21-136 [PMID: 35266618 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16982]
- Kwong A, Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Schladt DP, Skeans MA, Noreen SM, Foutz J, Miller E, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, 24 Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2018 Annual Data Report: Liver. Am J Transplant 2020; 20 Suppl s1: 193-299 [PMID: 31898413 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.15674]
- 25 Kwong AJ, Ebel NH, Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Schladt DP, Skeans MA, Foutz J, Gauntt K, Cafarella M, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2020 Annual Data Report: Liver. Am J Transplant 2022; 22 Suppl 2: 204-309 [PMID: 35266621 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16978]
- Kandaswamy R, Stock PG, Miller J, White J, Booker SE, Israni AK, Snyder JJ. OPTN/SRTR 2020 Annual Data Report: 26 Pancreas. Am J Transplant 2022; 22 Suppl 2: 137-203 [PMID: 35266622 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16979]
- 27 Smith JM, Weaver T, Skeans MA, Horslen SP, Miller E, Noreen SM, Snyder JJ, Israni AK, Kasiske BL. OPTN/SRTR 2018 Annual Data Report: Intestine. Am J Transplant 2020; 20 Suppl s1: 300-339 [PMID: 31898410 DOI: 10.1111/ait.15675]
- 28 Horslen SP, Smith JM, Weaver T, Cafarella M, Foutz J. OPTN/SRTR 2020 Annual Data Report: Intestine. Am J Transplant 2022; 22 Suppl 2: 310-349 [PMID: 35266616 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.16992]
- 29 Dierickx D, Habermann TM. Post-Transplantation Lymphoproliferative Disorders in Adults. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 549-562 [PMID: 29414277 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1702693]
- Evens AM, Roy R, Sterrenberg D, Moll MZ, Chadburn A, Gordon LI. Post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders: 30 diagnosis, prognosis, and current approaches to therapy. Curr Oncol Rep 2010; 12: 383-394 [PMID: 20963522 DOI: 10.1007/s11912-010-0132-1]
- Allen UD, Preiksaitis JK; AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders, 31 Epstein-Barr virus infection, and disease in solid organ transplantation: Guidelines from the American Society of Transplantation Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Clin Transplant 2019; 33: e13652 [PMID: 31230381 DOI: 10.1111/ctr.13652
- 32 Peters AC, Akinwumi MS, Cervera C, Mabilangan C, Ghosh S, Lai R, Iafolla M, Doucette K, Preiksaitis JK. The Changing Epidemiology of Posttransplant Lymphoproliferative Disorder in Adult Solid Organ Transplant Recipients Over 30 Years: A Single-center Experience. Transplantation 2018; 102: 1553-1562 [PMID: 29485513 DOI: 10.1097/TP.000000000002146
- 33 Al-Mansour Z, Nelson BP, Evens AM. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD): risk factors, diagnosis, and current treatment strategies. Curr Hematol Malig Rep 2013; 8: 173-183 [PMID: 23737188 DOI: 10.1007/s11899-013-0162-5
- 34 Ru Y, Chen J, Wu D. Epstein-Barr virus post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Eur J Haematol 2018; 101: 283-290 [PMID: 29949208 DOI: 10.1111/ejh.13131]
- Landgren O, Gilbert ES, Rizzo JD, Socié G, Banks PM, Sobocinski KA, Horowitz MM, Jaffe ES, Kingma DW, Travis 35 LB, Flowers ME, Martin PJ, Deeg HJ, Curtis RE. Risk factors for lymphoproliferative disorders after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood 2009; 113: 4992-5001 [PMID: 19264919 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-178046]
- 36 Swinnen LJ, LeBlanc M, Grogan TM, Gordon LI, Stiff PJ, Miller AM, Kasamon Y, Miller TP, Fisher RI. Prospective study of sequential reduction in immunosuppression, interferon alpha-2B, and chemotherapy for posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder. Transplantation 2008; 86: 215-222 [PMID: 18645482 DOI: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181761659]
- Quinlan SC, Pfeiffer RM, Morton LM, Engels EA. Risk factors for early-onset and late-onset post-transplant 37 lymphoproliferative disorder in kidney recipients in the United States. Am J Hematol 2011; 86: 206-209 [PMID: 21264909 DOI: 10.1002/ajh.21911]
- Luskin MR, Heil DS, Tan KS, Choi S, Stadtmauer EA, Schuster SJ, Porter DL, Vonderheide RH, Bagg A, Heitjan DF, Tsai DE, Reshef R. The Impact of EBV Status on Characteristics and Outcomes of Posttransplantation Lymphoproliferative Disorder. Am J Transplant 2015; 15: 2665-2673 [PMID: 25988622 DOI: 10.1111/ajt.13324]
- 39 Paranjothi S, Yusen RD, Kraus MD, Lynch JP, Patterson GA, Trulock EP. Lymphoproliferative disease after lung transplantation: comparison of presentation and outcome of early and late cases. J Heart Lung Transplant 2001; 20: 1054-1063 [PMID: 11595560 DOI: 10.1016/s1053-2498(01)00314-x]
- Ghobrial IM, Habermann TM, Macon WR, Ristow KM, Larson TS, Walker RC, Ansell SM, Gores GJ, Stegall MD, McGregor CG. Differences between early and late posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders in solid organ transplant patients: are they two different diseases? Transplantation 2005; 79: 244-247 [PMID: 15665775 DOI: 10.1097/01.TP.0000144335.39913.5C
- 41 Elstrom RL, Andreadis C, Aqui NA, Ahya VN, Bloom RD, Brozena SC, Olthoff KM, Schuster SJ, Nasta SD, Stadtmauer EA, Tsai DE. Treatment of PTLD with rituximab or chemotherapy. Am J Transplant 2006; 6: 569-576 [PMID: 16468968 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01211.x]
- Parker A, Bowles K, Bradley JA, Emery V, Featherstone C, Gupte G, Marcus R, Parameshwar J, Ramsay A, Newstead C; 42 Haemato-oncology Task Force of the British Committee for Standards in Haematology and British Transplantation Society. Management of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder in adult solid organ transplant recipients - BCSH and BTS Guidelines. Br J Haematol 2010; 149: 693-705 [PMID: 20408848 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08160.x]
- Dotti G, Fiocchi R, Motta T, Gamba A, Gotti E, Gridelli B, Borleri G, Manzoni C, Viero P, Remuzzi G, Barbui T, 43


Rambaldi A. Epstein-Barr virus-negative lymphoproliferate disorders in long-term survivors after heart, kidney, and liver transplant. Transplantation 2000; 69: 827-833 [PMID: 10755535 DOI: 10.1097/00007890-200003150-00027]

- 44 Reshef R, Vardhanabhuti S, Luskin MR, Heitjan DF, Hadjiliadis D, Goral S, Krok KL, Goldberg LR, Porter DL, Stadtmauer EA, Tsai DE. Reduction of immunosuppression as initial therapy for posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder(★). Am J Transplant 2011; 11: 336-347 [PMID: 21219573 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03387.x]
- 45 Trappe RU, Dierickx D, Zimmermann H, Morschhauser F, Mollee P, Zaucha JM, Dreyling MH, Dührsen U, Reinke P, Verhoef G, Subklewe M, Hüttmann A, Tousseyn T, Salles G, Kliem V, Hauser IA, Tarella C, Van Den Neste E, Gheysens O, Anagnostopoulos I, Leblond V, Riess H, Choquet S. Response to Rituximab Induction Is a Predictive Marker in B-Cell Post-Transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorder and Allows Successful Stratification Into Rituximab or R-CHOP Consolidation in an International, Prospective, Multicenter Phase II Trial. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35: 536-543 [PMID: 27992268 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.3564]
- Nijland ML, Kersten MJ, Pals ST, Bemelman FJ, Ten Berge IJ. Epstein-Barr Virus-Positive Posttransplant 46 Lymphoproliferative Disease After Solid Organ Transplantation: Pathogenesis, Clinical Manifestations, Diagnosis, and Management. Transplant Direct 2016; 2: e48 [PMID: 27500242 DOI: 10.1097/TXD.00000000000557]





## Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

